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Hotel Operation JEJE % E

Orange Hotel, Kaifeng, China
These are villas located at Longting West Road, Kaifeng. They have been renovated into
“Kaifeng Orange Hotel”, and its operation and revenue are satisfactory.
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Property Development and Investment YJ¥BRERKRE

Ji Hotel, Kaifeng, China
It is located at Ximen Dajia in Longting
District, Kaifeng. It has now been leased

and converted into Kaifeng Ji Hotel, which
® is suitable for tourism and business.
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Trading of Medical Equipment $#HEBERXE
MedTech Commerce BERFEEE

Medical Technologies Limited and other associates

HEEREZRERERAAREMGEE QT

From 2024 to 2025, Medical Technologies Limited participated in at least three
major exhibitions: the HKPA Conference 2024, GIES 2024, and Arab Health 2025.

H2024 FE2025 F  HREEREEERERAFTNSNTEL ZATIBZRE.[HE
MIEEBEGH2024]  [HEMREEESES2024| R [HFBERE2025] °

Hong Kong Physiotherapy Association Conference 2024 (October 2024) I-I(PA!QZI' & poTs coo
ACT2E00
As the exclusive premier sponsor of the Hong Kong Physiotherapy Association (HKPA) WORKSHOP i

Conference, we co-organized an accredited 5-credit Continuing Professional Development
(CPD) course, delivered by renowned neurorehabilitation expert Ms. Sarah Daniel. A
globally recognized thought leader in clinical education, Ms. Daniel’s pioneering work has
shaped best practices in neurorehabilitation worldwide. Her distinguished speaking
engagements include keynote presentations at the World Neurorehabilitation Congress and
RehabWeek. This collaboration reinforced our strategic partnership with HKPA in
advancing industry-leading professional education.

ERYEREZERE2024 (20245F108)

ERREEREEE  BRMKBH T EEEWRAESZE (HKPA) EHMN5 BEHFEZEERRRE - AXRBHE
1A% 18 S KE B B 5K Sarah Daniel Z T £ 8 o Sarah X T 1E BB AR WERIRH S B - EAIFTIE ek RS E
HEEReCREERSE SRR FHEAMKCREAS REASHEASMEEEHREIEEE - LREEE—F
FE T RMEHKPATE BN ITER B B MW E BB HBER -

Lawa Fow Gai Rehabilitation

Gerontech and Innovation Expo Cum Summit 2024 (November 2024)

At GIES 2024, we showcased groundbreaking advancements in neuro-robotic systems
integrated with augmented reality (AR) and virtual reality (VR) to
empower non-governmental organizations (NGOs) in revolutionizing
elderly and rehabilitative care. Our focus was on advancing medical
technologies and cognitive training therapy systems.

RPN EBEESIE®(20245F11A8)

E2024FGIES BB E @ BB T THEHBARREILRIEE
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A ERFAERE
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Arab Health 2025 Exhibition - Global Launch of Hope4Care (AR) Rehabilitation System

In January 2025, we made our international debut at Arab Health in Dubai, the world’s premier healthcare exhibition,
introducing our groundbreaking Hope4Care (AR) rehabilitation training system to a global audience. As one of the largest and
most influential healthcare events, Arab Health 2025 brought together industry leaders, innovators, and professionals to
showcase cutting-edge advancements in medical technology, healthcare services, and pharmaceuticals. With over 180,000
healthcare professionals, more than 4,000 exhibitors, and representatives from over 180 countries, the event served as a
pivotal platform for networking, knowledge exchange, and exploring the future of healthcare innovation.

Our participation marked a significant milestone in expanding our rehabilitation
solutions into international markets, reinforcing our commitment to transforming
patient care through augmented reality (AR) technology.

HFEEREE2025 - HopedCare (AR) EERSZHREH

202561 8 BFEZKBABERS - HAEEE (Arab Health) EE X 2Bk
MERERRT T 2B HopedCare (AR) RIEFINRES - (ERHERK ZAXE
NHEERE 2 —  Arab Health2025 EE T1THEM - B EREEEAT - AR
BB BREREMBEEGENZAISER c NEESWS| T8 BRERENE
E 4,000 BXBEKKE180 ZEBARMITEREK  FZREXNBITERI M - Mt
BMERBEAFARNEZES -
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BT HRPBBIERIATE (AR) BT RE B EE RN R E A -

“Fun Fun Day” Annual Community Care Initiative

Advancing our commitment to social responsibility, we proudly organized
the latest edition of our annual “Fun Fun Day” care initiative. This year’s
event brought together several leading community partners, including:
Tung Wah Group of Hospitals, Hong Chi Association, New Life Psychiatric
Rehabilitation Association, Po Oi Hospital, The Hong Kong Society for the
Blind, Christian & Missionary Alliance and St. James’ Settlement.

Our team introduced seniors and community members to the groundbreaking
Hope4Care Augmented Reality (AR) Rehabilitation Training System, demonstrating
how technology can enhance wellbeing. Participants then engaged in guided
interactive stretching sessions, creating a dynamic blend of:

e Technological innovation in rehabilitation
e Practical health education
e Joyful community connection

More than an event, this initiative represented our vision of compassionate care reimagined, where cutting-edge
solutions meet heartfelt service to empower every participant.

[REETIFERETH
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Trading of Home Security and Automation Products $HEXRERZR BRELER

Deson Innovative Limited and other associates
HEEEZRGAER AR R EMEEE QT

During the year, Deson Innovative Limited has continued to expand the application of its Al-powered video analytics
systems. We sustained our provision of data analytics services for visitor management at renowned international art
fairs, utilizing crowd flow analysis and age-gender demographics to assist organizers in optimizing layouts and
enhancing visitor experiences. Additionally, we provided anti-wandering detection solutions for multiple elderly care
facilities, leveraging Al video analytics to accurately identify abnormal behaviors among seniors, significantly improving
their safety while alleviating the workload of healthcare staff. Furthermore, we delivered Al solutions to the property
management and retail sectors, strengthening site security and offering diverse intelligent analytics to reduce
manpower demands and operational costs.

To promote our products and solutions, we regularly hosted seminars to showcase cutting-edge technologies and
innovative applications to clients and industry professionals. In collaboration with industry partners, we also organized
events that significantly enhanced our market influence and attracted a broader range of potential clients.

Deson Innovative Limited remains committed to innovation, continuously refining our products and solutions. By
advancing technological research and market expansion, we aim to meet the diverse needs of our clients and solidify
our leadership position in the industry.

BEEERGARRAEAFERERRA TS RGENT
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Fighl St

Al Fight detector
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Al Vehicle Recognition
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Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2025 Annual Report



Regularly organize seminars on intelligent system solutions
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Chairman’s Statement
FEHRES

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Deson
Development International Holdings Limited (the “Company”,
together with its subsidiaries, the “Group” or “We"), | hereby
present to you this annual report (the “Annual Report”) for the
year ended 31 March 2025 (“Reporting Period” or the “Year”).

BUSINESS REVIEW

Throughout the Reporting Period, Central and Hong Kong
governments implemented successive supportive measures to
boost consumer sentiment. Despite some steady progress, overall
demand remained weak and required an extended recovery
period.

In Mainland China, Central Government launched the largest
monetary stimulus package in vyears to boost economic
development, stabilise the property market, and promote
domestic consumption. This decisive action demonstrated its
commitment to economic revival. However, market sentiment was
muted after the initial optimism faded, amid concerns over a
weakening renminbi, property sector oversupply and debt issues,
and uncertain outlook.

During the Reporting Period, the Group has expanded its hotel
business. We have set up another hotel at Kaifeng, the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC"). Opening a hotel in Kaifeng offers
several strategic advantages, driven by its cultural heritage and
tourism potential. Kaifeng is part of the “Central Plains”, which
includes nearby cities like Luoyang and Zhengzhou. Annual events
such as “Kaifeng Chrysanthemum Cultural Festival” draw
millions of visitors, creating seasonal demand for
accommodations.

The Group’s financial performance primarily arose from sale of
properties, rental income from investment properties, sale of
medical equipment, sale of home security and automation
products and income from operation of hotels.

During the Reporting Period, the Group recorded a total turnover
of approximately HK$135.5 million (2024: approximately
HK$128.1 million). The net loss attributable to owners of the
Company was approximately HK$73.7 million (2024: HK$75.7
million), representing a decrease in loss of approximately HK$2.0
million or 2.6%.

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2025 Annual Report
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The decrease of net loss attributable to owners of the Company
was due to i) the decrease in fair value loss on investment
properties (before deferred tax) of approximately HK$32,364,000
for the year ended 31 March 2024 to HK$14,094,000 for this
Reporting Period; and ii) the decrease in fair value loss on equity
investments designated at fair value through profit or loss from a
loss of approximately HK$104,893,000 for the year ended
31 March 2024 to a loss of approximately HK$13,684,000 for the
Reporting Period due to the disposal of the equity investment
that was listed in China on Shenzhen Stock Exchange in the last
reporting period. The above was partially offset by i) the decrease
in dividend income received from one of the equity investments
that was listed in China on Shenzhen Stock Exchange through an
equity investment. All the shares have been disposed of in last
reporting period so no dividend income (2024: HK$74,865,000)
was received from that equity investment in the Reporting Period,;
and ii) the decrease in gain arising from the disposal of the
investment property in Haikou, the PRC via the disposal of a
subsidiary in the last reporting period amounting to approximately
HK$72,656,000 (before taxation).

If the above non-recurring business and fair value adjustment on
properties and investments and provision for accounts receivable
and other receivables were excluded, the net loss attributable to
owners of the Company for our core business for the Reporting
Period amounted to approximately HK$42,053,000 (2024:
HK$60,263,000).

Loss per share for the Reporting Period was HK5.03 cents (2024:
HK 5.16 cents).

The consolidated net assets value of the Group as at 31 March
2025 was approximately HK$1,242 million (2024: approximately
HK$1,342 million). The consolidated net assets value per share as
at 31 March 2025 was approximately HK$0.85, based on
1,466,820,600 shares in issue, as compared to approximately
HK$0.91 per share based on 1,466,820,600 shares in issue as at
31 March 2024.

Chairman’s Statement
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Chairman’s Statement
FTEHREE

OUTLOOK

Looking ahead, heightened geopolitical tensions, US Fed rates
trajectory and new tariff policies may introduce economic
volatility. In Mainland China, the effect of large-scale fiscal and
monetary support measures awaiting to materialise to ease the
property sector's debt burden. However, rebuilding consumer
confidence remains challenging. In Hong Kong, improving
underlying economic conditions is key to property market
recovery.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the directors of the Company (“Directors”), | would
like to express my heartfelt thanks for the long-term support and
trust of the Company’s shareholders, business partners and
customers. | would also like to express my sincere appreciation to
all of my colleagues for their dedication and commitment to
make valuable contributions to the Group during the Year. In the
coming year, the Group will carry on dedicating its efforts and
with our combined efforts, we are looking forward to overcoming
all those challenges and hence deliver sustainable returns to the
Company'’s shareholders.

Tjia Boen Sien
Managing Director and Chairman

Hong Kong
26 June 2025
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Management Discussion and Analysis

BUSINESS REVIEW
The Group’s major business segments during the year ended
31 March 2025 comprise:

(@)  the property development and investment business segment
where the Group is engaged in property development of
residential and commercial properties and the holding of
investment properties;

(b)  the trading business segment where the Group is engaged
in the trading of medical equipment and home security and
automation products, including the provision of related
installation; and

(c)  the "others” segment comprises, principally, the operation
of hotels.

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2025 was
approximately HK$135,468,000 (2024: HK$128,074,000),
representing an increase of approximately 6% as compared to last
year.

Property development and investment business

The Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 March 2025
generated from this segment was approximately HK$76,108,000
(2024: HK$86,284,000), representing a decrease of approximately
12% as compared with last year. Revenue generated from this
segment was derived from the sales of properties in the People’s
Republic of China (the “PRC”) and rental income earned from
investment properties located in the PRC.

(i) Sales of properties
In Mainland China, the Central Government continued to
implement accommodative monetary policy and necessary
fiscal stimulus to support economic recovery throughout the
year. The overall property market remained relatively weak
as property sales and sales prices declined most of the year.

Revenue decreased from approximately HK$68,114,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2024 to approximately
HK$55,290,000 for the vyear ended 31 March 2025,
representing a decrease of approximately 19%.

EEENWE DM
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Management Discussion and Analysis

EEENWR DN

(i)

Section G of Century Place in Kaifeng, the PRC has been
launched to the market at the end of 2023. During the
Reporting Period, sales were mainly contributed by the sales
of Section G. Compared with the corresponding period last
year, just a few car parks at World Expo Plaza in Kaifeng,
the PRC and a few commercial units at Haikou, the PRC
were sold.

Despite the increase of saleable area, during the Reporting
Period, the Group has entered into eight sale and purchase
agreements for eight premises (the “Premises”) located at
Building No. 4, 1 Longting Lake e Xiyuan, Longting Area,
Kaifeng City, Henan Province, the PRC. The contract sum is
approximately HK$39,633,000 (RMB36,697,000).
Subsequent to these sales transactions, the Group entered
into lease agreements with the buyers for the Premises. The
Group then recognised the above transactions as
sale-and-leaseback transactions when the lease agreements
become effective after obtaining shareholders’ approval at
the special general meeting held on 27 August 2024. The
Group applied the lessee accounting model to the leaseback
under HKFRS 16 Leases thus no sales were recognised for
these Premises. As there was no recognition of sales, it
causes a drop in sales for the Reporting Period even though
more sales transactions were noted as compared to the last
Reporting Period.

Rental income from investment properties

Rental income from investment properties increased from
approximately HK$18,170,000 for the year ended 31 March
2024 to approximately HK$20,818,000 for the Reporting
Period, representing an increase of approximately 15%.
During the Reporting Period, the Group has leased certain
area of Section F, the Century Place, Kaifeng, the PRC to an
independent third party to operate a hotel, namely Ji Hotel.
More rental income was earned. In view of the
improvement of the tourism industry, the Group expects to
lease out other unsold area to reliable tenants to earn
additional rental income.

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2025 Annual Report
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Segment operating loss generated from this segment during the
Reporting Period amounted to approximately HK$27,193,000
(2024: HK$53,170,000). The decrease in loss for this Reporting
Period was due to the decrease in fair value loss on investment
properties (before deferred tax) from approximately
HK$32,364,000 in last reporting period to approximately
HK$14,094,000 for this Reporting Period. The decrease is because
of (a) one of the long term tenancy agreements signed with an
independent third party of a mall in Kaifeng, the PRC was
terminated during the Reporting Period and caused the increase
in the fair value of that property and; (b) higher gross profit
margin was noted for the sales during this Reporting Period
because of lower gross profit margin for the sales of the
animation center (area: 5,823 sg.m.) at the World Expo Plaza in
Kaifeng, the PRC in the last reporting period.

The decrease in segment operating loss was partially offset by the
revaluation loss noted due to the new long term agreement
signed with an independent third party of the hotel located in
Haikou, the PRC.

Trading business

The Group's revenue for the year ended 31 March 2025
generated from this segment recorded at approximately
HK$40,262,000 (2024: HK$28,715,000), representing a significant
increase of approximately 40% as compared with last year.

Revenue generated from this segment arises from the trading of
medical equipment, wellness and pandemic prevention products as
well as home security and automation products, including the
provision of the related installation and maintenance services.

(i) Trading of medical equipment, wellness and
pandemic prevention products
Revenue increased significantly from approximately
HK$24,746,000 for the year ended 31 March 2024 to
approximately HK$37,469,000 for the year ended 31 March
2025, representing a significant increase of approximately
51%.
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The increase was due to the recognition of a major sales
order from Hong Kong Hospital Authority during this
Reporting Period for the sale and installation of a
hydrotherapy pool to United Christian Hospital under
Kowloon East Cluster Procurement Centre with a contract
sum of approximately HK$9,500,000. On the other hand,
the recognition of a significant order for an underwater
treadmill, amounting to approximately HK$1,215,000 also
caused an increase in turnover during the Reporting Period.

(ii) Trading of home security and automation
products
Turnover decreased from approximately HK$3,969,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2024 to approximately
HK$2,793,000 for the year ended 31 March 2025,
representing a decrease of approximately 30%.

The decrease in turnover was because of the termination of
the trading of home security and automation business in
China. For the sales in Hong Kong, as the economic growth
was not up to expectation, our customers became more
conservative which caused the drop in sales and demand for
security products.

Segment operating profit generated from this segment during the
Reporting Period amounted to approximately HK$2,347,000
(2024: loss of HK$2,782,000). The change from loss to profit was
because of the improvement in sales during the Reporting Period.

Other business, principally operation of hotels

The Group's revenue for the year ended 31 March 2025 generated
from this segment was recorded at approximately HK$19,098,000
(2024: HK$13,075,000), representing a significant increase of
46% as compared with last year. Revenue generated from this
segment arises mainly from the operation of hotels. The increase
is because the Group has operated two hotels (2024: one hotel)
during the Reporting Period.
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Hotels Performance HIERR
Commencement Rooms Average daily Revenue per average
Name Date available rooms available Occupancy Average room rate available room
HHB ES=R] TRAEM THERTAREH AE=E FHEH THUHEEREKRA
2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024 2025 2024
—E-HF —T-MFE ZB-HE —T-NFE ZS-HE —T-ME ZB-HE —T-NF
(RMB) (RMB)
(ARH) (ARH)
Holiday Inn ~ January 2020 243 234 243 44% 37% 221 229 115 99
BEBAEE —T-T5—A
Orange Hotel  October 2024 89 89 N/A 86% N/A 315 N/A 270 N/A
&FBE ZZEZWNETA THEA TEHA TEA THEA
a) Holiday Inn Express Kaifeng City Center (“Holiday a) Bi#HEZBEAEE ([EEEHDT
Inn”) &)
Holiday Inn Express Kaifeng is located in the city centre of FAHESRBREBEMERSETH L 8
Kaifeng, with a total gross floor area of approximately FEMMEL A14,000F 75K - #5243
14,000 sq.m.. It consists of 243 guest rooms, including 100 BRE  B1FE100HE#HKE ARKRNIEZE
king bed standard rooms, 106 single bed standard rooms, R - 106[M B ARZERERE - 18
18 king bed superior rooms, 18 single bed superior rooms REAKRSREHR - 18FEAKRSRE
and 1 suite. There are also 3 meeting rooms with a total ARIHER ZBENTXBEIHSE
gross floor area of approximately 460 sq.m.. Total turnover - BREEMELD BA60F T5K o IR
for the Reporting Period is approximately HK$14,354,000 HHIE A48 E S REA 714,354,000/ 7T
(2024: HK$13,075,000). The average occupancy rate (ZZE P : 13,075,000 7T) © F15
increased from 37% in last reporting period to 44% to this AFERHE—EAREHAREN3I7% LAE
Reporting Period. KRS HIEA44% o
b) Orange Hotel (“Orange Hotel”) b) HFFBIE (45 FEiE])

On 25 June 2024, Deson E-Commerce (Kaifeng) Co., Ltd.
CEEBEEE (FE) AR 2AA) and Deson Property
Development (Kaifeng) Co., Ltd. CEE B £ 3R (FHH) AR
‘A 7]), both being indirect wholly-owned subsidiaries of the
Company, entered into eight lease agreements in respect of
the lease of eight premises with eight lessors, all are
independent third parties, for a period of 180 months
commencing from 1 July 2024 to 30 June 2039 (both days
inclusive).

RZZE-_NFRAZ+HAB  BHERBER
mE(FAE)BRAFANBEEEERR
(AE)BERAR (BARQRZHESR
EMBAR) BN\ZHBAAEBELSE
=A)BHEENEMET LN\ DEER
HOB_T_NFEA—BARBRE-Z
“NFAA=THIE(BEEERA) -
AEI1801EA -
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Each of the premises is a four-storey house located at
Building No. 4, 1 Longting Lake e Xiyuan, Longting Area,
Kaifeng City, Henan Province, the PRC. The Group intended
to operate the premises, together with other premises
owned by the Group located at the same location Building
No. 3, 1 Longting Lake e Xiyuan, Longting Area, Kaifeng
City, Henan Province, the PRC for a new hotel business
under the franchised brand of “Orange Hotel”. The Group
had entered into a hotel franchise agreement with a
member of H World Group Limited (NASDAQ: HTHT, HK:
01179), a company whose shares are listed on NASDAQ
and the Main Board of the Stock Exchange and is involved
in the principal business of development of leased and
owned, manachised and franchised hotels mainly in the
PRC.

The Orange Hotel is located inside the Song City tourist
zone (REPEWMIREEZBE) and next to the LongTing Lake,
Kaifeng, with a total gross floor area of approximately
4,700 sq.m.. It consists of 89 guest rooms, including 27
double bed rooms with lake view, 6 twin bed rooms with
lake views, 23 double rooms, 24 superior twin bed rooms,
4 king bed rooms, 1 suite and 4 family rooms (include 1
extra large double bed and 1 double bed). There is also 1
meeting room with a total gross floor area of
approximately 15 sqg.m..

The Orange Hotel has commenced operations since October
2024. Total turnover for the Reporting Period is
approximately HK$4,744,000 (2024: Nil). The average
occupancy rate from October 2024 to 31 March 2025 was
approximately 86%.

Segment operating loss generated from this segment during the
Reporting Period amounted to approximately HK$6,257,000
(2024: HK$10,118,000). This is mainly due to the recognition of
deficit from revaluation of property, plant and equipment, being
the hotel premises at Kaifeng, the PRC (before deferred tax) to
approximately HK$3,528,000 (2024: HK$3,436,000). The drop in
segment operating loss was because of the Group operated one
additional hotel during the Reporting Period and a higher
occupancy rate was noted during the Report Period.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

The net loss attributable to owners of the Company for the year
ended 31 March 2025 amounted to approximately
HK$73,724,000 as compared with the net loss attributable to
owners of the Company for the year ended 31 March 2024 of
approximately HK$75,691,000.

The decrease of net loss attributable to owners of the Company
was due to the:

i) the decrease in fair value loss on investment properties
(before deferred tax) of approximately HK$32,364,000 for
the year ended 31 March 2024 to HK$14,094,000 for this
Reporting Period; and

ii) the decrease in fair value loss on equity investments
designated at fair value through profit or loss from a loss of
approximately HK$104,893,000 for the year ended
31 March 2024 to a loss of approximately HK$13,684,000
for the Reporting Period due to the disposal of the equity
investment that was listed in China on the Shenzhen Stock
Exchange in the last reporting period.

The above was partially offset by:

) the decrease in dividend income received from one of the
equity investments that was listed in China on Shenzhen
Stock Exchange through an equity investment. All the shares
have been disposed of in the last reporting period so no
dividend income (2024: HK$74,865,000) was received from
that equity investment in the Reporting Period; and

ii) the decrease in gain arising from the disposal of the
investment property in Haikou, the PRC via the disposal of
a subsidiary in the last reporting period amounting to
approximately HK$72,656,000 (before taxation).

If the above non-recurring business and fair value adjustment on
properties and investments and provision for accounts receivable
and other receivables were excluded, the net loss attributable to
owners of the Company for our core business for the year ended
31 March 2025 amounted to approximately HK$42,053,000
(2024: HK$60,263,000).

Loss per share for the year ended 31 March 2025 was
approximately HK5.03 cents (2024: 5.16 cents).
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FINANCIAL REVIEW

Revenue

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group’'s revenue
amounted to approximately HK$135 million, increased by
approximately 6% as compared with last year.

Such increase was mainly because (i) a significant sales contract
with Hong Kong Hospital Authority from the trading segment
during the Reporting Period; and (i) the commencement of
Orange Hotel operation since October 2024.

Revenue generated from the property development and
investment business, trading business and other business
amounted to approximately HK$76 million, HK$40 million and
HK$19 million, respectively, representing a decrease of
approximately 12%, an increase of approximately 40% and an
increase of approximately 46%, respectively, as compared with
the corresponding period of last year.

Gross profit margin

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group’s gross profit
margin was approximately 42%, up by approximately 9
percentage points as compared with last year’'s 33%.

This was mainly due to lower gross profit margin noted for the
sales of the animation center at World Expo, Kaifeng, the PRC in
the last reporting period. During the Reporting Period, higher
gross profit was noted for the sales of residential apartments in
Kaifeng, the PRC.

On the other hand, the increase was driven by a larger
proportion of rental income included in turnover from property
development and investment business segment in the Reporting
Period as compared with the same period last year, increasing
from approximately 21% to approximately 27%. The gross profit
margin of the rental income was much higher than that of the
sales of properties. As a result, overall gross profit margin was
higher in the Reporting Period.

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2025 Annual Report

Bt %5 B B8

LON
REBE-_FT-_AF-_A=+—HLEFE K
£ [B 47\ #175135,000,0005 7T * 8 EFIE N
#16% o

ZIENMEZHNORNBESHEANES D EE
FEBREERMNERHEERLD  Ri)ET
BEAB - _WF+AMRMKEEMRS -

MEZRIMEEEL BIFEBREMER
Bz A D RI# A76,000,000% T
40,000,0007% 7T % 19,000,0007% 7T * 7 Bl &
EFEREE A 412%  EANKI40% MBI
46°/o °©

EF =X
REBEE-_ZE-_AF=ZA=+—HIFEE &K
EBEMNERNBL2Y%  BEFH33% FFHA
OfEl & 7> 2 -

WDEEARR E—EARSHEHERERY
Mt EES 2 BB GEIEEN M -
RBEHRAA - HETEHRBETHNEELS
BERHEMEX -

B—HE - ZIENTR B E BB A AK
BVEBRREREXBOBEXENHE K
ALBIEREFREAEE - HAI21%E 0
E2H827% - HEWRAWENERES N EHE
S Ht RERFNEBENKES -



Management Discussion and Analysis

Other income and gains

The Group's other income and gains amounted to approximately
HK$24 million, decreased significantly by approximately 74% as
compared to approximately HK$93 million in the last reporting
period. During the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group has
disposed of all the shares of one of the equity investments that
were listed in China on the Shenzhen Stock Exchange through an
equity investment. No dividend (2024: HK$74,865,000) was
earned from that investment during this Reporting Period.

The amount for this Reporting Period mainly represents the rental
income earned from some unsold properties held for sales and
the imputed interest income regarding the discounted effect due
to the repayment schedule of the Outstanding Consideration
shown in note 21 to the notes to the consolidated financial
statements.

Fair value loss on an equity investments at fair value
through profit or loss

The amount for the last reporting period was mainly represents
the fair value loss on one of the equity investments due to a
significant decrease in the share price of that investment in the
last reporting period. As the Group has disposed of all the shares
of that equity investments that were listed in China on the
Shenzhen Stock Exchange during the year ended 31 March
2024, no such fair value change was noted in this Reporting
Period.

Liquidity, financial resources and gearing ratio

During the Reporting Period, the Group maintained a healthy
liquidity position with working capital financed mainly by internal
resources and also other borrowings. The Group adopted a
prudent cash and financial management policy.

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had total assets of
approximately HK$1,742,088,000, which were financed by total
liabilities, shareholders’ equity and non-controlling interests of
approximately HK$500,178,000, approximately HK$1,255,483,000
and approximately HK$13,573,000 (debit balance), respectively.
The Group’s current ratio as at 31 March 2025 was 2.28 as
compared with 1.80 as at 31 March 2024.
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Gearing ratio is calculated by the total interest-bearing debts less
cash and cash equivalents divided by the total equity as at the
end of the respective reporting periods and multiplied by 100%.
The Group had a net gearing ratio of approximately 17% as at
31 March 2025 (2024: 24%). We analysed the maturity profiles
of our borrowings and managed our liquidity level to ensure a
sufficient cash flow to service our indebtedness and meet cash
requirements arising from our business. We will explore various
financing opportunities to improve our capital structure and
reduce our cost of capital.

Capital expenditure

Total capital expenditure for the year ended 31 March 2025 was
approximately HK$52,784,000. The amount mainly represents the
addition of right-of-use assets and leasehold improvements for the
lease of premises for the operation of Orange Hotel.

Contingent liabilities
As at 31 March 2025, the Group had no significant contingent
liabilities.

Commitments
As at 31 March 2025, the Group had capital commitments
contracted, but not provided for, of approximately HK$57,000.

Charges on group assets

Assets with an aggregate carrying value of approximately
HK$744,152,000 were pledged as securities for the Group’s
banking facilities.

Treasury policies

The Group had adopted a prudent financial management
approach towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a
healthy liquidity position throughout the year ended 31 March
2025. The Group strives to reduce its exposure to credit risk by
performing ongoing credit assessments and evaluations of the
financial status of its customers. To manage liquidity risk, the
Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position to ensure
that the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities and
other commitments can meet its funding requirements from time
to time.

Exchange risk exposure
The Group is mainly exposed to balances denominated in RMB
which mainly arise from certain entities’ foreign
currency-denominated monetary assets and liabilities for the
Group's operating activities.
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The Group currently does not have a foreign currency hedging
policy to eliminate the currency exposures against changes in
exchange rates of RMB against Hong Kong Dollar. However,
management monitors the related foreign currency exposures
closely and will consider hedging significant foreign currency
exposures should the need arises.

PROSPECTS

Property development and investment

In 2024, the Central People’s Government continued to optimise
its real estate policies to stabilise the property market, and strived
to improve market conditions on both the supply and demand
sides. It also intensified its efforts to support the property sector
by abolishing restrictions on home purchases, resales and pricing,
lowering mortgage rates, reducing the down payment ratio, and
alleviating the tax burden on purchasers exchanging properties.

Looking forward in 2025, the world economy tends to be
increasingly constrained by the uncertainties from the lingering
geopolitical tensions, higher interest rates and the potential
escalation of trade conflicts, particularly between the US and
Mainland China which could significantly interrupt the global
trade and investment flows. This would hinder the economic
growth of both Mainland China and Hong Kong. However, target
policies have been put in place by the Chinese Government
including fiscal stimulus, monetary easing and support for
strategic sectors like the digital economy with the view of
boosting domestic demand and hence stabilising economic
growth. The strengthened local demand of Mainland China shall
bring a spillover effect.

During the Reporting Year, residential pricing experienced a
moderate decline driven by the conservative pricing of first-hand
stocks in view of the abundant inventory. In contrast, an uptick in
residential transaction volume was recorded as a result of the
favorable government initiatives introduced during the year
including the removal of punitive stamp duties and adjustments
to loan-to-value ratios for mortgages, which in turn lowered the
purchase barriers and encouraged sales. The ongoing demand
from skilled professionals and entrepreneurial migrants from
Mainland China provided genuine support to the local residential
market and helped enhance market activities throughout the year.
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CENTURY PLACE, KAIFENG

On 9 June 2005, the Group was granted the land use rights of a
development site within the Long Ting District of the city of
Kaifeng, Henan Province, the PRC, which has been developed
into a residential and commercial complex with an estimated
gross floor area of approximately 210,500 sg.m., known as
“Century Place, Kaifeng”. Up to the date of this Annual Report,
the construction of a gross floor area of approximately 190,000
sg.m. has been completed and a total sales contract sum of
approximately RMB767 million has been achieved.

The unsold area at the Century Place Section A — Section F,
Kaifeng consists of the following:

CURRENT USE

e g ST

RZZEZRFNANE  KREEERPENT
MARTmRESRE —RERBR 2 T HFER
MR EME A BREEMBEGBTANA
210,500 F FRKZFEREELATER © 4718
BIRHtLERRE  -EEANFHREBR 4
190,000 F S KEEEED R T - FIEHES
T E EH AREET767,000,0007T ©

BTt 40 SEAB AR ZFIE 4K I 5 B 45 1A
T&IE -

GROSS FLOOR AREA

EA AR EEEE
Section A Investment properties — Shops (leased out) 53,600 sg.m.
AlR REM*% — BEWH(EHE) 53,600 77 K
Section B Properties held for sales — Apartments 200 sg.m.
Bl& HEVME — RSB 200°F 73 K
Car park 70 units
E3E=R12 701@
Section C Properties held for sales — Villas 6,000 sqg.m.
Cl& FEWE — HE 6,000 75 K
Section D Properties held for sales — Offices 1,200 sqg.m.
D& HEME —WR=E 1,200 75 K
Car park 10 units
E3E=R12 101E
Section E Properties held for sales — Shops 350 sg.m.
El& TEME —BH 350 75K
Section F Properties held for sales — Shops 4,900 sg.m.
Fl= HEWE — AW 4,900F 75 K
Investment properties — Hotel (leased out) 6,200 sg.m.
REWMHE — BE(BLE) 6,200 75 K
Car park 86 units
(E3=Rvi 861

During the Reporting Period, the Group has leased certain area of
Section F to an independent third party to operate a hotel.
Rental income was earned and such portion had been reclassified
as investment properties. In view of the improvement of the
tourism industry, the Group expects to lease out other unsold
area to reliable tenants to earn additional rental income.
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The remaining part of the land (Section G) has been launched to  #Z T i Z FI&EEE 5 (GER) B 7 & HI R A #E
the market during the Reporting Period. The unsold area at the HH5 - BHELZAGE M KHERERIE

Century Place Section G, Kaifeng consists of the following: AT &IE
CURRENT USE GROSS FLOOR AREA
= AR ® EEER

Section G Properties held for sales — Apartments 10,000 sqg.m.

G& FEME — 0B 10,000 75 K
Properties held for sales — Shops 1,400 sqg.m.
FEME — B 1,400 77 2K
Properties, plant and equipment — Hotel 2,800 sg.m.
M- BEERE — BE 2,800 75 K
Car park 88 units
E3==Kiva 881

Up to the date of this Annual Report, a total sales contract sum HBHEARFHRAH DEEXRANEEEEY

of approximately RMB110.8 million has been achieved. AR #110,800,0007T °

WORLD EXPO, KAIFENG BH U EES

On 16 February 2012, the Group successfully won a bid for the R-ZE——F - F+/NB KNEEKNFPE
acquisition of land use right of a residential and commercial site  BU5AP B 59 5 i — 0@ 78 (3 30 SR 4O = 3 e A
in the city of Kaifeng, the PRC, which has been developed into a I B (% & — & 51 22 2 @ & 4995,000F 5
residential and commercial complex with an estimated gross floor KZEEREELSATER @ 2B A HHHE
area of approximately 95,000 sq.m., known as “World Expo, EiH] BEEAFHRHBH ABEESRT FT
Kaifeng”. Up to the date of this Annual Report, this project has & & &4 5 49 A R#574,000,0007T °

been completed and achieved a total sale contract sum of

approximately RMB574.0 million.

The unsold area at the World Expo, Kaifeng consists of the FMHHMHBESZHALEMBEREUNTSE
following:

CURRENT USE GROSS FLOOR AREA
= A AR EEEE
Commercial Section A Property, plant and equipment — Hotel 14,000 sqg.m.
P AAR M BB RRE — BE 14,000 75 K
Commercial Section B Properties held for sales — Shops 2,300 sg.m.
B TEWME — B 2,300 75 K
Residential Blocks 1-3 Properties held for sales — Apartments 5,800 sg.m.
F=E1-31& FTEWE — 18 5,800 75 2K
Car park 142 units
BEAL 142/
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Trading of medical equipment and home security and
automation products

Medical equipment

The increasing standard of living around the globe, especially in
Hong Kong and major cities in the PRC, and increasing health
awareness, in particular from high-income consumers living in
urban areas, together create additional demand for medical
equipment. Consequently, this segment is expected to continue to
be a worthwhile investment. In the coming reporting period, we
will expand our distribution channels and introduce a broader
range of products to boost sales growth.

The Group has set up two associates, namely Hope4Care Limited
(20% owned by the Group) and UltraX Technologies Co., Ltd.
(35% owned by the Group), with independent third parties.

Hope4Care Limited (“Hope4Care”) is a research and development
company which engages in inventing intelligent human-computer
interaction rehabilitation training platforms for the elderly and
persons with chronic diseases. The Group cooperates with a
professor from the Chinese University of Hong Kong to develop
online augmented reality and virtual reality training platforms for
stroke survivors and the elderly, including upper limb, lower limb,
balance and coordination exercises. The products specifically
target on elderly and persons with chronic diseases and provide
online rehabilitation services to improve their quality of life.

Hope4Care has been granted 1SO13485, which is applicable to
research, design, development, marketing and distribution of
medical software.

Home security and automation products

Through one of the associates of the Group, Axxonsoft Hong
Kong Limited, the Group continues to promote the application of
artificial intelligence ("Al”) video analysis technology, which can
provide various functions such as preventing loitering, assisting in
controlling the spread of diseases, analysing human posture and
behaviour, and assisting property valuation.

In addition, with the improving standard of living and technology
in Hong Kong, major cities in the PRC and Southeast Asia, the
Group aims to provide a series of solutions to smart city
development for shopping malls, government facilities, border and
airport, etc.
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In Hong Kong, we provide people flow analysis services to
financial institutions located in different areas to help them better
understand customer traffic patterns. We also provide advanced
video management platform software to various organisations of
the Hong Kong Government to enhance their monitoring and
management capabilities.

In Mainland China, we have successfully obtained the first
large-scale airport project which integrates multiple different
systems, such as access control systems, intrusion alarm systems
and fire alarm systems, etc.,, while combining over 18,000
channels of video cameras, some of which are equipped with Al
analysis capabilities, to provide more comprehensive physical
security information management services for airport managers.

We actively increase our market share by attending seminars and
exhibitions in order to promote our products and expand the
sales channel.

The Group will continue to adopt efficient cost management
strategies and maintain tight credit control measures to cope with
challenges and to improve competitiveness within the volatile
operating environment. The Directors will continue to make every
effort to maximise the interests of the shareholders of the
Company.

Hotel operations

In view of the increasing number of visitors in Kaifeng, the PRC,
the Group will continue to improve the quality of its hotel
services to ensure hotel guests will have enjoyable experiences
during their stays in the hotel.

Opening a hotel in Kaifeng offers several strategic advantages,
driven by its cultural heritage and tourism potential. Kaifeng is
part of the “Central Plains”, which includes nearby cities like
Luoyang and Zhengzhou. Annual like the “Kaifeng
Chrysanthemum Cultural Festival” draw millions of visitors,
creating seasonal demand for accommodations.

events

The outlook for our hotels division remains stable amid prevailing
challenges. Despite signs of recovery, the industry continues to
face operating obstacles including staffing shortages, increase of
operation costs and economic uncertainties. In this regard, we will
continue to adopt a stringent expenses control approach, stay
abreast of the market and be innovative on hotel operations in
order to maintain a competitive edge.
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The Board will strive for new breakthroughs in terms of industry
and geographical coverage by improving the Group’s corporate
governance to comply with the Listing Rules, increasing the risk
control level, enhancing asset management capability, further
forging a professional and high-quality talent team to seize
development opportunities and actively develop new customers.
The Group will also pay attention to maintain relationships with
existing customers and explore deeper cooperation with quality
customers in order to achieve steady and long-term development
of the Group.

FUNDRAISING FOR THE PAST TWELVE MONTHS
Placing of bonds and use of proceeds

On 29 January 2024, the Company entered into a placing
agreement for the placing of unlisted corporate bonds of an
aggregate principal amount of up to HK$20,000,000. The interest
rate is 10% per annum, payable quarterly in arrears. The net
proceeds from the placing of 13M Bond were used by the
Company to offset the outstanding amount of the previous bond
of HK$13,000,000. As at the date of this Annual Report, bonds
of an aggregate principal amount of HK$13,000,000 were
subscribed for by one placee, who is an independent third party
and fully repaid during the year ended 31 March 2025.

On 22 August 2022, the Company issued an unlisted corporate
bond at a principal amount of HK$20,000,000 (“20M Bond"),
which is unsecured, bears a fixed interest rate of 7% per annum,
and is fully redeemable by the Company after 2 years from the
issue date at its principal amount of HK$20,000,000. On 6 May
2024, the Company and the holder of the 20M Bond agreed to
extend the bond for a further two years from 22 August 2024
and revise the principal amount from HK$20,000,000 to
HK$15,000,000 (“15M Bond") after the Company repaid part of
the principal amount in the sum of HK$5,000,000, which is
unsecured, bears a fixed interest rate of 7% per annum.
Accordingly, the 15M Bond is fully redeemable by the Company
after two year from 22 August 2024 at its principal amount of
HK$15,000,000 (as disclosed in note 28 to the notes to the
consolidated financial statements).

As at the date of this Annual Report, bond of an aggregate

principal amount of HK$15,000,000 was subscribed for by one
placee, who is an independent third party.
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HUMAN RESOURCES

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had 159 employees, 116 of
whom were based in the PRC and the remaining employees were
based in Hong Kong. The total employee benefits expenses
including directors’ emoluments for the year ended 31 March
2025 was approximately HK$37.4 million as compared with
approximately HK$36.0 million in the previous year. The slightly
increase was mainly due to the commencement of the operation
of Orange Hotel since October 2024.

The remuneration policy and package of the Group’s employees
were reviewed and approved by the Directors. Apart from
pension funds, in order to attract and retain a high calibre and
motivated workforce, the Group offers discretionary bonuses and
share options to staff based on individual performance and the
achievements of the Group's targets.
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The Directors herein present their report and the audited financial
statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
principal activities of the subsidiaries consist of (a) property
development and investment; (b) trading of medical equipment as
well as home security and automation products; and (c) operation
of hotels.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS
The Group’s loss for the year ended 31 March 2025 and the
Group's financial position as at that date are set out in the
financial statements on pages 102 to 105.

No interim dividend was paid during the Year (2024: Nil). The
Directors do not recommend the payment of any final dividend
for the Year (2024: Nil).

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Company aims to provide a steady return to shareholders
and at the same time to maintain a strong financial position for
investment opportunities and sustainable development in the
future. Dividends proposed or declared, or not recommended, is
subject to financial performance, cash flows and future
investment opportunities of the Group.

ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Annual General Meeting (the “AGM") will be convened and
held on 26 August 2025 (Tuesday). A notice convening the AGM
will be published and despatched to the shareholders of the
Company in the manner required by the Listing Rules.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

For the purpose of determining the qualification as shareholders
of the Company to attend and vote at the AGM, the register of
members of the Company will be closed from 21 August 2025
to 26 August 2025, both days inclusive. In order to qualify as
shareholders of the Company to attend and vote at the AGM,
unregistered holders of shares of the Company are required to
lodge all transfer documents accompanied by the relevant share
certificates with the Company’s branch share registrar and
transfer office in Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at
17/F, Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road, Hong Kong for
registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 20 August 2025.
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT AND
INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Details of movements in the property, plant and equipment, and
investment properties of the Group during the Year are set out in
notes 14 and 15 to the financial statements, respectively. Further
details of the Group’s investment properties are set out on page
49 of this Annual Report.

SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE OPTIONS

Details of movements in the share capital and share options
during the Year, if any, are set out in notes 30 and 31 to the
financial statements, respectively.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENT

Save as disclosed in this Annual Report, there was no equity-
linked agreement entered into by the Company during the year
ended 31 March 2025.

RESERVES

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the
Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity on pages 106 and 107 of this Annual Report.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2025, the Company’s reserves available for cash
distribution and/or distribution in specie, computed in accordance
with the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended),
amounted to approximately HK$72,988,000. In addition, the
Company’s share premium account and capital redemption
reserve, in the aggregate amount of approximately
HK$255,310,000, may be distributed in the form of fully paid
bonus shares.

Under the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda (as amended), the
Company may make distributions from its contributed surplus in
certain circumstances.
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BUSINESS REVIEW

A review of the business of the Group for the year ended
31 March 2025 is set out in the section headed “Management
Discussion and Analysis” on pages 13 to 29 of this Annual
Report. These discussions form part of this “Report of the
Directors”.

This business review is made pursuant to paragraph 28(2)(d) of
Appendix D2 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Listing Rules”)
published by The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the
“Stock Exchange”), pursuant to which further analysis of and
discussion on the above principal activities of the Group as
required by Schedule 5 to the Companies Ordinance (Chapter
622 of the Laws of Hong Kong) (the “Companies Ordinance”)
are made. In the opinion of the Directors, the sections headed
“Chairman’s statement” and “Management discussion and
analysis” provide a comprehensive review of the performance of
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2025 as well as its
future prospects.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

The following is a list of principal risks and uncertainties that are
considered to be of significance and have potential to affect the
Group's businesses, results of operations and financial position.
However, this list is non-exhaustive as there may be other risks
and uncertainties which may arise as a result of changes in
economic and other conditions over time. The Group employs a
risk management and internal control framework to identify
current and foreseeable risks at different levels of the
organisation so as to take preventive actions to avoid or mitigate
their adverse impacts.
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Risks relating to property development and
investment business segment

The property development and investment segment is one of the
major businesses of the Group, particularly in Mainland China.
Accordingly, this segment is subject to economic, political and
legal developments in Mainland China as well as the economies
in the surrounding region. In recent years, property market
movements in Mainland China have been concurrently affected by
the economic trend and government policies, including but not
limited to, the adoption of category-based regulatory measures
and the bilateral regulatory measures for the real estate market,
policy changes in mortgage levels and ownership, interest rate
changes, supply and demand conditions as well as the overall
economic volatility in Mainland China. The Group's property
development and investment business segment is expected to
continue being exposed to these risks, which may affect the
Group's investment strategy as well as its performance. In this
respect, the Group actively assesses the overall economic, political
and legal developments as well as the property markets in other
provinces in Mainland China in deciding viable acquisition and
disposal strategies. For each potential project, detailed feasibility
studies and stress tests in respect of all aspects will be carried out
before an acquisition to minimise risks.

Risks relating to financial conditions and results of

operation

(i)  The Group's finance costs fluctuate with changes in interest
rates. The Group’s borrowings also include amounts
denominated in RMB, in Mainland China. The People’s Bank
of China adjusts its benchmark lending rates from time to
time in response to domestic and global economic changes.
The Group may be affected by changes in the prevailing
interest rates of the global credit market. Any increase in
interest rates in connection with the currencies the Group
borrows will increase the Group’s finance costs and
customers’ mortgage interest rates and may adversely and
materially affect the Group’s businesses, financial position,
results of operations and growth prospects.
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(ii)

(iii)

The Group is required to reassess the fair value of its
investment properties at the end of every reporting period
to which financial statements are made up. Pursuant to
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, investment
properties are stated at their fair value, and the changes in
their valuation should be taken to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss of the financial period in which
it is incurred. Based on the valuation conducted by
independent external valuers, the Group recognises the
investment properties at fair value and the related deferred
tax in the consolidated statement of financial position, while
the changes in fair value and the related deferred tax of
investment properties are recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss. Therefore, the assumptions
made in the valuation of investment properties would
change under changing market conditions. Notwithstanding
any variations in profit and loss, fair value gains and losses
are non-cash items and will not increase or decrease cash
and cash equivalents. The amount of revaluation adjustment
has been and will continuously be subject to changes in
market conditions. As such, there can be no assurance that
changes in market conditions will continue to generate
gains from fair value changes in investment properties at
similar level or at all, or there will be no decline in the fair
value of the Group’s investment properties. If a property
market in the region where the Group operates slows
down, the fair value of the Group’s investment properties
may decline.

With the majority of the properties located in Mainland
China, the general economic climate, regulatory changes,
government policies and the political conditions in Mainland
China may have a significant impact on the Group’s overall
financial results and condition. The Group’s rental income
may experience more frequent adjustments resulting from
competition due to oversupply in retail and office spaces.
Furthermore, rental levels may also be impacted by external
economic and market conditions including but not limited
to fluctuations in general supply and demand, performance
in stock markets and financial volatility, which may
indirectly affect the Group’s property investment
performance. The spread of COVID-19 pandemic and the
resultant government measures exert economic pressure on
the tenants of the Group. The weak retail markets affect
the Group’s financial results leading to decreases in revenue
and adverse effects on profits and cash flows.
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(iv)

Properties developed by the Group for sale in Mainland China
are subject to Land Appreciation Tax (“LAT"). LAT is
calculated based on proceeds received from the sale of
properties less deductible expenditures as provided in the
relevant tax laws. Pending settlement with the relevant tax
authorities, the Group makes provisions for the amount of
LAT in accordance with the relevant PRC tax laws and
regulations from time to time. Provisions for LAT are made
on the Group’s own estimates based on, among other
things, its own apportionment of deductible expenses which
is subject to final confirmation by the relevant tax
authorities upon settlement of the LAT. The Group only
prepays a portion of such provisions each year as required
by the local tax authorities. The Group cannot assure that
the relevant tax authorities will agree with its calculation of
LAT, nor can it assure that the LAT provisions will be
sufficient to cover its LAT obligations in respect of its past
LAT liabilities in relation to its combined property business.
If the relevant tax authorities determine that its LAT exceeds
the LAT prepayments and provisions, and seek to collect
that excess amount, the Group’s cash flows, results of
operations and financial position may be materially and
adversely affected. As there are uncertainties as to when
the tax authorities will enforce the LAT collection and
whether it will apply the LAT collection retrospectively to
properties sold before the enforcement, any payment as a
result of the enforcement of LAT collection may significantly
restrict the Group’s cash flow position, its ability to finance
its land acquisitions and to execute its business plans.

(iv)
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(v)  The Group operates two hotels in Kaifeng, the PRC. Hotel
performance is usually subject to a high degree of
fluctuations caused by both predictable and unpredictable
factors including seasonality, economic conditions, social
stability, epidemic diseases and ease of traveling. Each
factor has varied the development pattern of the tourism
and hospitality industry. It also takes continual reviews of
competition, legal and political changes as well as market
trends for setting its business strategies including marketing
and pricing to protect and drive profitability and cash flow.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES, PERFORMANCE AND
COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group is committed to maintaining sustainable working
practices and paying close attention to ensure that all resources
are efficiently utilised. The Group strives to become an
environmental-friendly corporation by saving electricity and
encouraging the recycling of office supplies and other materials.

The Group and its business activities are subject to requirements
under various laws. The laws and regulations which have a
significant impact on the Group include, among others, Air
Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), Noise Control Ordinance (Chapter 400 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), Water Pollution Control Ordinance (Chapter 358 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354
of the Laws of Hong Kong), Environmental Impact Assessment
Ordinance (Chapter 499 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Minimum
Wage Ordinance (Chapter 608 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Chapter 282 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), Occupiers Liability Ordinance (Chapter 314 of the
Laws of Hong Kong), Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance
(Chapter 509 of the Laws of Hong Kong), and Immigration
Ordinance (Chapter 115 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The Group
has put in place in-house rules containing measures and work
procedures to ensure that the Group’s operation is in compliance
with the applicable laws and regulations.
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The Group’s major business is property development in Mainland
China, which is a heavily-regulated industry. Property developers
must abide by various-laws and regulations, including rules
stipulated by the national and local governments. To engage in
property development, the Group must apply to relevant
government authorities to obtain and renew various licences,
permits, certificates and approvals, including but not limited to,
land use rights certificates, qualification certificates for property
developers, construction work commencement permits,
construction work planning permits, construction land planning
permits and pre-sale permits. Before government authorities issue
or renew any certificate or permit, the Group must meet the
relevant requirements. Set out below is a summary of certain
aspects of Mainland China legal and regulatory provisions relating
to our property development and investment operations and
business. These include laws and regulations relating to:

o Establishment of a real estate development enterprise
o Qualification of a real estate developer

o Land for property development

o Sale of commodity properties

o Transfer of real estate

o Mortgages of real estate

o Real estate management

° Measures on stabilising property prices

o PRC taxation

o Foreign currency exchange

o Labour protection

The Group is committed to complying with the above laws and

regulations and for the year ended 31 March 2025, there was no
reported case of material non-compliance.
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HEALTH AND SAFETY

The Group prides itself on providing a safe, effective and
congenial work environment. Adequate arrangements, training
and guidelines are implemented to ensure the working
environment is healthy and safe. The Group provided health and
safety communications for employees to present the relevant
information and raise awareness of occupational health and safety
issues. The Group values the health and well-being of staff. In
order to provide employees with health coverage, staff are
entitled to medical insurance benefits as well as other health
awareness programs.

KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

As at 31 March 2025, the Group had a headcount of 159
employees (2024: 136), 116 of whom were based in the PRC and
the remaining employees were based in Hong Kong. Salaries of
employees are maintained at a competitive level and are reviewed
annually, with close reference to the relevant labour market as
well as the minimum wages guidelines as prescribed by the local
government from time to time. The total employee benefits
expenses including directors’ emoluments for the year ended
31 March 2025 was approximately HK$37.4 million as compared
with approximately HK$36.0 million last year. The increase was
due to the commencement of operation of a new hotel at
Kaifeng, the PRC, during the year.

The Group awards discretionary bonuses to eligible employees
based upon profit achievements of the Group and individual
performance. The Company has also adopted a share option
scheme in order to attract and retain the best available personnel
and to align the interests of the employees with the Group’s
interests. Being people-oriented, the Group ensures all staff are
reasonably remunerated and continues to improve and regularly
review and update its policies on remuneration and benefits,
training, and occupational health and safety.

The Group also stays connected with its customers and suppliers
and has on-going communication with the customers and
suppliers through various channels such as telephone, electronic
mails and physical meetings to obtain their feedback and
suggestions.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY AND INSURANCE
PROVISION

Each Director or other officers of the Company shall be entitled
to be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against all
losses or liabilities which he or she may sustain or incur in or
about the execution of the duties of his or her office or
otherwise in relation thereto. The Group has maintained
appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance in respect of
relevant legal actions against the Directors and officers of the
Group during the year ended 31 March 2025.

FIVE YEAR FINANCIAL SUMMARY

The summary of the results, assets and liabilities of the Group in
the past five years is set out on pages 251 to 252 of this Annual
Report.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 March 2025, sales to the Group's five
largest customers accounted for approximately 53% (2024: 46%)
of the total sales for the year and sales to the largest customer
included therein amounted to approximately 27% (2024: 29%).
Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 44% (2024: 42%) of the total purchases for the
year and purchases from the largest supplier included therein
amounted to approximately 18% (2024: 11%).

None of the Directors of the Company or any of their associates
(as defined in the Listing Rules) or any other shareholders (which,
to the best knowledge of the Directors, own more than 5% of
the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial interest in
any of the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers during the
Year.
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DIRECTORS
The Directors of the Company during the Year and up to the
date of the Annual Report were:

Executive Directors
Mr. TJIA Boen Sien*®
(Managing Director and Chairman)
Mr. WANG Jing Ning*®
Mr. TJIA Wai Yip, William
Ms. TSE Hoi Ying

Independent Non-Executive Directors
Dr. HO Chung Tai, Raymond*#@

Mr. SIU Kam Chau**@

Ir Siu Man Po

Mr. Song Sio Chong*#@

* audit committee members
# remuneration committee members
@ nomination committee members

Ms. Tse Hoi Ying, Ir Siu Man Po and Mr. Song Siu Chong will
retire by rotation according to the Company’s Bye-Laws and,
being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the
forthcoming AGM to be held on Tuesday, 26 August 2025.

The Company considers that Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond, Ir Siu
Man Po, Mr. Siu Kam Chau and Mr. Song Sio Chong are
independent pursuant to the criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules and that it has received annual confirmations of
independence from each of them.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the Directors proposed for re-election at the forthcoming
AGM has a service contract with the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, which is not determinable by the employing company
within one year without payment of compensation, other than
statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The Directors’ fees are subject to shareholders’ approval at
general meeting. Other emoluments are determined by the
Company'’s board of Directors with reference to Directors’ duties,
responsibilities and performance and the results of the Group. For
further details of the Directors’ emoluments, please refer to note
8 to the financial statements.

Please refer to the section headed “Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management” in pages 51 to 57 in this
Annual Report for biographical information in respect of the
Directors and senior management.

DIRECTORS’ AND CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS'
INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
OR CONTRACTS

Save as disclosed in paragraph headed “Continuing connected
transactions” and note 36 to the financial statements, no
Director, a connected entity of a Director nor a controlling
shareholder of the Company had a material beneficial interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to the business of the Group to which
any of its holding companies, subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries
was a party during the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and/or administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the
Company were entered into or existed during the year ended
31 March 2025.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2025, the interests and short positions of the
Directors and chief executives of the Company in the shares,
underlying shares and debentures of the Company and its
associated corporations (within the meaning of Part XV of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance (the “SFO")), as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company pursuant to Section
352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including the interests and short positions which he would
be deemed or taken to have under Section 344 and 345 of the
SFO) or pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Companies, were as follows:

Long positions in shares and underlying shares of the

EERFTETBRAERKRG - HEK
DREZNESERKXRE

RZEZRAF=A=+—H XRAISNLE
ERFETHABRARRREMBEEZE (E
ZRABHFNPEKRN((BFRBESKRG) F
XVER) 2 fgfn « MR HN RMEFELHLAR
AIREES MBS ROIEIS2EET 2 BREHR
fim - SKEAEMBAREZESRBEEMSE
XVESETRESH IR IE LT AR ERHEST
BHR G HEESTRIZEME RNA G LB R
ZHEZRAR (BIEREZESFRBEKRNE
3445 R F 345 W RIEXR EIEER v m &
KE)WMAT -

REDBARDREBEARDNER :

Company:

Number of shares held, capacity and nature of interest

FERHEE SHRERME

Percentage

of the

Directly Through Company's

beneficially controlled issued share

owned corporation capital

(Note 2) (Note 2) Total (Note 3)

BERAF

=8 2B 28T

BRER FrEslEE BEABS L

Name of Directors EEpng (BFaE2) (KrEE2) &t (BF&E3)

Mr. Tjia Boen Sien ("Mr. Tjia") HXEEE(HEE] 129,002,400 (L) 524,902,500 (L) 653,904,900 4458
(Note 1) (Bf5E1)

Mr. Wang Jing Ning TRELE 39,644,100 (L) — 39,644,100 2.70

Mr. Tjia Wai Yip, William IR EE 3,600,000 (L) — 3,600,000 0.25

Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond fAERE T 727,500 (L) — 727,500 0.05

Ir Siu Man Po BOCKE T2RM 1,580,000 (L) — 1,580,000 0.11
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Notes: B &

1. Sparta Assets Limited (“Sparta Assets”), a company incorporated in the British 1. TRBREXHS ((KEBRELZBB]) MRzt Hh
Virgin Islands (“BVI”) and wholly-owned by Mr. Tjia, is beneficially interested H 2 BB 2 Sparta Assets Limited ([ Sparta
in 524,902,500 shares of the Company. Accordingly, Mr. Tjia is deemed to Assets|) - B A A2 8)524,902,500 % f 15
be interested in 524,902,500 shares of the Company held by Sparta Assets - REESFRPERS  SHEEHRRAER
by virtue of the SFO. Sparta Assets$ /A Z 78 A 7524,902,500 A% i 17 #

BERER -

2. The letter “L” denotes the person’s long position in the relevant shares of 2. [LIREBBATRARARMEBEROOIETE -
the Company.

3. The calculation is based on the total number of 1,466,820,600 Shares in issue 3. AENER-_ZEAF=A=T—HBETRG
as at 31 March 2025. 48 %01,466,820,600 % Jz {5 °

Long positions in Sparta Assets, being an associated R BB L B Sparta AssetsHiF = -
corporation:

Number of shares held, capacity and nature of interest

FEROEE SORESEME

Percentage of

Directly Through the Sparta

beneficially controlled Assets issued

owned corporation Total  share capital

{Sparta

Assets

HE ZB 2#1T

Name of Director BEpE BERES FriEdlEE &&t BRAB DL

Mr. Tjia* o 1,000 — 1,000 100.00
* Sparta Assets, a company incorporated in BVI and wholly-owned by Mr. Tjia, * Sparta Assets (— A BB fE 22 B S i A L W A
is beneficially interested in 524,902,500 ordinary shares of the Company. HEE2BEREBZRAR)EREE AR A

524,902,500% & @A A 15 °

The interests of the Directors in the share options of the BEERARAIBREZEZ  BTRATXIE
Company are separately disclosed in the section headed “Share  BRAEEFHEI| — &N -
option scheme” below.

Save as disclosed above and note 31 to the financial statements, B EXRRMEHRERMFI1FAWEEI &
none of the Directors and chief executive of the Company had ARBEEZEREBITHRABMELELARAF
any interest or short position in the shares, underlying shares or ~ HAT{JMRESEE 2B BB KEHH
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations % B AR 1 & 5 M 1 & 60 352 178
that was required to be recorded pursuant to Section 352 of the &% SIBE LT AREZETELELHHIE
SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and the Stock E=SFHIERBITHIE AR QA M B Fr 2 (T (] #
Exchange pursuant to the Model Code for Securities Transactions — z AR °

by Directors of Listed Companies.
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed under the headings “Directors’ interests and
short positions in shares and underlying shares” above and
“Share option scheme” below, and share option scheme
disclosures set out in note 31 to the financial statements, at no
time during the Year were rights to acquire benefits by means of
the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company
granted to any Director or their respective spouse or minor
children, nor were any such rights exercised by them; nor was the
Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company operates a share option scheme (the “Scheme”)
for the purpose of providing incentives and rewards to eligible
participants who contribute to the success of the Group’s
operations.

No share options was outstanding under the Scheme during the
Year.

Further details of the Scheme are included in note 31 to the
financial statements.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER
PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES

As at 31 March 2025, so far as is known to the Directors of the
Company, the following persons/entities (other than the Directors
or chief executives of the Company) had an interest or short
position in shares or underlying shares of the Company which
would fall to be disclosed to the Company under Division 2 and
3 of part XV of the SFO or as recorded in the register of
interests of the Company required to be kept pursuant to Section
336 of the SFO:

Long positions:
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HR:

Percentage of
Number of the Company’s

ordinary issued share
Capacity and nature shares held Capital
Name of interest (Note 3) (Note 4)
LR NN
2®1T
FEEEREA BAEB DL
=L SOREFEMLE (F=E3) (Pffz£4)
Sparta Assets (Note 1) Beneficial owner 524,902,500 (L) 35.79
Sparta Assets (M &E1) E=EAA
Granda Overseas Holding Co., Ltd Beneficial owner 260,548,110 (L) 17.76
("Granda”) (Note 2)
Granda Overseas Holding Co., Ltd EmEAA
([Granda]) (F¥5E2)
Mr. Chen Huofa Interests of controlled 260,548,110 (L) 17.76
corporation
FRNOE S B R 2 s
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Notes:

1. Sparta Assets, a company incorporated in BVI and wholly-owned by Mr. Tjia,
is beneficially interested in 524,902,500 shares of the Company. Accordingly,
Mr. Tjia is deemed to be interested in 524,902,500 shares of the Company
held by Sparta Assets by virtue of the SFO.

2. Granda, a company incorporated in the BVI and wholly-owned by Mr. Chen
Huofa, is beneficially interested in 260,548,110 shares of the Company.
Accordingly, Mr. Chen Huofa is deemed to be interested in 260,548,110
shares of the Company held by Granda by virtue of the SFO.

3. The letter “L"” denotes the person’s long position in the relevant shares of
the Company.

4. The calculation is based on the total number of 1,466,820,600 Shares in issue
as at 31 March 2025.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2025, the Company has
not been notified of any other interests or short positions in the
shares or underlying shares of the Company which were required
to be notified to the Company under Division 2 and 3 of Part XV
of the SFO or were recorded in the register of interests required
to be kept by the Company under Section 336 of the SFO.

PURCHASE, REDEMPTION OR SALES OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during
the year ended 31 March 2025.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE
There was no change in the capital structure of the Company
during the year ended 31 March 2025.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s Bye-Laws or the laws of Bermuda which would oblige
the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

TAX RELIEF AND EXEMPTION TO HOLDERS OF
LISTED SECURITIES

The Company is not aware of any relief or exemption available to
shareholders of the Company by reason of their holding of the
Company’s shares.
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EQUITY LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in the paragraphs headed “Share Option
Schemes” in this section, no equity-linked agreement was
entered into by the Group during the year under review or
subsisted at the end of the year.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS
Leases of office premises in Hong Kong

On 20 March 2024, Grand On Enterprise Limited (“Grand On"),
a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company entered into a
tenancy agreement (“Tenancy Agreement”) with Fitness Concept
Limited (“FCL"), a company wholly-owned by Mr. Tjia Boen Sien
(“Mr. Tjia"), the Managing Director and Chairman and a
substantial shareholder of the Company, for the leasing of a
property (the “Property”) of the Group in Hong Kong. The
Tenancy Agreement was for a term of one year from 1 April
2024 to 31 March 2025, with a rental of HK$14,000 per month
payable in advance. The annual rental fee payable by FCL to
Grand On for the year ended 31 March 2025 did not exceed
HK$168,000.

On 25 March 2025, Grand On entered into a renewed tenancy
agreement (“Renewed Tenancy Agreement”) with FCL for the
leasing of the Property. The Renewed Tenancy Agreement was for
a term of one year from 1 April 2025 to 31 March 2026, with a
rental of HK$14,000 per month payable in advance. The annual
rental fee payable by FCL to Grand On for the financial year
ending 31 March 2026 is not expected to exceed HK$168,000.

Given that Mr. Tjia is the Managing Director and Chairman of the
Company and a substantial shareholder of the Company
interested in an aggregate of approximately 44.58% equity
interest in the Company at the time of entering into the
Renewed Tenancy Agreement, FCL, being wholly-owned by
Mr. Tjia, is a connected person of the Company within the
meaning of the Listing Rules, the transaction therefore constitutes
a continuing connected transaction of the Company.

As each of the applicable percentage ratios of the transaction
under the Tenancy Agreement calculated with reference to the
annual rental fee payable by FCL to Grand On was less than 5%
and the total considerations involved were less than
HK$3,000,000, pursuant to Rule 14A.33 of the Listing Rules, the
transactions were exempted from the reporting, annual review,
announcement and independent shareholders’ approval
requirements of the Listing Rules.
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PARTICULARS OF PROPERTIES =
The properties held for sale of the Group are as follows: REEBFEMEDT :
Attributable

interest of the Gross floor
Location Group Tenure  Current use area
b B AEEEIGER FH B Al A& BEEE
Phase | to IV of 100% The properties are held for Residential/ 1,312 sq.m.
Asian Villas City Square a term of 70 years, commercial
Southern Area commencing on 13 May 1998 complex
Jinpen Industrial and expiring on 12 May 2068
Development Zone
Haikou
Hainan Province
PRC
o 100% ZEYETFH F=x/ 1312FF%
BEAE B—AANEEAT=ZHE HF¥iEEER
O ZEANFRATZHI
TRTXAER RE70F
=1
M ZF BT S
FE—Z=MH
Sections B to F 100% The properties are held for Residential/ 12,772 sq.m.
388 Xi Da Jie terms of 40 to 70 years, commercial
Kaifeng City commencing on complex
Henan Province 17 January 2008 and
PRC expiring on 20 July 2079
o 100% ZEMEFH E=/ 12,772F 7%
A H-ZTN\F-—A+LtHEE BEKEHEA
G Nl —EHNAFEAZTHILE
P K #3885 RHHEI40ET705F
BZEF&
Section G 100% The properties are held for Residential/ 11,381 sg.m.
388 Xi Da Jie terms of 40 to 70 years, commercial
Kaifeng City commencing on complex
Henan Province 22 December 2016 and
PRC expiring on 22 December 2081
B & FE T 100% ZEMEFH FE/ 11,381FF%K
PO K 738855 H-Z—R"ET+TAZ+HE H¥iH£EHER
Gl “EN-F+-A-+-HIE

AHHEI40ET705F

Commercial Zone B, C 100% The properties are held for Residential/ 8,201 sg.m.
and D, Residential 1-3 terms of 40 to 70 years, Commercial
Core Lot No. 2012-1 commencing on 13 May 2013
Zheng Kai Avenue and expiring on 13 May 2083
Kaifeng City
Henan Province
PRC
[ 100% ZEMEFH  EE/EE 8201 TFHK
AmERED H-_Z—=FRA+=HZ

BEFA R 2012-155 = 4
B CHEDHERE - 1-3(X=F

—EN=FRA+=8I"
BEA0ET0E
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The investment properties of the Group are as follows: REEREMENT -
Attributable

interest of the Gross floor
Location Group Tenure Lease term  Current use area
1t 2 rEEEGES FH iR B A A% EEEE
12 Haixiu Avenue 100% The properties are held for Long Commercial 22,803 sg.m.
Meilan District a term of 70 years,
Haikou commencing on 15 September
Hainan Province 2006 and expiring on
PRC 14 September 2076
& 100% REMEEH =3l BmE  22803FHK
BEE M-_ZTERFAATRAE
mam “EEREAATHABL
e AET705F
BEEE125%
Section A 100% The properties are held for Long Commercial 53,624 sg.m.
388 Xi Da lJie a term of 40 years,
Kaifeng City commencing on 20 July 2009
Henan Province and expiring on 20 July 2049
PRC
o 100% REMEEH = BE  53,624THK
ZIEE —EENFLAZTREE
R ™ “EMAFEAZTBIL
79 K #73885% RE40F
Alz
Section F 100% The properties are held for Long Commercial 6,202 sg.m.
388 Xi Da lJie a term of 40 years,
Kaifeng City commencing on 20 July 2009
Henan Province and expiring on 20 July 2049
PRC
F 100% REMFEEH =3 [GES 6,202 75 K
AIEAE —ETNFLAZTHE
R ™ “EMAFLAZTBILE
Pa R #3887 RE40F
FlE

MEEREREEARAT —T_RFFR
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of the Directors, at least 25% of the
Company’s total number of issued shares were held by the public
throughout the year ended 31 March 2025.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an audit committee which was established in
accordance with the requirements of the Corporate Governance
Code for the purpose of reviewing and providing supervision over
the Group's internal controls, risk management and financial
reporting matters including the review of the annual results for
the Reporting Period, and adequacy of resources and
qualifications of the Company’s accounting staff. The audit
committee comprises of three independent non-executive directors
of the Company, namely Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond, Mr. Siu
Kam Chau and Mr. Song Sio Chong. Mr. Siu Kam Chau is the
chairman of the committee.

The annual results of the Group for the Reporting Period have
been reviewed by the audit committee members who have
provided advice and comment thereon.

AUDITOR

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited (”“Baker Tilly”) will retire and,
being eligible, offer themselves for reappointment at the
forthcoming AGM. A resolution for their reappointment as
auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming
AGM. There has been no change in the Company’s auditor in any
of the preceding three years.

Tjia Boen Sien
Managing Director and Chairman

Hong Kong
26 June 2025
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Mr. TJIA Boen Sien (“Mr. Tjia”), aged 81, is one of the
co-founders of the Group. He is the Managing Director and
Chairman of the Company. Mr. Tjia is the member of
remuneration committee and the member of nomination
committee of the Board. Mr. Tjia is well respected and has
established connections in the PRC construction industry through
his extensive experience. He has over 40 years' experience in the
construction industry in the PRC and Hong Kong. Mr. Tjia is
responsible for the overall corporate strategy and the daily
operations of the Group, including business development and
overall management.

He graduated from chemistry studies at the Huagiao University
(ZEBKE) in the PRC in July 1966. He was admitted as member
of The Chartered Institute of Building in November 1996 and is a
professional member of The Royal Institution of Chartered
Surveyors since October 2002. Mr. Tjia previously served as the
vice chairman and honourable member of Zhan Tian You Civil
Engineering Science and Technology Development Fund
Management Committee (XA T AT BRI ERMBERASER

%Z89)

Mr. Tjia is father of Mr. Tjia Wai Yip, William (Executive Director
of the Company) and Ms. Tse Hoi Ying, Irene (Executive Director
of the Company).

Mr. WANG Jing Ning (“Mr. Wang”), aged 69, is an executive
Director of the Company and was appointed as a director of the
Company in September 1993. Mr. Wang is a member of the
remuneration committee and a member of the nomination
committee of the Board. He is also a director of various main
operating subsidiaries of the Group, among others, Deson
Ventures (HK) Limited, Winsome Properties Limited and Honour
Advance Limited. Mr. Wang has over 40 years’ experience in
hotel management and construction engineering in Mainland
China and Hong Kong. He is responsible for managing the
Group's projects in Mainland China.
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Mr. TJIA Wai Yip, William (“Mr. William Tjia”), aged 49, is an
executive Director of the Company since January 2015.
Mr. William Tjia joined the Group in February 2000. He is a
director of Deson Innovative Limited since July 2005, one of the
subsidiaries of the Company. He has over 24 years of experience
in business management. He is responsible for A.l. business of
the Group and the Group’s development including property
investment and overall management. He graduated from the City
University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor of Arts with Honours
Degree in Information Systems in 1998. He is the son of Mr. Tjia
Boen Sien, the Managing Director and Chairman of the Group
and the younger brother of Ms. Tse Hoi Ying, Irene, the
Executive Director of the Company.

Ms. TSE Hoi Ying, Irene (“Ms. Tse”), aged 53, is an executive
Director of the Company since 1 March 2022. Ms. Tse joined the
Group in August 1999. She is the director of the Group’s three
subsidiaries, Medical Technologies Limited, Allied Health Elements
Company Limited and Medical Technologies Engineering Limited,
as well as the director of the Group’s associate company with
Taiwanese partners and also for a JV start-up company with the
Chinese University of Hong Kong which aims to bring HK
invented technologies into the world. In this year, this associate
company will further co-operate with Polytechnic University to
invent underwater sensors and monitoring systems. Ms. Tse is
responsible for trading of medical equipment and related
consulting business of the Group. Ms. Tse graduated from the
University of British Columbia (Canada) with a Bachelor of Arts
(Psychology) in May 1995.

Ms. Tse is the Immediate Past President of the Rotary Club of
Hong Kong (RCOHK), the most senior club in Hong Kong and she
is acting as Deputy Assistant Governor for Area 2 and dedicated
to serve the community for 2024-2025.

She is the daughter of Mr. Tjia Boen Sien, the Managing Director

and Chairman of the Group and the elder sister of Mr. William
Tjia, an executive Director of the Company.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

Dr. HO Chung-Tai, Raymond (“Dr. Ho"), sBs, MBE, S.B. st. J., JP,
aged 86, independent non-executive Director of the
Company and was appointed as a director of the Company in
September 1993.

is an

Dr. Ho has 60 years’ experience in the fields of civil, structural,
energy, environmental and geotechnical engineering and direct
project management of many mega size engineering projects
including 50 years in Hong Kong and 10 years in the United
Kingdom. He has direct management responsibility in the HK$3.0
billion (cost at the time) project of Electrification and
Modernisation of Kowloon-Canton Railway (now called “The East
Rail”) from the mid-70's till early 80’'s; and all the
government-funded infrastructure works for Shatin New Town and
Tseung Kwan O New Town from early 80’s till the end of 1993,
experience including construction of tunnels, bridges, flyovers,
roads, dockyards, wharves, jetties, hospitals, hotels, incinerators,
high-rise  commercial/residential buildings, slopes, reclamation,
chimneys, Hong Kong Ocean Park, environmental studies and
environmental protection projects.

Dr. Ho holds a doctorate degree in civil engineering from the City
University of London, United Kingdom; Honourary Doctor of
Business Administration from the City University of Hong Kong;
Honourary Doctor of Laws from University of Manchester, United
Kingdom; a postgraduate diploma in geotechnical engineering
from Manchester University, United Kingdom; and a bachelor
degree in civil engineering from the University of Hong Kong; and
was awarded Honourary University Fellow of The University of
Hong Kong and Honourary University Fellow of The University of
Central Lancashire, United Kingdom.
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Dr. HO Chung-Tai, Raymond (Continued)

Dr. Ho was formerly a partner and senior director of Maunsell
Consultants Asia Limited from January 1976 to August 1993.
Dr. Ho was formerly Deputy to the 10th & 11th terms of the
National People’s Congress of the PRC, member of the 1st, 2nd,
3rd & 4th terms of Legislative Council (Engineering Functional
Constituency) (1998-2012), member of the Provisional Legislative
Council (1996-1998), President of the Hong Kong Institution of
Engineers (1987/1988), Member of the Former Basic Law
Consultative Committee, Founding Council Chairman of the City
University of Hong Kong, Council Chairman of the former City
Polytechnic of Hong Kong, Chairman of Hong Kong Technology
Committee of the Industry & Technology Development Council
(ITDC) and member of ITDC, Chairman of the Transport Advisory
Committee, Hong Kong Affairs Adviser, Chairman of the
Infrastructure Development Services Advisory Committee of the
HKTDC, board member of the Hong Kong Airport Authority
(2008-2014), member of the Court of the City University of
Hong Kong, member of the Chinese Medicine Consultative
Committee of the School of Chinese Medicine of Hong Kong
Baptist University, member of Consultative Committee on the New
Airport and Related Projects, Professional Advisor (Architecture,
Engineering and Surveying) to the Ombudsman of HKSAR and
member of the Gas Safety Advisory Committee. Currently, Dr. Ho
is Honorary Chairman and Past Chairman of Guangdong Daya Bay
Nuclear Plant, LingAo Nuclear Plant Safety Consultative
Committee.

Dr. Ho currently is also the director of the following companies
which are listed on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
("Stock Exchange”):

An Independent Non-executive Director

GCLTechnology Holdings Limited (stock code: 3800)
Chinlink International Holdings Limited (stock code: 997)
AP Rentals Holdings Limited (stock code: 1496)

Dr. Ho has been the director of the following company which is
listed on the Stock Exchange in the past three years:

an independent non-executive director of Superland Group

Holdings Limited (stock code: 368) for the period from 16 July
2020 to 17 July 2023.
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Ir SIU Man-po (“Ir Siu”), is an independent non-executive
Director of the Company since September 2001.

Ir Siu was awarded the MEDAL OF HONOUR (MH) by the Chief
Executive of the Government of the Hong Kong Special
Administrative Region (HKSAR) in July 2004 for his dedication and
meritorious services to the development of engineering profession
in Hong Kong.

Ir Siu, aged 87, obtained his Master of Science in Civil
Engineering in 1963 from Auburn University in Auburn, Alabama,
U.S.A.

Ir Siu has extensive experience in construction field including the
construction of Tsing Yi Power Station in 1966-1977, MTR
stations in 1977-1987, and Hong Kong Baptist University campus
development in 1989-1999. Ir Siu was the Managing Director of
Ho Wang Siu Mak Management Ltd. (an engineering consultancy
company) from 2008 to 2019.

Ir Siu is a Fellow Member of the Hong Kong Institution of
Engineers and the American Society of Civil Engineers.

Mr. SIU Kam Chau (“Mr. Siu”), aged 60, joined the Company
in March 2014 as an independent non-executive Director. Mr. Siu
is the Chairman of the Audit Committee and the Chairman of the
Remuneration Committee, and member of the Nomination
Committee of the Board. Mr. Siu graduated from the City
University of Hong Kong with a bachelor’'s degree in
Accountancy. He is a fellow of the Association of Chartered
Certified Accountants and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants. He is also a Certified Public Accountant
(practising) in Hong Kong. Mr. Siu has over 30 years of working
experience in auditing, accounting, company secretarial and
corporate finance. Mr. Siu is currently an independent
non-executive director of Wang On Group Limited (stock code:
1222) which is a company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EEREREBEAEZEE

Mr. SONG Sio Chong (“*R%4"), aged 70, is an independent
non-executive Director of the Company on 1 May 2023.
Mr. Song is the Chairman of the Nomination Committee, the
member of the Audit Committee and the Remuneration
Committee of the Board.

Mr. Song has more than 26 years of experience in structural
design, site supervision and contract management. Mr. Song
graduated from the Hong Kong Baptist College (now known as
the Hong Kong Baptist University) Civil Engineering Department
with a Diploma in June 1979 and was awarded Associateship in
Civil and Structural Engineering from Hong Kong Polytechnic
(now known as the Hong Kong Polytechnic University) in
November 1982. Mr. Song obtained a Master Degree of Business
Administration and a Doctoral Degree of Chinese Literature from
Hong Kong Chu Hai College (now known as Chu Hai University)
in July 1983 and June 1988, respectively. He also obtained a
Bachelor Degree in Law, Master Degree in Civil Law and Doctoral
Degree in Constitutional and Administrative Laws from Peking
University in July 1991, July 1996 and July 1999, respectively, and
further received his Certified Postgraduate Examination Diploma in
English Law and Hong Kong Law from The Manchester
Metropolitan University of the United Kingdom (“UK"”) in
September 2001. Mr. Song is a member of both The Institution
of Structural Engineers of the UK and The Hong Kong Institution
of Engineers. He is also a Registered Professional Engineer
(Structural) in Hong Kong and a Class 1 Registered Structural
Engineer in the People’s Republic of China.

Mr. Song was appointed as the honorary consultant of China Law
Office from July 2003 to July 2008. He served as a part-time
member of the Central Policy Unit of the Government of Hong
Kong from 2007 to 2008 and was a member of the National
Committee of the Chinese Association of Hong Kong & Macao
Studies from 2016 to 2022. He has been a full-time professor of
the Centre for Basic Laws of Hong Kong and Macau Special
Administrative Region at Shenzhen University from 2010 to
2022.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

LAM Wing Wai, Angus (“Mr. Lam”), aged 49, joined the Group
in September 2005. He is the Company Secretary and the
Financial Controller of the Group. He is responsible for
monitoring all the Group’s accounting, finance, listing compliance
and company secretarial functions. He holds a Bachelor Degree in
Business Administration from the Hong Kong University of Science
and Technology. He is a Certified Public Accountant of the Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Before joining the
Group, he has several years’ experience with an international
accounting firm.

KWOK Chun Fai (“Mr. Kwok"”), aged 81, joined the Group in
February 1991. He is the project manager of the Group and is
responsible for the Group’s construction projects in Mainland
China. He has over 50 years’ experience in the industry. He
graduated from Fujian Overseas Chinese University in Mainland
China in Civil Industrial and Civil Building. He obtained the
International Engineering and Professional Manager Qualification
Certificate and is a Member of Architectural Society of Chinese.

WONG Suen Ping (“Mr. Wong”), aged 40, joined the Group in
February 2006. He is the Senior Product Manager of Deson
Innovative Limited and Axxonsoft Hong Kong Limited, and
appointed as the Director of SecurePlus Limited in May 2020,
which are the subsidiaries or associate company of the Group.
Mr. Wong is primarily responsible for the trading business of
Security System and Smart loT equipment, and further responsible
for the business development and company operation. He has
over 19 years of experience in this industry. He graduated from
the City University of Hong Kong with a Bachelor of Engineering
with Honours Degree in Electronics Engineering (Electronics and
Communication) in year 2012.
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Corporate Governance Report
EERERARMS

The Company is committed to a high standard of corporate
governance practices and business ethics in enhancing the
confidence of shareholders, investors, employees, creditors and
business partners and also the growth of its business. The
Company’s corporate governance practices are based on the
principles of good corporate governance (“Principles”) and code
provisions (“Code Provisions”) of Corporate Governance Code
("CG Code”) as set out in Appendix C1 to the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities (“Listing Rules”) on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”). The Company has
complied with most of the code provisions of the CG Code
throughout the year ended 31 March 2025 save for the deviation
from the Code Provision C.2.1, details of which are explained
below. The Company regularly reviews its corporate governance
practices in order to meet the rising expectations of stakeholders
and comply with increasingly stringent regulatory requirements,
and to fulfill its commitment to excellent corporate governance.

Summary of deviations from the CG Code:

Code Provision C.2.1

CG Code Provision C.2.1 requires that the roles of Chairman and
chief executive should be separate and should not be performed
by the same individual.

The Company has deviated from CG Code Provision C.2.1 to the
extent that the roles of chairman and chief executive (or in the
context of the Company, the managing director) are performed
by Mr. Tjia. Having considered the existing structure and
composition of the board and operations of the Group in Hong
Kong, the board believes that vesting the roles of both Chairman
and Managing Director in Mr. Tjia facilitates the effective
implementation and execution of its business strategies by, and
ensure a consistent leadership for, the Group. Further, a balance
of power and authority between the board and management can
be ensured by the operation of the board, whose members
(including the four independent non-executive directors) are
individuals of high calibre with ample experience, such that the
interests of shareholders can be safeguarded. The Company will
continue to review the structure and composition of the board
from time to time to ensure that a balance of power and
authority between the board and management is appropriately
maintained for the Group.
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THE KEY CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRINCIPLES
AND PRACTICES

The Company acknowledges the important role of its Board of
Directors (“Board”) in providing effective leadership and direction
of the Company towards its objectives and ensuring transparency
and accountability of all operations. The key corporate
governance principles and practices of the Company are
summarised as follows:

THE BOARD

Responsibilities

The Company has a division of functions reserved to the Board
and delegated to the management. The Board provides leadership
and approves strategic policies and plans with a view to enhance
shareholders’ interests while the day-to-day operations of the
Company are delegated to the management with proper
supervision from the Board. The Board reserves for its decisions
on all major matters of the Company, including the approval and
monitoring of all policy matters, overall strategies and budgets,
internal control and risk management systems, corporate
governance, material transactions (in particular those may involve
conflict of interests), financial information, appointment of
directors and other significant financial and operational matters.

The Board is responsible for determining the policy for corporate
governance of the Company and performing the corporate
governance duties including:

(@) to develop and review the Company'’s policies and practices
on corporate governance and make recommendations to the
Board;

(b) to
professional
management;

review and monitor the training and continuous

development of Directors and senior

(c)  to review and monitor the Company’s policies and practices
on compliance with legal and regulatory requirement;

(d) to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to employees and
Directors; and

(e)  to review the Company’'s compliance with the CG Code and
disclosure in the Corporate Governance Report.
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Corporate Governance Report
ERXERBE

The Company Secretary assists the Chairman in preparing the
agenda for Board meetings. All Directors have full and timely
access to all relevant information as well as the advice and
services of the Company Secretary, with a view to ensuring that
Board procedures and all applicable rules and regulations are
followed. Each director is normally able to seek independent
professional advice in appropriate circumstances at the Company’s
expense, upon making request to the Board.

The day-to-day management, administration and operation of the
Company are delegated to the Managing Director and the
management. The delegated functions and work tasks are
periodically reviewed by the Board after being reported on by
management. Approval has to be obtained from the Board prior
to any significant decisions being made or significant transactions
or commitments being entered into by the abovementioned
officers, who cannot exceed any authority given to them by
resolutions of the Board or the Company.

The Board has the full support of the Managing Director and the
management to discharge its responsibilities.

The Company has arranged for appropriate insurance cover in
respect of legal actions against the Board and to indemnify its
directors for their liabilities arising out of corporate activities. The
insurance coverage is reviewed on an annual basis.

The Board has established the Group’s purpose, values and
strategy, and has satisfied itself that the Group’s culture is
aligned. Acting with integrity and leading by example, the
Directors promote the desired culture to instill and continually
reinforce across the Group the values of acting lawfully, ethically
and responsibly, in order to facilitate the long-term sustainability
of the Group. The Group has adopted anti-fraud and
anti-corruption policy and whistleblowing policy to provide forums
for reporting issues and concerns on any misconduct, and to
uphold business integrity in its operations.
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Composition

As at the date of this report, the Board, which is currently
chaired by Mr. Tjia Boen Sien, comprised eight members, 7 males
and 1 female. All of the eight members served the Board
throughout the Reporting Period and up to the date of this
Report.

As at the date of this report, the Board comprises eight
members, consisting of four executive Directors, and four
independent non-executive Directors.

The Company had adopted a Board diversity policy aims to set
out the approach to achieve the diversity of the Board. The
Company recognises and embraces the benefits of having a
diverse Board to enhance the quality of its performance. The
Board has in its composition a balance of skills, expertise,
qualifications, experience and diversity of perspectives necessary
for independent decision making and fulfilling its business needs.
All Board appointments will continue to be made on a merit basis
with due regard for the benefits of diversity of the Board
members.

The Nomination Committee will follow a range of diversified
perspectives, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service. The ultimate decision will be
made upon possible contribution that the selected candidates will
bring to the Board.
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The Board of the Company comprises the following Directors:

Executive Directors

Mr. Tjia Boen Sien (Managing Director and Chairman)
(Member of Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee)

Mr. Wang Jing Ning (Member of Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee)

Mr. Tjia Wai Yip, William

Ms. Tse Hoi Ying

Independent Non-Executive Directors

Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond
(Member of Audit Committee, Remuneration Committee and
Nomination Committee)

Mr. Song Sio Chong (Member of Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee, Chairman of Nomination Committee)

Mr. Siu Kam Chau (Chairman of Audit Committee and
Remuneration Committee, Member of Nomination Committee)

Ir Siu Man Po

Details of the backgrounds and qualifications of the Chairman of
the Company and the other Directors are set out under the
section headed “Biographical Details of Directors and Senior
Management” on pages 51 to 57 of this Annual Report. All
Directors have given sufficient time and attention to the affairs of
the Group. Each executive Director has sufficient experience to
hold the position so as to carry out his duties effectively and
efficiently. Save for:

(i) Mr. Tjia Boen Sien and Mr. Tjia Wai Yip, William, who are
father and son;

(i) Mr. Tjia Boen Sien and Ms. Tse Hoi Ying, who are father
and daughter; and

(i)  Mr. Tjia Wai Yip, William and Ms. Tse Hoi Ying, who are
siblings,

none of the members of the Board are related to one another or

have any financial, business, family or other material or relevant
relationships with each other.
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The Board has also established mechanisms to ensure
independent views are available to the Board, including providing
the Directors with sufficient resources to perform its duties and
shall seek, at the Company’s expense, independent professional
advice to perform its responsibilities if necessary.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Board at all times
complied with Rules 3.10(1) and 3.10(2) of the Listing Rules
relating to the appointment of at least three independent
non-executive Directors with at least one independent
non-executive Director possessing appropriate professional
qualifications, or accounting or related financial management
expertise.

The Company has received written annual confirmation from each
independent non-executive Director of his independence pursuant
to the requirements of the Listing Rules. The Company considers
all independent non-executive Directors to be independent in
accordance with the independence guidelines set out in the
Listing Rules.

The independent non-executive Directors bring independent
judgement on issues of strategies direction, policies, development,
performance and risk management through their contribution at
Board Meetings.

The independent non-executive Directors bring a wide range of
business and financial expertise, experiences and independent
judgement to the Board. Through active participation in Board
meetings, taking the lead in managing issues involving potential
conflict of interests and serving on Board committees, all
independent non-executive Directors will scrutinise the
performance of the Company in achieving corporate goals and
objectives and monitor performance reporting. By doing so, they
are able to contribute positively to the Company’s strategy and
policies through independent, constructive and informed
comments at Board and committee meetings.
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All the Directors, including the independent non-executive
Directors, are given equal opportunity and channels to
communicate and express their views to the Board and have
separate and independent access to the management of the
Group in order to make informed decisions. The chairman of the
Board will hold meetings with the independent non-executive
Directors without the involvement of other Directors at least
annually to discuss any issues and concerns.

Any substantial shareholder, Director or his/her associate who has
a conflict of interest in a matter to be considered by the Board
will be dealt with by a physical Board meeting rather than by
written resolutions. Such Director will be required to declare his/
her interests before the meeting and abstain from voting and not
counted towards the quorum on the relevant resolutions.
Independent non-executive Directors who, and whose associates,
have no interest in the matter should attend the Board meeting.

The Board conducts an annual evaluation of its performance
whereby directors anonymously submit their comments on the
effectiveness of the Board and suggest areas for improvements.
The Board has reviewed and considered that the mechanisms are
effective in ensuring that independent views and inputs are
provided to the Board during the year ended 31 March 2025.

Appointment and Succession Planning of Directors
The Company has established formal and transparent procedures
for the appointment and succession planning of Directors.
Directors to be appointed will receive a formal letter of
appointment setting out the key terms and conditions of their
appointment. Any Board member is entitled to recommend
suitable candidate that meets the requirements of the Listing
Rules for consideration by the Board.

Code Provision B.2.2 stipulates that every director, including those
appointed for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by
rotation at least once every three years. In accordance with the
Company’s Bye-Laws, every Director, including those appointed
for a specific term, should be subject to retirement by rotation at
least once every three years. All Directors of the Company retire
by rotation once every three years in accordance with the CG
Code and the Company’s Bye-Laws.
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Training for Directors and Company Secretary

Each newly appointed director receives comprehensive, formal
induction to ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of
the business and his/her responsibilities and obligations under the
Listing Rules and relevant regulatory requirements.

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Directors regularly
updated and appraised with any new regulations and guideline,
as well as any amendments thereto issued by the Stock
Exchange, particularly the effects of such new or amended
regulations and guidelines on directors specifically. On an ongoing
basis, Directors are encouraged to keep up to date on all matters
relevant to the Group and attend briefings and seminars as
appropriate.

The Company is aware of the requirement to regularly review and
agrees with each Director their training needs. The continuing
professional training programme of the Company for Directors
reviewed on an ongoing basis by the Nomination
Committee. During the year ended 31 March 2025, all Directors
have individually attended seminars and training courses
conducted by qualified professionals on accounting, taxation and
Listing Rules.

will  be

There are also arrangements in place for providing continuing
briefing and professional development to directors whenever
necessary.

For the financial year ended 31 March 2025, the Company
Secretary of the Company has taken no less than 15 hours of
relevant professional training.
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Board Meetings

Code Provision C.5.1 stipulates that the Company should hold at
least four regular Board meetings a year at approximately
quarterly intervals with active participation of a majority of
Directors, either in person or through other electronic means of
communication.

Regular Board meetings were held during the year for reviewing
and approving the financial and operating performance, and
considering and approving the overall strategies and policies of
the Company.

During the year under review, four Board meetings, one annual
general meeting and one special general meeting were held.
Details of the attendance of the Directors are as follows:

EEged

STRMEXECSMERE  ARAREEBFED
BOIUNAREREFESHE  ANBF K-
BREEZSRHRBEAANNIPEETRIHFER
BEBEFEATAEBRS2E o

ARARNFARTEREZTE SR BTk
BRMEREEXEAREZ N BBARRF]
BB RBUR -

REBFEAR  ARARBITTHAEZEES
& TRBRRBEFRKE R RBRRERIAE
ESHEFABEOAT

Directors’ Attendance

ESHERY
Annual Special
General General Board
Meeting Meeting Meeting
BREBFAE REFBIAZ BEEg
Executive Directors HITES
Mr. Tjia Boen Sien HCERR KL 1/1 11 4/4
(Managing Director and (BB FTE)
Chairman)
Mr. Wang Jing Ning TRELEE 1/1 11 4/4
Mr. Tjia Wai Yip, William L 11 1/1 4/4
Ms. Tse Hoi Ying HEELZ L 1/1 11 4/4
Independent Non-Executive BAFHITES
Directors
Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond fERE L 1/1 11 4/4
Ir Siu Man Po BRSO TIZAM 11 11 4/4
Mr. Siu Kam Chau R MLA 1/1 11 4/4
Mr. Song Sio Chong RN E 1/1 11 4/4

Notices of regular Board meetings were served to all Directors at
least 14 days before the meetings. For other Board and
committee meetings, reasonable notice is generally given.
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Agenda and Board papers together with all appropriate
information are sent to all Directors at least three days before
each Board meeting or committee meeting so as to ensure that
there is timely access to relevant information. All Directors can
give notice to the Chairman of the Board or the Company
Secretary if they intend to include matters in the agenda for
Board meetings. The Board and the senior management are also
obligated to keep the Directors appraised of the latest
developments and financial position of the Group and to enable
them to make informed decisions. The Board and each Director
also have separate and independent access to the senior
management whenever necessary in a timely manner.

Apart from the above regular Board meetings of the year, the
Board will meet on other occasions when a Board-level decision
on a particular matter is required. The Directors will receive details
of agenda items for decision in advance of each Board meeting.

The Company Secretary, who is an employee of the Company, is
responsible to take and keep minutes of all Board meetings and
Board committee meetings, which record in sufficient detail the
matters considered by the Board and decisions reached, including
any concerns raised by Directors or dissenting views expressed. At
Board meetings, all Directors have ample opportunities to express
their respective views, voice any concerns and discuss the matters
under consideration, and the results of voting at Board meetings
fairly reflects the consensus of the Board. Draft minutes are
normally circulated to Directors for comment within a reasonable
time after each meeting and the final version is open for
Directors’ inspection. Directors are entitled to have access to
board papers and queries will be responded fully. According to
current Board practice, any material transaction, which involves
conflict of interests for a substantial shareholder or a Director,
will be considered and dealt with by the Board at a duly
convened Board meeting. Such Director must abstain from voting
and will not be counted as quorum.

Directors’ commitments

Each Director has confirmed that he can give sufficient time and
attention to the Group’s affairs, and has regularly provided
information on the number and nature of offices held in public
companies or organisations and other significant commitments,
including the identity of such companies or organisations and an
indication of the time involved.
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ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

The Company held the annual general meeting (2024 AGM") on
27 August 2024. Mr. Tjia Wai Yip, William, the executive
Director, was elected as the Chairman of 2024 AGM to ensure
effective communication with shareholders of the Company at the
meeting.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

Although the roles of Chairman and Managing Director, who
perform similar roles as Chief Executive Officer, are both
performed by the same individual, in view of the existing
structure and composition of the Board and operations of the
Group in Hong Kong and Mainland China, the Board believes
that this can facilitate effective implementation and execution of
its business strategies by, and ensure a consistent leadership for,
the Group. Further, a balance of power and authority between
the Board and management can be ensured by the operation of
the Board, whose members (including the four independent
non-executive Directors) are individuals of high calibre with ample
experiences, such that the interests of shareholders can be
safeguarded. The Company will continue to review the structure
and composition of the Board from time to time to ensure that a
balance of power and authority between the Board and
management are appropriately maintained for the Group.

The Chairman provides leadership for the Board, ensuring its
effectiveness in all aspects of its role including taking the primary
responsibility for ensuring that good corporate governance
practices and procedures are established and ensuring appropriate
steps are taken to provide effective communications with
shareholders and that their views are communicated to the Board
as a whole. In his capacity as Managing Director, he provides
planning and implementation with the support of management.

The Chairman ensures that all Directors are properly briefed on
issues arising at Board meetings and that all key and appropriate
issues are discussed by the Board in a timely manner. Board
meetings for each year are scheduled in advance to give all
Directors an opportunity to attend, and are structured to
encourage open discussion especially between independent
non-executive Directors and executive Directors. All Board
members are encouraged to update their knowledge of and
familiarity with the Group through active participation at Board
meetings.
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The Chairman settles the agenda for each individual Board
meeting, taking into account any additional items arising from
current operating issues, as well as such other matters as may be
raised by the other directors with him, who can include them on
the agenda. The agenda and accompanying Board papers are sent
in full to all Directors in a timely manner and, where possible, at
least three days before the time appointed for the meeting.

It is also the Chairman’s responsibility to control Board meetings,
to lead discussions to clear conclusions, and to satisfy himself that
the secretary of the meeting has understood each conclusion
reached. The Company Secretary and Financial Controller attend
the meetings and advise, where appropriate, on corporate
governance and accounting and financial matters.

Minutes of Board meetings and meetings of Board committees
are kept by a duly appointed secretary of the meeting and open
for inspection by any director. Draft and final versions of minutes
of board meetings are sent to all directors for their comments
and records respectively.

The Chairman holds meetings with the independent non-
executive Directors without the executive Directors at least once
per year.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established three committees, namely, the
Remuneration Committee, Nomination Committee and Audit
Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of the Group's
affairs. All Board committees of the Company are established
with defined written terms of reference. The terms of reference
of the Board committees have complied with the Code Provisions
and are available on the Stock Exchange website
www.hkexnews.hk and the Company’s website www.deson.com
and are available to shareholders upon request. The Board
committees are provided with sufficient resources to discharge
their duties and, upon reasonable request, are able to seek
independent professional advice in appropriate circumstances, at
the Company’s expenses. These Board committees will report back
to the Board on their decisions or recommendations.
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Remuneration Committee

During the year ended 31 March 2025, Mr. Tjia Boen Sien,
Mr. Wang Jing Ning, Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond, Mr. Siu Kam
Chau and Mr. Song Sio Chong, being two executive Directors and
three independent non-executive Directors, respectively, are the
members of the Remuneration Committee and Mr. Siu Kam Chau
is the Chairman of the committee. The primary objectives of the
Remuneration Committee include making recommendations on
and approving the remuneration policy and structure and
remuneration packages of the executive Directors and the
executives after consultation with the Chairman/Managing
Director and access to professional advice, at the Group's
expense, when necessary. The Remuneration Committee is also
responsible for establishing transparent procedures for developing
such remuneration policy and structure to ensure that no Director
or any of his/her associates will participate in deciding his/her
own remuneration, which remuneration will be determined by
reference to the performance of the individual and the Group as
well as market practice and conditions. The Remuneration
Committee normally meets towards the end of each year to
review the remuneration policy and structure and determination
of the annual remuneration packages of the executive Directors,
independent non-executive Directors and senior management and
other related matters. The Group’s remuneration policy is to
maintain fair and competitive remuneration packages based on
business needs and market practice. Factors such as market rate,
an individual's qualification, experience, performance and time
commitment are taken into account during the remuneration
package determination process. The Remuneration Committee
also reviews matters relating to share option schemes (if any) of
the Company on an annual basis. The Remuneration Committee
held one meeting during the year ended 31 March 2025 and
reviewed the remuneration policy and structure of the Company
and remuneration packages of the executive Directors,
independent non-executive Directors and senior management for
the year under review. Recommendations have been made to the
Board.
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Details of the attendance record of members of the
Remuneration Committee meetings are set out below:
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FHZBEKBEFEeRLEFENOT

Members’

Attendance

Name of Members REH R R E HE R
Mr. Siu Kam Chau (Chairman) BRI EE (FE) 11
Mr. Tjia Boen Sien R K& 1/1
Mr. Wang Jing Ning FRELEE 1/1
Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond ERE LT 11
Mr. Song Sio Chong RNFEFEAE 11

Nomination Committee

During the year ended 31 March 2025, Mr. Tjia Boen Sien,
Mr. Wang Jing Ning, Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond, Mr. Siu Kam
Chau and Mr. Song Sio Chong, being two executive Directors and
three independent non-executive Directors, respectively, are the
members of the Nomination Committee and Mr. Song Sio Chong
is the Chairman of the committee. The primary objectives of the
Nomination Committee include reviewing the Board composition
and identifying and nominating candidates for appointment to the
Board such that it has the relevant blend of skills, knowledge,
gender, age, cultural, educational background, professional
experience and diversity of perspectives. The Nomination
Committee also assesses the independence of independent non-
executive Directors and make recommendation to the Board on
the appointment and reappointment of Directors and succession
planning for Directors. Candidates for appointment as Directors
may be sourced internally or externally through various channels
such as using the services of specialist executive search firms. The
aim is to appoint individuals of the highest caliber in their area of
expertise and experience. The Nomination Committee held one
meeting during the year ended 31 March 2025 and reviewed the
structure, size and composition of the Board for the year under
review.
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Details of the attendance record of members of the Nomination
Committee meetings are set out below:

RAZBEREBHFERZCHABOT

Members’

Attendance

Name of Members REMHE RE HFEIRE

Mr. Song Sio Chong (Chairman) RNFESE (E/F) 11

Mr. Tjia Boen Sien HCBER K AE 11

Mr. Wang Jing Ning FRELE 11

Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond f4EZRIE L 11

Mr. Siu Kam Chau MR A 11
The following policies have been adopted by the Nomination ERZESEHEMA NEE  UHRBHEETT

Committee to assist in fulfilling its duties and responsibilities as
provided in its terms of reference. The policies may be amended
from time to time by the committee as provided therein.

Recommended candidates

The committee shall consider any and all candidates
recommended as nominees for Directors to it by any Director or
shareholder; provided that in the case of shareholder
recommendations, such recommendations comply with all
applicable notice requirements set forth in the Company’s Bye-
laws, the procedures for a shareholder's nomination to be
properly brought before a general meeting, and the Listing Rules.
The committee may also consider, in its sole discretion, any and
all candidates recommended as nominees for directors to it by
any source.
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Desired qualifications, qualities and skills

The committee shall endeavour to find individuals of high
integrity who have a solid record of accomplishment in their
chosen fields and who possess the qualifications, qualities and
skills to effectively represent the best interests of all shareholders.
Candidates will be selected for their ability to exercise good
judgement, to provide the commitment to enhancing shareholder
value, practical insights and diverse perspectives. Candidates will
also be assessed in the context of the then-current composition
of the Board, the operating requirements of the Company and
the long-term interests of all shareholders. In conducting this
assessment, the committee will, in connection with its assessment
and recommendation of director candidates, consider diversity
(including, but not limited to, gender, age, cultural and
educational background, ethnicity, professional experience and
skills) and such other factors as it deems appropriate given the
then-current and anticipated future needs of the Board and the
Company, and to maintain a balance of perspectives,
qualifications, qualities and skills on the board. The committee
may also consider such other factors as it may deem are in the
best interests of the Company and its shareholders. The above
diversity perspectives, taking into account the Company’s business
model and needs, are set out in a Board diversity policy which
has been established by the Company to see that diversity on the
Board can be achieved.

Board Diversity Policy

The Company notes that increasing diversity at the Board level as
an essential element in supporting the attainment of its strategic
objectives, sustainable and balanced development. The Company
adopted a diversity policy (“Diversity Policy”) which sets out the
approach to diversify the Board. The Nomination Committee
reviews and assesses Board composition on behalf of the Board
on an annual basis and will recommend the appointment of new
Director, when necessary, pursuant to the Diversity Policy.
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In designing the Board’'s composition, the Board diversity has
been considered from a number of aspects, including but not
limited to gender, age, cultural and education background,
ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of
service. The Nomination Committee will also consider factors
based on the Company’s business model, specific needs and
meritocracy from time to time in determining the optimum
composition of the Board. The Nomination Committee would
discuss and agree on measurable objectives for achieving diversity
on the Board, where necessary, and recommend them to the
Board for adoption.

Up to the date of this Annual Report, the Board comprises eight
Directors, including four executive Directors and four independent
non-executive Directors, thereby promoting critical review and
control of the management process. The Board is also
characterised by significant diversity, whether considered in terms
of professional experience, skill and knowledge. As at the date of
this Annual Report, our Board consists of seven male members
and one female member with one Director of age 41 to 50 years
old, two Directors of age 51 to 60 years old and five Directors of
over 60 years old. Having reviewed the Diversity Policy and the
Board’s composition, the Nomination Committee is satisfied that
the requirements set out in the Diversity Policy had been met and
the Board is sufficiently diverse.

The Board considers that the Company has achieved gender
diversity at the Board level and targets to maintain at least the
current level of female representation. The Company will ensure
that gender diversity is taken into account when recruiting staff
members of mid to senior level and ensure that sufficient
resources are available for providing appropriate trainings and
career development to develop a pipeline of potential successors
to the Board and maintain gender diversity.

The Nomination Committee will
annually to ensure its effectiveness.

review the Diversity Policy
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Independence

The committee shall ensure that at least one-third of the Board
members (or such other number of the members of the Board as
prescribed by the Listing Rules from time to time) meet the
definition of independent non-executive director. The committee
shall annually assess each nominee for independent non-executive
director by reviewing any potential conflicts of interest that he or
she and their immediate family members (as defined in the Listing
Rules) may have, based on the criteria for independence set forth
in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules.

A retiring independent non-executive director who has served the
Board for a period of nine consecutive years or more is eligible
for nomination by the Board to stand for re-election at a general
meeting provided that he or she is still considered independent
by the Board.

When any of the independent non-executive director has served
more than nine years on the Board, such independent
non-executive Director’s further appointment should be subject to
a separate resolution to be approved by shareholders, with papers
accompanying to that resolution including the factors considered,
the process and discussion of the Nomination Committee in
arriving at the determination that such independent
non-executive director is still independent and should be
re-elected.

Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond, Ir Siu Man Po, Mr. Siu Kam Chau,
all being independent non-executive Directors of the Company,
have served the Board for more than nine years. Notwithstanding
their long term service, given their extensive business experiences
and not being connected with any director or substantial
shareholder of the Company, the Board is of the opinion that
they continue to bring independent and objective perspectives to
the Company’s affairs.

The following information has been set out in the Company’s
circular to shareholders for the proposed resolution to elect an
individual as an independent non-executive Director at the AGM:

1. the process used for identifying the individual and why the
Board believes the individual should be elected and the
reasons why the Board considers the individual to be
independent;
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2. if the proposed independent non-executive Director will be
holding their seventh (or more) listed company directorship,
why the Board believes the individual would still be able to
devote sufficient time to the Board;

3. the perspectives, skills and experience that the individual can
bring to the Board; and

4. how the individual contributes to diversity of the Board.

Nominee evaluation process

The committee will consider as a candidate any director who has
indicated his or her willingness to stand for re-election and any
other person who is recommended by any shareholder. The
committee may also undertake its own search process for
candidates and may retain the services of professional firms or
other third parties to assist in identifying and evaluating potential
nominees. The committee may use any process it deems
appropriate for the purpose of evaluating candidates which is
consistent with those set forth in its terms of reference, the
Company’s Bye-laws, the corporate governance policy and the
policy described herein; provided that the process used for
evaluating a nominee for each election or appointment of director
shall be substantially similar and under no circumstances shall the
committee evaluate nominees recommended by a shareholder
pursuant to a process that is substantially different than that used
for other nominees for the same election or appointment of
director.

Nomination procedures

1. The secretary of the committee shall call a meeting of the
committee, and invite nominations of candidates from board
members, if any, for consideration by the committee prior
to its meeting. The committee may also put forward
candidates who are not nominated by board members.

2. For filling a casual vacancy, the committee shall make
recommendations for the Board’s consideration and
approval. For proposing candidates to stand for election at
a general meeting, the committee shall make nominations
to the Board for its consideration and recommendation.

3. Until the issue of the shareholder circular, the nominated

persons shall not assume that they have been proposed by
the Board to stand for election at the general meeting.
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4. In order to provide information of the candidates nominated
by the Board to stand for election at a general meeting, a
circular will be sent to shareholders. The circular will set out
the names, brief biographies (including qualifications and
relevant experience), and any other information, as required
pursuant to applicable laws, rules and regulations, of the
proposed candidates.

5. A shareholder can serve a notice to the Board of Directors
or the Company Secretary within the lodgement period of
its intention to propose a resolution to elect certain person
as a director in accordance with the relevant procedures
posted on the Company’'s website. The particulars of the
candidates so proposed will be provided to all shareholders
for information by way of announcement and/or
supplementary circular.

6. A candidate is allowed to withdraw his or her candidature
at any time before the general meeting by serving a notice
in writing to the Board of Directors or the Company
Secretary.

7. The Board shall have the final decision on all matters relating
to its recommendation of candidates to stand for election at
any general meeting.

8. Shareholder proposed resolutions shall take the same form
as the resolutions proposed for the candidates
recommended by the Board.

The Nomination Committee held its annual meeting in June 2024
and June 2025 to review the Board composition and
independence of independent non-executive Directors, and
considered the suitability of those retiring Directors standing for
re-election at the next annual general meeting as well as the
need for a Director succession plan. The committee also reviewed
the nomination policy and the Diversity Policy and discussed the
objectives set for implementing the latter, and noted that those
objectives had been achieved. The committee concluded that the
Board composition should continue unchanged.
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Audit Committee

During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Audit Committee
comprises Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond, Mr. Siu Kam Chau and
Mr. Song Sio Chong, all being independent non-executive
Directors (including one independent non-executive Director who
possesses the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting
or related financial management expertise) and Mr. Siu Kam Chau
is the Chairman of the committee. None of the members of the
Audit Committee is a former partner of the Company’s existing
external auditor.

The main duties of the Audit Committee include the following:

(@) to review the financial statements and reports and consider
any significant or unusual items raised by the qualified
accountant, compliance officer (if any) or external auditor
before submission to the Board,

(b) to review the relationship with the external auditor by
reference to the work performed by the auditor, their fees,
terms of engagement and independence, and make
recommendation to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of external auditor;

() to review the adequacy and effectiveness of the Group's
financial reporting system, and risk management system,
internal control system and associated procedures; and

(d) to review the adequacy of resources, qualifications and
experience of the Group’s accounting and financial
reporting staffs, their training programme, and budget.

The Audit Committee held two meetings during the year ended
31 March 2025 to review the financial results and reports,
financial reporting and compliance procedures, and discussed
matters concerning the effectiveness of internal control systems
and the re-appointment of the external auditor. Minutes of Audit
Committee meetings are kept by the Company Secretary of the
Company. Draft and final version of the minutes of meetings are
sent to all committee members for comments within a reasonable
time after the meeting. There are no material uncertainties
relating to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on
the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. Sufficient
resources are provided by the Company for the Audit Committee
to perform its duties.
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There is no disagreement between the Board and the Audit
Committee regarding the selection, appointment, resignation or
dismissal of the external auditor.

Details of the attendance record of members of the Audit
Committee meetings are set out below:
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Members’

Attendance

Name of Members REHE B R
Mr. Siu Kam Chau (Chairman) BRI () 212
Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond fA$E 1+ 2/2
Mr. Song Sio Chong RN E 2/2

COMPANY SECRETARY

Please refer to section headed “Biographical Details of
Directors and Senior Management” on page 57 of this Annual
Report for biographical details of the Company Secretary.

REMUNERATION OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Details of the Directors’ and chief executive’'s remuneration, five
highest paid employees and senior management are set out in
notes 8 and 9 to the consolidated financial statements,
respectively.

Pursuant to Code Provision E.1.5 of the CG Code, the
remuneration of directors and senior management by band for
the Reporting Period, is set out as below:

REWE
BERARAMENBEERE FL2HALFRE
STEEEREREBAEZEBE| -

EENGREEEME
EERTETRABME LIRS HESR

EEaMEEEBNFHBORENEEMBRE
MEE8 KO o

RIBAFERTRSTAMEXETS RS H
BEELSREEENEOWT :

Number of

individuals

Annual Remuneration FEME A

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z2%1,000,000/8 7T 6

HK$1,000,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,000,0017% 7T £ 2,000,000/ 7T 2
HK$2,000,001 to HK$3,000,000 2,000,001 7T £ 3,000,000/ T

HK$3,000,001 to HK$4,000,000 3,000,001 7% 7T £ 4,000,000 T —

HK$4,000,001 to HK$5,000,000 4,000,0017% 7T £ 5,000,000/ 7T 2

11
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DIVERSITY AT WORKFORCE LEVEL

In terms of employment, the Group insists on the principle of
fairness and equal treatment regardless of nationality, race,
gender, religious belief and cultural background, and does not
impose any restrictive requirements on gender, ethnicity,
nationality and region.

The gender ratio in the workforce of the Group, including senior
management, as of 31 March 2025 is set out below:

ETEEMNZ T

EEATE AKETOARE M B
Bk MR RBEPERXEER  BREA
FEFEHFORE - BN Rik - &
& N st [ e AN AE fRT PR 1 S o

A
Ee

AF=A=+—RH AEEEI (B
EEE) MR AINT

As of 31 March 2025
R=ZZB-ZHEE=ZA=+—H
Percentage of
Number of total number of

persons employee

HESHAH

Indicator EE A Elalsd
Male employee FHEE 57 36
Female employee Z g8 102 64
159 100

The Group encourages gender diversity across its workplace and
is committed to maintain the proportion of onshore female
employees to around 50%. To achieve diversity at workforce
level, the Group has put in place appropriate recruitment and
selection practices such that a diverse range of candidates are
considered. The Group has also established talent management
and training programs to provide career development guidance
and promotion opportunities to develop a broad and diverse pool
of skilled and experienced employees.

During the year under review, the Board was not aware of any
mitigating factors or circumstances which would make achieving
gender diversity across the workforce (including senior
management) more challenging or less relevant.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORT (“ESG REPORT")

The Company will publish separately an ESG Report in respect of
the financial year ended 31 March 2025 on the websites of the
Stock Exchange (www.hkexnews.hk) and the Company
(www.deson.com) at the same time as this Annual Report is
published.

DIVIDEND POLICY

The Board has adopted its dividend policy on 1 January 2019.
The Company’s dividend policy allows the shareholders of the
Company (the “Shareholders”) to share the profits of the
Company whilst retaining adequate reserves for the Group's
future growth. According to the Company’s dividend policy, in
addition to the final dividends, the Company may declare interim
dividends or special dividends from time to time.

According to the Company’s dividend policy, the Board shall
consider the following factors before proposing and declaring
dividends:

(i) the Group's general financial condition;

(i) the Group's working capital and debt level;

(iii)  the Group’s liquidity position;

(iv)  retained profits and distributable reserves of the Company
and each of the members of the Group;

(v)  future cash
operations,
needs;

requirements and availability for business
business strategies and future development

(vi) any restrictions on payment of dividends that may be
imposed by the Group’s lenders;

(vii)  the general market conditions;

(viii) the general economic conditions and other internal or
external factors that may have an impact on the business or

financial performance and position of the Group; and

(ix)  any other factors that the Board deems relevant.
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The declaration and payment of dividends by the Company is also
subject to any restrictions under the Laws of the Bermuda, the
Memorandum of Association and Bye-Laws of the Company and
any applicable laws, rules and regulations.

The Company’s dividend policy will be reviewed from time to time
by the Board and there can be no assurance that dividends will
be paid in any particular amount for any given period.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group had engaged the
Group's external auditor, Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited, to
provide the following services and their respective fees charged
are set out below:

Fee charged for the year ended 31 March 2025:

ARREIRMIENRETEETAREER
AR B AR AR A2 KM B A0 B DA R AR (o038 DA
& RASOER P& Z AR o

EZgRTREBAREBRR U TMREAEME
MEEHRRBEEMRESE RS -

BEEEME
RBE-—Z-_RE=A=+-BILEE &
EEEAERESRHMESHERARS
7 85 [ SN B BT - B 4R 4 PR S AR B 22
mF -

BE_Z-_AF=A=+—HIEFEHKRZ
M

Type of services: HK$°000
BR 7% %8 5 - FET
Annual audit for the Group rEEFEEZ 1,150
Reporting accountant for the Group’s major AEEFERXH 2B

transaction 2EHAM 85
Total #aza 1,235
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INSIDE INFORMATION

The Board is responsible for ensuring the Group’s compliance
with its disclosure obligations regarding inside information, and
has appointed a disclosure group with specific designated duties
to assist it in, among other things, overseeing and coordinating
the disclosure of inside information. The procedures and internal
controls for the handling and dissemination of inside information
are given in the policy (the “PSI Policy”) adopted by the
Company to ensure that it is able to meet relevant obligations
under Part XIVA of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(Cap.571) (the "SFO"). The PSI Policy applies to the Directors,
officers and employees of the Group. Under the PSI Policy, the
Company must disclose inside information to the public by way of
an announcement as soon as reasonably practicable unless the
information falls within any of the safe harbours described under
the SFO. Any Director, officer or employee who becomes aware
of a matter, development or event that he or she considers to be,
or potentially to be, inside information shall report it promptly to
the disclosure group. Before the relevant information is fully
disclosed to the public, the disclosure group should take
reasonable precautions to ensure that the information is kept
strictly confidential. Where it is believed that the necessary degree
of confidentiality cannot be maintained or that confidentiality may
have been breached, the information should be disclosed
immediately to the public. If the disclosure group needs time to
clarify the details of, and the impact arising from, an event or a
set of circumstances before it is in a position to issue a full
announcement to properly inform the public, the disclosure group
should consider issuing a “holding announcement” which details
as much ascertainable information of the subject matter as
possible and sets out the reasons why a fuller announcement
cannot be made. Following a holding announcement, the
disclosure group should ensure that a full announcement is made
as soon as reasonably practicable. In the event that confidentiality
has not been maintained and it is not able to make a full
announcement or a holding announcement, the disclosure group
should consider applying for a suspension of trading in the
Company’s securities, subject to approval of the Board, until
disclosure can be made. All inside information related
announcements must be properly approved by the Board before
publication, and all unpublished inside information must be kept
in strict confidence until a formal announcement is made. The
disclosure group must further ensure that access to unpublished
inside information is given only to employees on a “need-to-
know" basis for discharging their duties. Apart from reporting to
the disclosure group, every Director, officer or employee who
possesses or has been given access to unpublished inside
information must not disclose, discuss or share such information
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to or with any other parties within or outside the Group. The PSI
Policy also sets out the criteria for advance disclosure of inside
information to certain categories of people as may be necessary
in the circumstances. In this case, the disclosure group should
monitor the situation so that disclosure may be made as soon as
reasonably practicable if there is any leakage of information.
Directors, officers and employees must refrain from dealing in the
shares of the Company at any time when they are in possession
of unpublished inside information. Securities dealings are
governed by the securities codes applicable to directors and
relevant employees (within the meaning of the CG Code), as
described in the section below.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) as set
out in Appendix C3 to the Listing Rules. Specific enquiry has been
made of all the Directors and the Directors have confirmed that
they have complied with the Model Code throughout the year
ended 31 March 2025. The Company has adopted the same
Model Code for securities transactions by employees who are
likely to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive
information of the Company. No incident of non-compliance of
the Model Code by the relevant employees was noted by the
Company.

The Company has also established written guidelines (the
"Employees Written Guidelines”) no less exacting than the
Model Code for securities transactions by employees who are
likely to be in possession of unpublished price-sensitive
information of the Company. No incident of non-compliance of
the Employees Written Guidelines by the employees was noted by
the Company.

Whistleblowing Policy

The Company is committed to achieving and maintaining a high
standard of probity, openness, and accountability. A
Whistleblowing Policy is in place to establish policy and system for
the employees and other stakeholders of the Company to raise
concerns, in confidence, about possible improprieties and promote
and support anti-corruption laws and regulations. The
whistleblowing policies has already disclosed in ESG Reports.
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The identity of each whistleblower and all information provided in
connection with a whistleblowing report will be treated with the
strictest confidence. The Audit Committee reviews the
Whistleblowing Policy annually to ensure its effectiveness and will
recommend appropriate revisions to the Board for consideration
and approval.

ANTI-FRAUD AND ANTI-CORRUPTION POLICY

In compliance with the code provision D.2.7 of the CG Code, the
Board adopted an anti-fraud and anti-corruption policy. It outlines
guidelines and the minimum standards of conducts, all applicable
laws and regulations in relation to the anti-corruption and
anti-bribery, the responsibilities of employees to resist fraud, to
help the Group to defend against corrupt practices and to report
any reasonably suspected case of fraud and corruption or any
attempts thereof, to the management or through an appropriate
reporting channel. The Group would not tolerate all forms of
fraud and corruption among all employees and those acting in an
agency or fiduciary capacity on behalf of the Group, and in its
business dealing with third parties. The Board and the Audit
Committee will review the anti-fraud and anti-corruption policy
and mechanism periodically to ensure its effectiveness and
enforce the commitment of the Group to the prevention,
deterrence, detection and investigation of all forms of fraud and
corruption.

Continuous Disclosure Policy

A Continuous Disclosure Policy is in place to ensure potential
inside information as defined in the SFO is identified and
confidentiality of such information is maintained until timely and
appropriate disclosure is made in accordance with the Listing
Rules. The policy regulates the handling and dissemination of
inside information, which includes:

o Roles and responsibilities of the divisions/departments of the
Company in identifying and escalating any potential inside
information within the Company; and

o Procedures for determining the necessity, means and/or
extent of disclosure of such information.
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RESPONSIBILITIES IN RESPECT OF THE FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The Board is responsible for overseeing the preparation of
financial statements on a going concern basis, with supporting
assumptions or qualifications as necessary, for each financial
period with a view to ensuring that such financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the
Group and its consolidated financial performance and
consolidated cash flows for the financial year. Management of the
Company has provided such explanation and information to the
Board to enable the Board to make an informed assessment of
the financial and other information put before the Board for
approval including monthly updates. The Group’s consolidated
financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Listing
Rules, the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, all relevant statutory requirements and applicable
accounting standards. The Group has selected appropriate
accounting policies and has applied them consistently based on
prudent and reasonable judgements and estimates.

The Directors endeavour to ensure a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of the Company’s position and
prospect in the annual reports, interim reports, price-sensitive
announcements and other disclosures required under the Listing
Rules and other regulatory requirements. The Directors
acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the consolidated
financial statements of the Group for the year ended 31 March
2025. The statement of the external auditor of the Group about
their reporting responsibilities on the financial statements is set
out in the “Independent auditor’s report” on pages 93 to 101.
Management of the Group is obligated to provide sufficient
explanation and information to the Board so that it can make
informed assessment of relevant matters.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL MONITORING
Risk Management and Internal Control

During the year, the Group has complied with Principle D.2 of
the CG Code by establishing appropriate and effective risk
management and internal control systems. Management is
responsible for the design, implementation and monitoring of
such systems, while the Board oversees management in
performing its duties on an ongoing basis. Main features of the
risk management and internal control systems are described in the
sections below:

Risk Management System
The Group adopts a risk management system which manages the
risk associated with its business and operations. The system
comprises the following phases:

Identification: Identify ownership of risks, business objectives and
risks that could affect the achievement of objectives.

Evaluation: Analyse the likelihood and
evaluate the risk portfolio accordingly.

impact of risks and

Management: Consider the risk responses, ensure effective
communication to the Board and on-going monitor the residual
risks.

Based on the risk assessments conducted in year ended
31 March 2025, no significant risk was identified.

Internal Control System

The Company has in place an internal control system which is
compatible with the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations of
the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) 2013 framework. The
framework enables the Group to achieve objectives regarding
effectiveness and efficiency of operations, reliability of financial
reporting and compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
The components of the framework are shown as follows:

Control Environment: A set of standards, processes and structures
that provide the basis for carrying out internal control across the
Group;

Risk Assessment: A dynamic and iterative process for identifying
and analysing risks to achieve the Group’s objectives, forming a
basis for determining how risks should be managed;
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Control Activities: Action established by policies and procedures to
help ensure that management directives to mitigate risks to the
achievement of objectives are carried out;

Information and Communication: Internal and external
communication to provide the Group with the information
needed to carry out day-to-day controls; and

Monitoring: Ongoing and separate evaluations to ascertain
whether each component of internal control is present and
functioning.

In order to enhance the Group’s system of handling inside
information, and to ensure the truthfulness, accuracy,
completeness and timeliness of its public disclosures, the Group
also adopts and implements the inside information policy and
procedures. Certain reasonable measures have been taken from
time to time to ensure that proper safeguards exist to prevent a
breach of a disclosure requirement in relation to the Group,
which include:

. The access of information is restricted to a limited number
of employees on a need-to-know basis. Employees who are
in possession of inside information are fully conversant with
their obligations to preserve confidentiality.

o Confidentiality agreements are in place when the Group
enters into significant negotiations.

o The executive Directors are designated persons who speak
on behalf of the Company when communicating with
external parties such as the media, analysts or investors.

Based on the internal control reviews conducted in year ended
31 March 2025, no significant control deficiency was identified.

Internal Auditors

The Group has an Internal Audit (“IA”) function, which is
consisted of professional staff with relevant expertise (such as
Certified Public Accountant). The IA function is independent of
the Group’s daily operation and carries out appraisal of the risk
management and internal control systems by conducting
interviews, walkthroughs and tests of operating effectiveness.

An IA plan has been approved by the Board. According to the
established plan, review of the risk management and internal
control systems is conducted semi-annually and the results are
reported to the Board via Audit Committee afterwards.
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Effectiveness of the Risk Management and Internal
Control Systems

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems of the Group and ensuring review of the
effectiveness of these systems has been conducted annually.
Several areas have been considered during the Board’s reviews,
which include but not limited to (i) the changes in the nature and
extent of significant risks since the last annual review, and the
Group’s ability to respond to changes in its business and the
external environment; and (ii) the scope and quality of
management’s ongoing monitoring of risks and of the internal
control systems.

The Board, through its review and the reviews made by IA
function and Audit Committee, concluded that the risk
management and internal control systems were effective and
adequate. Such systems, however, are designed to manage rather
than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business objectives,
and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance
against material misstatement or loss. It is also considered that
the resources, staff qualifications, experience of relevant staff and
ESG performance and reporting function were adequate and the
training programme and budget provided were sufficient.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

The Company is committed to maintaining an open and effective
investor relations policy and to updating investors on relevant
information/developments in a timely manner, subject to relevant
regulatory requirements. Briefings and meetings with institutional
investors and analysts are conducted from time to time. The
Company also replied to any enquiries from shareholders in a
timely manner. The Directors host the annual general meeting
each year to meet the shareholders and answer their enquiries.
The corporate website of the Company at www.deson.com
provides a communication platform via which the public and
investor community can access up-to-date information regarding
the Group.
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The Company’s 2024 AGM was held on 27 August 2024. The
notice of the 2024 AGM, the annual report and the circular
containing relevant information of the proposed resolutions were
sent to shareholders more than 21 days before the 2024 AGM.
All Board members together with the key executives and the
external auditor attended the 2024 AGM. The executive Director
explained the poll voting procedures at the 2024 AGM. Separate
resolutions for each substantially separate issue, including the
re-election of individual Directors, were proposed at the 2024
AGM. All the resolutions at the 2024 AGM were dealt with by
poll. The poll results of the 2024 AGM are available on the
Company’s website and the Stock Exchange’s website.

Shareholders may also send any enquiries, suggestions or
concerns to the Board at any time through the Company
Secretary, whose contact details are as follows:

Address The Company Secretary

Deson Development International
Holdings Limited

11th Floor, Nanyang Plaza

57 Hung To Road,

Kwun Tong

Kowloon, Hong Kong
deson@deson.com

(852) 2570 1118

(852) 3184 3402

Email
Telephone no.
Fax no.

The Company Secretary will forward such communications to the

Board, the relevant Board committees and/or the Chief Executive
Officer, as appropriate.
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SHAREHOLDER RIGHTS

To ensure compliance with the CG Code, the notice of the
annual general meeting, the annual report and the circular
containing information on the proposed resolutions will be sent to
shareholders at least 21 days before the annual general meeting.
Voting at the forthcoming annual general meeting will be by way
of a poll. An explanation of the detailed procedures of
conducting a poll will be provided to shareholders at the
commencement of the annual general meeting to ensure that
shareholders are familiar with such procedures.

Poll results will be counted by Hong Kong Branch Share Registrar,
Tricor Tengis Limited and will be posted on the websites of the
Company and of the Stock Exchange on the day the annual
general meeting held. The general meetings of the Company
provide an opportunity for communication between the
shareholders and the Board. The Chairman of the Board as well
as chairmen of the Remuneration Committee, Nomination
Committee and Audit Committee, or in their absence, other
members of the respective committees, and where applicable, the
independent Board committee, are available to answer questions
at the annual general meetings. The Company will also arrange
for the external auditor to attend the annual general meetings to
answer relevant questions if necessary.

Separate resolutions are proposed at annual general meetings on
each substantial issue, including the election of individual
directors.

In addition to regular Board meetings, the Board, on the
requisition of shareholders of the Company holding 10% of the
paid-up capital of the Company, may convene a special general
meeting to address specific issues of the Company within 21 days
from the date of deposit of written notice to the Company
Secretary, at the Company’s head office at 11th Floor, Nanyang
Plaza, 57 Hung To Road, Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong. The
requisition must state the purposes of the meeting, and must be
signed by the requisitionist(s). Shareholders may also use this
same method to put forward proposals for the next general
meeting.
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Constitutional Documents
There was no change in the Company’s constitutional documents
during the year ended 31 March 2025.

The latest Bye-laws of the Company is available on both the
websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

SHAREHOLDERS COMMUNICATION POLICY

The Company has established a Shareholders Communication
Policy to set out the Company’s procedures in providing the
shareholders and the investment community with ready, equal
and timely access to balanced and understandable information
about the Company, in order to enable the shareholders to
exercise their rights in an informed manner and to allow the
shareholders and the investment community to engage actively
with the Company.

The Board will review the Shareholders Communication Policy
annually to ensure its effectiveness.

CONCLUSION

In the opinion of the Board, good governance was maintained
throughout the accounting period covered by the annual report.
The Company shall keep its governance practices under review to
ensure that they are in step with the latest developments.
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Independent Auditor’s Report

@ pakertilly
R B ] PR

Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Deson Development International Holdings Limited
BERREBREESRAR

(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Deson
Development International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and
its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) set out on pages 102 to
250, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial
position as at 31 March 2025, and the consolidated statement of
profit or loss, the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information.

income,

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true
and fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group
as at 31 March 2025, and of its consolidated financial
performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year then
ended in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) as issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the
“Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated
financial statements” section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

B 3 % AT R &

BYBRBMRE
FEEZREREESRATZERR

(RBREZMALZEREERT)

=R

R B IR B 1022250 A E BE
EREEARAF(RAT]) REKBAT
((REE ) MEAHBERE - A HHE
ROBER-T-RFZ A=+ —ANRAN
BRREAREZA L FENEARRE
HAENRANREKRE GAERE

RABABSRER - U REA N BREN
i RETERHREER -

BARA ZEGEAUBBRRORETES
A g ((EBETMAE ) BHN(EEM
BHREENSAEREEM G 5 i R KR
T BEER-_ZE-_RF=A=+—HHRK
BMBRARBEZB LFENGEMBER
ARFaHERE U EREFB(RAK
IR BT AR E Z R EE o

ERNER

BPEREEESEHMASEM(EEET
FRN([EBEER D) EITER - LFIEZX
FEATARENETCDEARRE [ZBEIRE
FHRA M BMRAAENET] S PIEE—
TR - RIBBFBGTMASEMN(EES
rEnEEsTAD(TFA > RABLR E%

BPIEE BRPIAESHNRITIRES
EEMRBRPMETZRRHER -

HEEREBEEARAR —ZT-_AFFR

93



94

Independent Auditor’s Report
B % B E

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period. These
matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our
opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on
these matters.

The Key Audit Matter
B ETEE

FHRETSEE

MR ETFEISRBERFNEXZAE A
BAHG AR BREANEARABEENTH
EUFEREHE M BRREBETE
YHEKREBRNOER TETREN  HATY
ELFEREHEBNER

How the matter was addressed in our audit

ZEBREFT T ENAESH

Valuation of investment properties

REMEMGE

Refer to notes 3 and 15 to the consolidated financial statements
R E I BEHEZNF3R15

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’s investment
properties measured at fair value amounted to
HK$641,576,000 with an aggregate loss arising from
the changes in fair value recognised in the e
consolidated statement of profit or loss of
HK$14,094,000 for the year then ended. The fair
values of investment properties were determined by the
Group based on the valuations performed by an
independent professional qualified valuer engaged by e
the Group.

RZEZRF=ZA=1+—H  EBEEBEFENEREY
X AT ETE/641,576,0008 7T HEEBIEFE
REEEBERXNBRALATEEYMEENEEER
14,094,00087C - EEEETREMELIFEDLER
ERBEZERBEUEXSERMEMATETNMGE -

The Group’s investment properties portfolio mainly
included hotel properties and commercial properties in
the Mainland China.
EEENREVELASTERRTENBBEEMER
HESZES
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Assessing the competence,
objectivity of the valuer engaged by the Group;
iHh BEEEZREAGEER S B TR
Bt

Our audit procedures in this area included:

BRI RN B2 T B

capabilities and

CEENRE

Obtaining the valuation report of each property
and assessing the appropriateness of the valuation
methods applied; and
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter
BRETEE

Independent Auditor’s Report
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How the matter was addressed in our audit

ZEHEAFSFROMEHH

Valuation of investment properties (Continued)

BEMRMEE (F)

Refer to notes 3 and 15 to the consolidated financial statements (Continued)

BRIk e A3 15 (&)

The valuation of investment properties was derived
from the investment method. The relevant key
assumptions include estimated monthly rental value,
term vyield and reversionary yield.
&é%%%%ﬁﬂﬁ%&ﬁ%%/
BEAESERE  FHREER

- AR BRRERE

&ml&ﬁn%‘ °

All the relevant key assumptions were influenced by
the prevailing market conditions and each property’s
characteristics.
FrAERANRAREBREXER
BFrRE -

BRI RSB EN R

We focus on this area due to the significant quantum
of investment properties to the consolidated financial
statements and the involvement of significant
judgements and estimate on relevant key assumptions
applied in valuation.

B IRERE T BERGEEHBRRTPERERED
¥ BfEPEBOMEREERRRY RERAE &G
it e

Assessing the reasonableness of relevant key
assumptions used in valuation including estimated
monthly rental value, term yield and reversionary
yield by gathering and analysing the data of
comparable properties in the market and the
characteristics of individual investment property.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued)

The Key Audit Matter
CE LR ]

ERETEE(E)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

ZEEAESTROMEH

Net realisable value assessment on completed properties held for sale

FECRIMENERFEfL

Refer to notes 3 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements

2t E B ENEIR18

As at 31 March 2025, the Group’'s completed
properties held for sale amounted to HK$459,313,000.
RZZEZRF=A=+—H ' E£EMNFECERIY
¥ 5459,313,000/ T °

Properties held for sale are stated at the lower of cost
and net realisable value. The determination of the net
realisable value of these properties requires
estimations, including expected future selling prices,
which is assessed by management with reference to
the valuations carried out by an independent
professional qualified valuer engaged by the Group for
those properties.
TEMRZKRNEA R FEFOREEZS] - ¥
ZEMENAIERFERTZETHE - BREBEERRE
B HDHERE2EH ESERLSVEZRENS
U HEFEEERMMERMETEOGEELME -
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Our audit procedures in this area included:

BRI RN E 2T B

o Assessing the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the valuer engaged by the Group;
FE ESEEZEMNGEMNBETEND  EORE
#i

o Obtaining the valuation reports prepared by the
valuer on which the management’s assessment of
the net realisable value of the properties held for
sale was based;
BREEEETESEMENAERFEMKES
HEMBHRNEERS

o Discussing with and obtaining an understanding
from management of how they would apply the
valuation in their net realisable value assessment
and the rationale; and
HEIR Rl TR S N A # IR FE AR
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (Continued) EEEtEE (&)
The Key Audit Matter How the matter was addressed in our audit
BREEE ZEBEAE PR UAEL

Net realisable value assessment on completed properties held for sale (Continued)

HECRIYRTE R FEFE (FH)

Refer to notes 3 and 18 to the consolidated financial statements (Continued)

2Rk e EREHT 3L 18 (&)

Changes in government policies, which affect interest o Examining the data used as inputs for the
rates, the required reserve ratio for banks and/or valuation, which included making reference to the
mortgage requirements for second-home buyers, could market unit selling price of comparable properties
lead to volatility in property prices, particularly for nearby used in the valuation and performing
properties in the Mainland China. market value benchmarking against comparable
HERE RITEREBEER A ZREXERBE properties.

REBNBER IR EBERKE - THEHE ZEREGHERBANEE  BEL2EMETER
axp:ig=okz/E MO AT E LB ENTISHEEER WEATE

R ENTISBEETEEDN -

We identified the assessment of the net realisable
value of the properties held for sale as a key audit
matter because of the significance of these properties
to the Group's total assets and because the assessment
of net realisable value is inherently subjective and
requires significant management judgement and
estimation in relation to estimating future selling prices
which increases the risk of error or potential
management bias.
BPSGENEAIZRFENTEETRABRETS
B EAR%ZEMERY EXENEELEEEREARN-M
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OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, other than the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information
and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements
or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to
be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are
required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view
in accordance with HKFRS Accounting Standards as issued by the
HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the
directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of
consolidated financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of
the Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters
related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless the directors of the Company either intend to
liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have no realistic
alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by those charged with

governance in discharging their responsibility for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is
made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with Section 90 of
the Bermuda Companies Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We
do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any
other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken
on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

— Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud
is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may
involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

—  Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

—  Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and
the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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Independent Auditor’s Report
B % B E

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists,
we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to
the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify
our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit
evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group
to cease to continue as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of
the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial
information of the entities or business units within the
Group as a basis for forming an opinion on the Group’s
consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for
the direction, supervision and review of the audit work
performed for purposes of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement

that we have complied with

relevant ethical requirements

regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought
to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions
taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2025 Annual Report
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We
describe these matters in our auditor's report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.
The engagement director on the audit resulting in this
independent auditor’s report is Tong Wai Hang.

Baker Tilly Hong Kong Limited
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 26 June 2025
Tong Wai Hang
Practising certificate number P06231
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss
For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE-_Z-_AE=A=1t—HItFEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(AETTHIR)

2025 2024
—E-RE —ET_mF
Notes HK$’000 HK$000
B 5 FHET FHET
Revenue ' @N 5 135,468 128,074
Cost of sales 5 A AR (77,951) (85,172)
Gross profit EF 57,517 42,902
Other income and gains H At A R W R 5 24,200 92,864
Fair value loss on investment KEME 2 NFEE
properties, net B 18 - FE (14,094) (32,364)
Fair value loss on equity investments at & A (B ABzE0E 2 %
fair value through profit or loss, net EIREZ AT EER
HER (13,684) (104,893)
Administrative expenses TR X (83,578) (77,298)
Other operating expenses, net HggMx 558 (27,886) (29,140)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWB AT ZIE 33 18 31,015
Gain on disposal of investment HEEEME 2 KE
properties 33 — 41,641
Finance costs 7% 8 A 7 (18,312) (26,408)
Share of profits and losses of DA & QAR &
associates, net E1E o FEE (195) 40
LOSS BEFORE TAX MRELAIE A 6 (76,014) (61,641)
Income tax credit/(expense) FrEfiEe,/ (%) 10 125 (15,133)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR rEEBE (75,889) (76,774)
Attributable to: AT AL -
— Owners of the Company — KATHER A (73,724) (75,691)
— Non-controlling interests — JEIERRRE R (2,165) (1,083)
(75,889) (76,774)
HK cents HK cents
Al Al
LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO XA RIEERAEIEHE AL
ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF EERERE
THE COMPANY 12
Basic and diluted RS (5.03) (5.16)

The notes on pages 111 to 250 form part of the consolidated 28111E 2508 2 Mis KRG M BwRE 2 —
financial statements. 15 o
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income

GEeEaREMEZERESR

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE_ZT-_AF=RA=+—HILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(ABETTHITR)

2025 2024
—E-EHEF —ENF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B & FHET FHET
LOSS FOR THE YEAR REERE (75,889) (76,774)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS Hit2EEE
Other comprehensive loss that may be F A% BAfEAIgE B #5458
reclassified to profit or loss in EERCHEMEEE
subsequent periods: =l
Exchange differences: ME W R
— Exchange differences on — MEBINEBE
translation of foreign operations EVIERERE (9,749) (43,002)
— Share of other comprehensive — PDREE R A HA
loss of associates ZHEEE (36) (19)
— Reclassification of cumulative — FAHEBINER
exchange fluctuation reserve of Z BFHE R BF
foreign operations disposed of BEFDRE
during the year 33 — (594)
Net other comprehensive loss that may LA HARIAS AT REE#T 75
be reclassified to profit or loss in HEBRZHMWEEE
subsequent periods 187558 (9,785) (43,615)
Other comprehensive (loss)/income that R LA EABETEEH 5
will not be reclassified to profit or HEEmcsHEMmamE
loss in subsequent periods: (B8),/ W= -
Leasehold land and buildings: AELREF
— Deficit on revaluation — EHEA 14 (16,940) (6,563)
— Income tax effect — B HTE 29 2,854 1,237
Net other comprehensive loss that will R UAZ AR~ &€ EH 5D
not be reclassified to profit or loss in  fEEEm 2 EMt2MH
subsequent periods B 18558 (14,086) (5,326)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE LOSS AEEHMR2EEE B
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX & (23,871) (48,941)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE LOSS rEEZHEBRAR
FOR THE YEAR (99,760) (125,715)
Attributable to: AT HEAL -
— Owners of the Company . WNETE Z =N (97,597) (124,651)
— Non-controlling interests — FEHERER (2,163) (1,064)
(99,760) (125,715)

The notes on pages 111 to 250 form part of the consolidated

financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

B B AR R &

As at 31 March 2025
WZE_RF=A=1+—8H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(AETTHIR)

2025 2024
—E-HF —EHF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FHET FHET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Goodwill EE 13 — —
Property, plant and equipment W - BB REE 14 306,150 253,846
Investment properties BEYHE 15 641,576 661,908
Investments in associates REE RN a2 1%E 16 5,447 5,638
Equity investments at fair value BRATEFAEREZ
through profit or loss IRt E 17 28,130 39,815
Other receivables H fth & W R E 21 55,457 163,931
Total non-current assets IRBEELE 1,036,760 1,125,138
CURRENT ASSETS RBEE
Due from associates JFE L B = N B FRIE 16 4,867 3,868
Properties held for sale FTEWE 18 459,313 580,992
Inventories rE 19 5,171 3,030
Accounts receivable JE W BR T8 20 17,158 32,658
Prepayments, deposits and other AR - He REM
receivables FE W kIR 21 152,294 164,055
Tax recoverable A] Uy [B] 7 1B 26,451 22,705
Pledged deposits B HEFF 22 4,000 4,000
Cash and cash equivalents BeMIReEEER 22 36,074 42,338
Total current assets REBEELE 705,328 853,646
CURRENT LIABILITIES RBEE
Accounts payable FETER 3K 23 32,056 22,699
Other payables and accruals EI{”@JEH*’”IE&JT%Ef%Fﬁ 24 79,879 91,239
Due to associates JETEE & N R FRIB 16 — 63
Due to related parties f’%ﬁ%@%ﬁfﬁ)\in 1B 25 645 3,914
Tax payable FER R IR 42,993 50,967
Bonds payable B E S 28 — 33,000
Interest-bearing bank and other FERITREMEER
borrowings 26 150,988 235,103
Loan from a related party —HBEANTER 25 — 37,800
Lease liabilities HEARE 27 2,205 343
Total current liabilities RBAEEHE 308,766 475,128
Net current assets REBEEFE 396,562 378,518
Total assets less current liabilities ZBEZABRAHAR 1,433,322 1,503,656

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2025 Annual Report



Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
GEMBRREK

As at 31 March 2025
WZE_RF=A=1+—8H
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(ABETTHITR)

2025 2024
—E-_RE T4
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
g THExT FHEIT
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBEE
Interest-bearing bank and other FERITREMEE
borrowings 26 42,635 60,500
Bonds payable FERHE S 28 15,000 —
Deferred tax liabilities REFIEAE 29 95,418 101,235
Lease liabilities HEAE 27 38,359 331
Total non-current liabilities ERBEBHAE 191,412 162,066
NET ASSETS EEFE 1,241,910 1,341,590
EQUITY Ex
Equity attributable to owners of  AQAEE AELER
the Company
Issued capital BETRA 30 146,682 146,682
Reserves i 32 1,108,801 1,206,393
1,255,483 1,353,075
Non-controlling interests FEIERRRE S (13,573) (11,485)
Total equity XA 1,241,910 1,341,590

Approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on EHREFEeN _ZE_RAFE A+ B#E

26 June 2025. NIRRT -
Tjia Boen Sien Wang Jing Ning

i S E& FRE

Director Director

o o=

The notes on pages 111 to 250 form part of the consolidated 111 Z=2508 ~ M iS4 & MEHRE Y —
financial statements. R4 o
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

2 A 32 4=
mMEERB X
For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-_Z-_RAF=A=+—ALEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(LA TTHIR)
Attributable to owners of the Company
ARAHEARE
Share Property Capital ~ Exchange Non-
Issued premium  Contributed Other  revaluation Capital ~ redemption ~ fluctuation Retained controling Total
capital account surplus resenve reserve reserve resenve reserve profits Total interests equity
BR E£H®
BERE  RAEER  REBH  EBER DEXEMRE  AARE  WERS BE  REEH & FERER  EEEE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$000 HK$'000
i FEn FER i FEn FER i FEn FEn i FEn FER
At 1 April 2023 W-E-ZFMmA-A 146,682 240,853 15,262 23,061 1226712 (9,240) 14457 (35,254) 959,233 1477,126 (10475) 1,467,251
Loss for the year TFEER - - - - - - - - (75691 (75,691) (1083  (76774)
Other comprehensive (loss)income for the year — REFEM 2 (§l8) /i
Deficit on revaluation of leasehold land and ERREETHRBT B4
buidings, net of tax ik vt - - - - (5,326) - - - - (5,326) - (5,326)
Share of other comprehensive loss of associates  AEBEATEMZEEE - - - - - - - (19) - (19 - (19
Exchange differences on translation of foreign ~ REBNERHEL ZENEE
operations - - - - - - - (43,021) - (43,021) 19 (43,002)
Redlassfcation of cumulative exchange fluctuation  EHHBERD HEENEH 2
resenve of a foreign operation disposed of ZHEXRBAR (i330)
during the year (note 33(a)) - - - - - - - (594) - (594) - (594)
Total comprehensive loss for the year KEERAREAE - - - - (5,326) - - (43,634) (75691)  (124,651) (1,064) (125,715
Release of revaluation reserve El1-p2 - - - - (5,630) - - - 5,630 - - -
Contributions from non-controlling shareholder of K& —FHBAFFRRBRLTE
a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - 54 54
At 31 March 2024 R-2-mEZA=t-7 M66R.  MOBI 15X BT 176 O20F 1445 (BEEF U2 133O (1485 134150

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2025 Annual Report



Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
REREEgBR

For the year ended 31 March 2025
BE-_Z-_hAf=A=+—HLEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(ABETTHITR)
Attributable to owners of the Company
EVEL 1IN2
Share Property Capital ~ Exchange Non-
Issued  premium  C Other luati Capital  redempti fluctuation ~ Retained controlling Total
capital account surplus reserve reserve reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity
5 EXR9
BRARE REEER REBR  AHEE NEEMEE  R6EE WERE f%  REERA g3 FERER  RREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000
T#n TEn TEn T#n TEn TEn T#n TEn TEn T#n TEn TEn
At 1 April 2024 HW=2-mEMA-B WGH8 083 15262 BT 11716 (9240) 14457 (788%8) 889172 1353075 (11485 1341590
Loss for the year TEEER - - - - - - - - 4 (13724) (2165 (75,889)
Other comprehensive (loss)income for the year — AEFEH2E (%) /Wi
Deficit on revaluation of leasehold land and EREELBRET BL
buidings, net of tax RikEg - - - - (14,086) - - - - (14,086) - (14,086)
Share of other comprehensive loss of associates  AEBEATEMZEEE - - - - - - - (36) - (36) - (36)
Exchange differences on translation of foreign ~ ABENEBMEL L ELES
operations - - - - - - - (9,751) - (9,751) 2 (9,749)
Total comprehensive loss for the year TEFRABELEE - - - - (14,086) - - (9,787) (73,724) (97,597) (2,163) (99,760)
Release of revaluation reserve EfikER - - - - (5.220) - - - 520 - - -
Disposal of partial interest in a subsidiary without ~ HiE—EHEA TN PAERMLE
losing control RERE - - - - - 5 - - - 5 % 39
Contributions from non-controlling shareholder of ~ & —FMEA AFELRRRMTE
a subsidiary - - - - - - - - - - ] ]
At 31 March 2025 R-B-EE=A=1-R 146,682 240,853* 15,262 23,061% 92,410% (9,235)% 14,457* (88,675)*  820,668* 1,255,483 (13573) 1,241,910
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of  * ZERBREERGEMBRARRNZGREHE

HK$1,108,801,000 (2024: HK$1,206,393,000) in the consolidated statement
of financial position.

1,108,801,000/% 7T (= & — PO 4 : 1,206,393,000
BIT)

REBZERBBERBER—NANEFRA
“t+—BXREEEHEMBEARBRRRG 2
EfER L BT ZER D 2 AR KRG5
HEZERE-

The contributed surplus of the Group represents the excess of the
nominal value of the subsidiaries’ shares acquired over the
nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in exchange
thereof, pursuant to the Group’s reorganisation on 21 May
1997.

FINME250H 2 MEFBRERE M HIRE 2 —

BB

The notes on pages 111 to 250 form part of the consolidated
financial statements.
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

MERERERXR

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-Z-_AF=A=1+-—HBILFE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(AETTHIR)

2025 2024
—E-RF —ZE P4
Notes HK$’000 HK$000
B = FHET FHEIT
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REXBHBRERE
ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax B 4 AT ES 18 (76,014) (61,641)
Adjustments for: BTHIEE %
— Finance costs — % B A 7 18,312 26,408
— Share of profits and losses of — DIhEE R RN K&
associates, net B8 0 FE8 195 (40)
— Interest income — F B U A 5 (276) (303)
— Imputed interest income — [HEF BUA 5 (14,150) (9,285)
— Fair value loss on investment — REMEZATE
properties, net E518 - JFER 6 14,094 32,364
— Dividend income from equity — BRAFEFABREE
investments at fair value through pdi 3 2ol ¥5)
profit or loss WA 5 — (74,865)
— Gain on disposal of subsidiaries — HERB AR Z W 6 (18) (31,015)
— Gain on bargain purchase of an — AERE—RABE
associate NG & 6 — (12)
— Loss on disposal of items of — HEME BEX
property, plant and equipment RiEIE B E R 6 14 3
— Gain on disposal of investment — HEREME 2 KE
properties 33(b) — (41,641)
— Loss on sales and leaseback — B&MEE 2 EE 6 277 —
— Depreciation of property, plant and — 1% - BE LR EZ
equipment e 6 14,387 12,280
— Provision for net realisable value of — FF&E¥Y%E 2 7] #IR
properties held for sale RERE 6 9,964 15,696
— Provision for inventories — FERE 6 490 530
— Deficit from revaluation of — M BEREE
property, plant and equipment, BEfhEAL O FRR
net 6 3,528 3,436
— Impairment of accounts receivable, — FEWERIERE @ JF58
net 6 4,536 6,806
— Impairment of other receivables — E b Y R IE R E 6 5,721 975
— Fair value loss on equity — BAFEFABEE
investments at fair value through ZRERE 2 RN
profit or loss, net BBE - F5E 6 13,684 104,893
(5,256) (15,411)
Movement in balances with related MEATHEH®R B
parties (3,230) (2,502)
Decrease in properties held for sale HEMERD 79,865 20,251
Increase in inventories FEHE M (2,632) (681)
Decrease/(increase) in accounts JRE Uit B TELRL > (38 0)
receivable 10,929 (28,767)
Increase in prepayments, deposits and FBfT I8 « & R H A
other receivables FE WK IR IS AN (5,069) (10,899)
Increase in accounts payable JE 15 BR 3R 38 0 9,636 17,981
(Decrease)/increase in other payables — E b {5 IE K JEFH & A
and accruals Rl 4>) /18 (10,699) 27,471
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
GERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-_Z-_AF=-A=+—HBILtHEE
(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)
(ABETTHITR)

2025 2024
—E-aF —E-mF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B & FET FHET
Cash generated from operations RETEMEBRS 73,544 7,443
Interest paid 25 B (22,028) (30,981)
Hong Kong Profits Tax refunded E?E@éf?%ﬂ?%ﬁ — 91
Overseas taxes paid BN IR (14,195) (8,995)
Net cash flows generated from/ REEBRME(FA)
(used in) operating activities BEREFHE 37,321 (32,442)
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING REXBHBHESRE
ACTIVITIES
Cash consideration received in relation &t _t— 1@ 4 & & — &
to prior year disposal of a subsidiary BAGWEMBRESRE  33(@) 25,281 -
Cash consideration received in relation Ft_E—EFEHEREY
to prior year disposal of investment — EWHHIE &N E
properties 33(b) 108,052 —
Interest received 2 FI B 5 276 303
Dividend received from equity BUIE A FEF AERERE
investments at fair value through 2 B B RS
profit or loss 5 — 74,865
Purchases of equity investments at fair & EIZAFE ABRE
value through profit or loss 2R E (5.300) (3,765)
Purchases of items of property, plant EEAYZE « HE M &R E
and equipment I8 H 14 (15,352) (339)
Disposal of subsidiaries HENBAF 33(a) (5) 11,623
Proceeds from disposal of items of HEME - BEREEE
property, plant and equipment B Fri5 508 2 —
Proceeds from disposal of investment H KR ) B 18 SR
properties 33(b) — 51,189
Refund of equity investments EERATFETABRE
designated at fair value through 2 R B IR
profit or loss 38 3,301 16,520
Advances to associates, net Bl NS EE N E S
FER (1,062) (1,273)
Investment in an associate R—EEE RRIRNIRE — (1,544)
Dividend income from associates KBS A A IR B A 16 — 675
Net cash flows generated from REXKEBRERE
investing activities FEE 115,193 148,254
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MEXBHRERASRE
ACTIVITIES
New bank and other borrowings IR IT REMEE 34 166,421 214,589
Repayment of bank and other BERITREMES
borrowings 34 (263,189) (306,285)
Repayment of bonds BEES 34 (18,000) —
Principal portion of lease liabilities HEaBZAEEHH 34 (1,831) (327)
Repayment to a related party A[— %F%@/\iﬁ?ﬁ( 34 (37,800) (10,900)
Contributions to subsidiaries from non-  3E$% 5% 4 25 14 M 8 A&
controlling interests AE 41 54
Net cash flows used in financing FEXBHMARESHRE
activities R (154,358) (102,869)
HEFREREEARLAR —T_AFFRH
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

RERERER

For the year ended 31 March 2025
HE-Z-_AF=A=1+-—HBILFE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars)

(LA TTHIR)

2025 2024
—E-RE —E - OF
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FAETT
NET (DECREASE)/INCREASE IN CASH HERRELZEIER
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS GR ),/ nE 4 (1,844) 12,943
Cash and cash equivalents at RENZRERBESEE
beginning of year EA 20,399 8,660
Effect of foreign exchange rate ExgssvE
change (214) (1,204)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT REEZBHEERRELEE
END OF YEAR 1E B 18,341 20,399
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH RERNBELZEERHER
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS ZAH
Cash and bank balances B4 RIRITEHE 22 36,074 42,338
Bank overdrafts SRITHEX 26 (17,733) (21,939)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AS RGZEHREREBRMIIZ
STATED IN THE CONSOLIDATED HeERBREEEER
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 18,341 20,399

The notes on pages 111 to 250 form part of the consolidated

financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

e MR RN

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1 AEAIREEEH

Deson Development International Holdings Limited (the MEERERBRERBRAR ([XAR])
“Company"”) is a limited liability company incorporated in e—ERBREEIMRIZEREER
Bermuda. The address of the Company’s registered office is Ale ARAZAMMPEEBI R
located at Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria Place, Victoria Place, 5th Floor, 31 Victoria
Hamilton HM10, Bermuda and its principal place of business Place, Hamilton HM10, Bermuda *
is located at 11th Floor, Nanyang Plaza, 57 Hung To Road, HFZLEMHREENERERES
Kwun Tong, Kowloon, Hong Kong. 575 mFES 111 -

During the year, the Group was involved in the following FR - AREBZEFZEBOT

principal activities:

()  property development and investment; () MEERIIIEE:
(i) trading of medical equipment and home security and (il EEBEXRBLEARERZEBD
automation products; and ftEm: &

(i)  operation of hotels. (i) &EBIE -
Information about subsidiaries EHEHBATNER
Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as RARIEEZWBRARIMFBEEOT :
pany's p p
follows:
Issued ordinary/ Percentage of

Place of incorporation/ registered Class of equity attributable

Name registration and business share capital shares held to the Company Principal activities
BRITLER/
28 SRR ERREEEY HEMRA RO ER ARREEEEEIL  TEEH
Direct Indirect
=84 A&
Advancost Assets Limited British Virgin Islands (“BVI")/ US$1 Ordinary — 100 Investment holding
Hong Kong
HBRLES 1ET LR REER
(RBRLZEB])/ B
Allied Health Elements Company Limited Hong Kong HK$3,000,000 Ordinary — 90 Selling of wellness and
pandemic prevention
products

BFBEMEAERLDR Ek 3,000,000 Ei# HERRRIRER
Blocks Success International Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 Ordinary - 100 Investment holding

RERIMHE/BA (E -3 REER
Century Logistics Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1 Ordinary — 100  Investment holding

KERLEE/BH [ESI5 REER
Deson Commercial City Limited Hong Kong HK$1 Ordinary — 100  Investment holding
BEAENERAR B BT LR REZRK
Deson Cultural Tourism Investment Hong Kong HK$2  Ordinary — 100  Investment holding

Limited

BENRREBRAF B 28T Ll REZRK
Deson Development Holdings Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$200  Ordinary 100 — Investment holding
HREEREEBRAF KERLEE /A 200%T L@ REER

MERREBREEAERAT —T-RFFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

1  CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1 RAIARKEEEH(A)
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) ERNBLABINESR (&)
Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
Place of incorporation/ registered Class of equity attributable
Name registration and business share capital shares held to the Company Principal activities
ERTLER/
£ MR HERRE iR E5 ARAREGEEEAIL  EEXH
Direct Indirect
B B3
Deson E-Commerce (Kaifeng) Co., Ltd ~ People’s Republic of China ~ RMB35,000,000 N/A — 100  Hotel operation
(note(a)) (“PRC")/Mainland China
wEEEEE () BRAR (Hit@) REARANE(HE]),/ AR¥E TER BEEE
hEAL 35,000,0007C
Deson Dynasty Investment (HK) Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$1  Ordinary - 100  Investment holding
BERBRE (BE)BERAR & 1B BB REER
Deson Dynasty Commercial (Kaifeng) PRC/Mainland China RMB50,000,000 N/A — 100  Hotel management
Co., Ltd (note(a))
HERAEE (B ERAR (k@) =E/ FERM AR¥E TER BEER
50,000,0007T
Deson Innovative Concept Limited Hong Kong HK$1  Ordinary - 100  Investment holding
HEREMBEEREBR AR & 1B BB REER
Deson Innovative Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 Ordinary - 100  Selling, distribution and

marketing of home security
and automation products

BETEARBRRA BE 1,000,00087T i@ HE  PHREERERZRA
BlER

Deson Medical Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1  Ordinary — 100  Investment holding
HERLES/BE 1ET 5B REER

Deson (Ningbo) Ventures Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$100  Ordinary - 100  Investment holding

HE (BR)REERLA ARRLES/BE 100%€T & REER

Deson Property Development (Kaifeng) ~ PRC/Mainland China HK$311,880,000 N/A — 100  Property development

Co., Ltd. (note (a))

HEBERE (B ERAR (MiE@) =E/ TERM 311,880,000 T TEA NERR

Deson Soho Technology Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000 Ordinary — 100  Investment holding

HARBERRR BE 100,000 7T i REER

Deson Ventures (Hong Kong) Limited Hong Kong HK$1  Ordinary - 100  Investment holding

HEBX(FA)ERLA BE BT EE REER

Deson Ventures Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1  Ordinary — 100  Investment holding

HEREBRAR HERLES/BE 1ET BB REER

Full Trade (China) Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Ordinary - 100  Investment holding

2B (FE)ERAT B 10,0007 &l REER

Gosford Technology Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1  Ordinary - 100  Investment holding
HERLES/BE 1ET BB REER

Grand On Enterprise Limited Hong Kong HK$1  Ordinary - 100  Property holding

BREXBRAR 5 BT E&® RENE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BSHEZHIN

LA TTEIR)

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION 1 2ARKEEEH (&)
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued) ERNBLABINESR (&)
Issued ordinary/ Percentage of
Place of incorporation/ registered Class of equity attributable
Name registration and business share capital shares held to the Company Principal activities
BRITEER/
28 ERMRLERRE LY HEMRA FiEROER ARAEGEREEILE  EEXH
Direct Indirect
B Bz
Hainan Full Trade Industry Co., Ltd. PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 N/A — 100  Property investment and
management
BE2EEEBRAA HE/RE R, AR® TER NERERER
10,000,0007T
Honour Advance Ltd. Hong Kong HK$2  Ordinary — 100 Investment holding
THRBRAR 30 BT L@ REER
Intellmission Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$2  Ordinary — 100 Investment holding
RERAES/FE PEI -5 REER
Medical Technologies Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Ordinary — 100  Trading of medical equipment
BRAREPERERAF 30 10,0008 %L BEERERAG
MTL Engineering Limited Hong Kong HK$2  Ordinary - 100 Installation and maintenance of
medical equipment and
health care products
HEERRERIRERAA BE 2B LR TERBERBESRREER
New Perfect Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1  Ordinary — 100 Investment holding
RERLEE/BE 1ET LR REER
Often Reach Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1  Ordinary — 100 Investment holding
RERAES/FE 1ET BB REER
Peaceful Elite Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$10,000 Ordinary — 50 Investment holding
(2024: US$1) (2024:
100)
RERLEE/BE 10,000% 7T %@ (ZZZmE: REZK
(ZZZpmF 100)
1%7T)
Penmark Limited Hong Kong HK$30 Ordinary — 100  Property investment
RENEAERDA BE 0BT Ll NERE
Quick Skill Holdings Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1  Ordinary — 100  Investment holding
RERLEE/BH (EVi ] REER
Super Sight Investments Inc. BVI/Mainland China US$1  Ordinary — 100  Property development
EBRTES/TENM 1ET BB NEER
Synergy Asia Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000 Ordinary — 100  Investment holding
FERDNERAA 9 100,000 7T Ll REER
Universal Focus Developments Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$50,000 Ordinary — 80 Investment holding
RERAHE/BE 50,000% 7T i@ REZR
Win Glory Properties Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 Ordinary — 100 Human resources
BUEEERAT 5% 10,0007 & ADER
Winsome Properties Limited Hong Kong HK$2  Ordinary - 100 Investment holding
REEZARDA BE BT LR RAERK
Wonderful Hope Limited BVI/Mainland China US$1  Ordinary — 100  Property development
HEELEE/MEN [EZ3 ] NEERE

MERREBEEFRAAF

ZERFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

1 CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION
(Continued)
Information about subsidiaries (Continued)

Issued ordinary/
Place of incorporation/

registered Class of

/_\—_Iﬁﬁlﬁ*il' (lnﬂ)

FRHBLRNESR (&)

Percentage of
equity attributable

Name registration and business share capital shares held to the Company Principal activities
ERTLER/
A% MY RS E Y HRBRE ARG ER AARELREADL TEER
Direct Indirect
B M
Woodmont Profits Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1  Ordinary — 100  Investment holding
REETHE/FE 1ET 5B REER
Yan Man Developments Limited BVI/Hong Kong US$1  Ordinary - 100  Investment holding
RERTHEE/EA [ES+ REER
wEtEEEEE (A ARAR PRC/Mainland China RMB10,000,000 N/A — 100 Property development
(note (b))
BEHHEEEES (FH)ERAF RE /R E A AR¥E TER NEER
(B & (b)) 10,000,000
HERWEEER (B BERAR PRC/Mainland China RMB5,000,000 N/A - 100 Hotel operation
(note (b))
BERBBEER (HE)AERAR RE/RER AR TER BEEE
GEON 5,000,0007T
B TR (FH)E PRC/Mainland China RMB20,000,000 N/A — 100  Inactive
(note (a) & (c))
wERAR (R A RE /R E A AR¥E TER EEXB
(M @R() 20,000,0007C
HEHEELER (B ERAA PRC/Mainland China RMB500,000 N/A - 100  Property management
(note (b))
HEREELERE (A ARAR RE/RER AR TER NEER
GEON 500,000/ 7T
BHEE(LF)REBERAT PRC/Mainland China RMB1,260,000 N/A — 100  Trading of securities products
(note (a) & (c))
mEE( L REER REL/RERL AR¥E TER BEEZMER
(M @R() 1,260,0007¢
BELREZERDA (hote (b)) PRC/Mainland China RMB40,000,000 N/A — 100  Property investment
BETREXEERAA (D) RE /R E A AR¥E TER MERE
40,000,0007C
Notes: Bt 5
(a) Registered as wholly-foreign-owned enterprises under PRC law. (a) REBEFBEERTMANIEBERE -
(b) Registered as domestic enterprises under PRC law. (b) BERBEERFMANEDE -
(0) The subsidiaries were incorporated during the year ended 31 March (0) ZEMBARIRNBEE=-S-_AF=A

2025.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally affected
the results for the year or formed a substantial portion of
the net assets of the Group. To give details of other
subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result in
particulars of excessive length.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES

2.1

Basis of preparation

These consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRS Accounting
Standards (which include all Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting
Standards (“HKASs"”) and Interpretations) as issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants (“HKICPA”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance. They have been prepared under the
historical cost convention, except for leasehold land
and buildings classified as property, plant and
equipment, investment properties and equity
investments which have been measured at fair value.
These consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") and all values are
rounded to the nearest thousand (“HK$000") except
when otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the
financial statements of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”)
for the year ended 31 March 2025. A subsidiary is an
entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is
achieved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to
variable returns from its involvement with the investee
and has the ability to affect those returns through its
power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give
the Group the current ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee).

Generally, there is a presumption that a majority of
voting rights results in control.

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

2 EiEE

2.1

MERREBEEFRAAF

fm LB X
HEHEEAVBRRDIRER LS
SRS ((BBEFMAE]) AT
B2 BAM B RE LG E
A (BEMATEMBREEL
BEETER (BB ER]D
Kiak) REERRIGD 2 HER
EMAmS - It FEMBHmERIIRE
BELRAEORE  ERE L
EBFDER/RNE BERX
) REMENBARERETEA
FEFFE RIBR SN o BR 45 Bl & B8R
SN EFHEEMBHRERIIAETT
(IBrD2% MEEBERAER
REOZTuHE(FERT]) -

HmERE

REMBHRRBEARE KK
BAR(REIAEE)BEE—F
“RE=ZA=t—BUEFEZY
BHE - WBRAREXARAE
ERREZRENNER (BREERKE
') MAKERZ2EEIRED
FE IS A & @A ERE RS E
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B=EZEHIN

LA TTEIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1

Basis of preparation (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Company has less than a majority of the
voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in
assessing whether it has power over an investee,
including:

(@)  the contractual arrangement with the other vote
holders of the investee;
contractual

(b) rights arising from other

arrangements; and

() the Group’s voting rights and potential voting
rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are
prepared for the same reporting period as the
Company, using consistent accounting policies. The
results of subsidiaries are consolidated from the date
on which the Group obtains control, and continue to
be consolidated until the date that such control
ceases.

Profit or loss and each component of other
comprehensive income are attributed to the owners of
the parent of the Group and to the non-controlling
interests, even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and
cash flows relating to transactions between members
of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control described above. A change in the ownership
interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of control, is
accounted for as an equity transaction.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1

2.2

Basis of preparation (Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it
derecognises the related assets (including goodwill),
liabilities, any non-controlling interest and the
exchange fluctuation reserve; and recognises the fair
value of any investment retained and any resulting
surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group’s share
of components previously recognised in other
comprehensive income is reclassified to profit or loss
or retained profits, as appropriate, on the same basis
as would be required if the Group had directly
disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures

The Group has adopted the following revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards for the first time for the current
year's consolidated financial statements.

Amendments to
HKFRS 16

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current
(the “2020
Amendments”)

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants (the “2022
Amendments”)

Supplier Finance
Arrangements

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 1

Amendments to
HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)
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2.1

2.2
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVHBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies and

disclosures (Continued)

The nature and the impact of the revised HKFRS
Accounting Standards are described below:

(a)

Amendments to HKFRS 16 specify the
requirements that a seller-lessee uses in
measuring the lease liability arising in a sale and
leaseback transaction to ensure the seller-lessee
does not recognise any amount of the gain or
loss that relates to the right of use it retains.
Since the Group has no sale and leaseback
transactions with variable lease payments that
do not depend on an index or a rate occurring
from the date of initial application of HKFRS
16, the amendments did not have any impact
on the financial position or performance of the
Group.

The 2020 Amendments clarify the requirements
for classifying liabilities as current or
non-current, including what is meant by a right
to defer settlement and that a right to defer
must exist at the end of the reporting period.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the
likelihood that the entity will exercise its right to
defer settlement. The amendments also clarify
that a liability can be settled in its own equity
instruments, and that only if a conversion
option in a convertible liability is itself
accounted for as an equity instrument would

the terms of a liability not impact its
classification. The 2022 Amendments further
clarify that, among covenants of a liability

arising from a loan arrangement, only those
with which an entity must comply on or before
the reporting date affect the classification of
that liability as non-current.
Additional disclosures are required for
non-current liabilities that are subject to the
entity complying with future covenants within
12 months after the reporting period.

current or
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.2 Changes in accounting policies and
disclosures (Continued)

2.3

(b)

(Continued)

The Group has reassessed the terms and
conditions of its liabilities as at 1 March 2024
and 2025 and concluded that the classification
of its liabilities as current or non-current
remained unchanged upon initial application of
the amendments. Accordingly, the amendments
did not have any impact on the financial
position or performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 clarify the
characteristics of supplier finance arrangements
and require additional disclosure of such
arrangements. The disclosure requirements in the
amendments are intended to assist users of
financial statements in understanding the effects
of supplier finance arrangements on an entity’s
liabilities, cash flows and exposure to liquidity
risk. As the Group does not have supplier
finance arrangements, the amendments did not
have any impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Issued but not yet effective HKFRS
accounting standards

The Group has not applied the following new and
revised HKFRS Accounting Standards, that have been
issued but are not yet effective, in these consolidated
financial statements. The Group intends to apply these
new and revised HKFRS Accounting Standards, if
applicable, when they become effective.

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.3 Issued but not yet effective HKFRS
accounting standards (Continued)

HKFRS 18

Amendments to
HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to
HKFRS 9 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to
HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28

Amendments to
HKAS 21

Annual Improvements
to HKFRS Accounting

Presentation and Disclosure
in Financial Statements?

Amendments to the
Classification and
Measurement of Financial
Instruments?

Contracts Referencing
Nature-dependent
Electricity?

Sale or Contribution of
Assets between an Investor
and its Associate or Joint
Venture*

Lack of Exchangeability!

Amendments to HKFRS 1,
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9, HKFRS

Standards — 10 and HKAS 72
Volume 11
1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2025
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2026
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027
4 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3

Issued but not yet effective HKFRS
accounting standards (Continued)

Further information about those HKFRS Accounting
Standards that are expected to be relevant and
applicable to the Group is described below.

HKFRS 18 replaces HKAS 1 Presentation of Financial
Statements. While a number of sections have been
brought forward from HKAS 1 with limited changes,
HKFRS 18 introduces new requirements for
presentation within the statement of profit or loss,
including specified totals and subtotals. Entities are
required to classify all income and expenses within the
statement of profit or loss into one of the five
categories: operating, investing, financing,
taxes and discontinued operations and to present two
new defined subtotals. It also requires disclosures
about management-defined performance measures in
a single note and introduces enhanced requirements
on the grouping (aggregation and disaggregation) and

income

the location of information in both the primary
financial statements and the notes. Some
requirements previously included in HKAS 1 are

moved to HKAS 8 Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors, which is renamed as
HKAS 8 Basis of Preparation of Financial Statements.
As a consequence of the issuance of HKFRS 18,
limited, but widely applicable, amendments are made
to HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows, HKAS 33
Earnings per Share and HKAS 34 Interim Financial
Reporting. In addition, there are minor consequential
amendments to other HKFRSs. HKFRS 18 and the
consequential amendments to other HKFRSs are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2027 with earlier application permitted.
Retrospective application is required. The Group is
currently analysing the new requirements and
assessing the impact of HKFRS 18 on the presentation
and disclosure of the Group’s financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B=EZEHIN

LA TTEIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3

Issued but not yet effective HKFRS
accounting standards (Continued)
Amendments to HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 7 clarify the date
on which a financial asset or financial liability is
derecognised and introduce an accounting policy
option to derecognise a financial liability that is
settled through an electronic payment system before
the settlement date if specified criteria are met. The
amendments clarify how to assess the contractual
cash flow characteristics of financial assets with
environmental, social and governance and other
similar contingent features. Moreover, the
amendments clarify the requirements for classifying
financial assets with non-recourse features and
contractually linked instruments. The amendments also
include additional disclosures for investments in equity
instruments designated at fair value through other
comprehensive income and financial instruments with
contingent features. The amendments shall be applied
retrospectively with an adjustment to opening retained
profits (or other component of equity) at the initial
application date. Prior periods are not required to be
restated and can only be restated without the use of
hindsight. Earlier application of either all the
amendments at the same time or only the
amendments related to the classification of financial
assets is permitted. The amendments are not expected
to have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3

Issued but not yet effective HKFRS
accounting standards (Continued)
Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10
and in HKAS 28 in dealing with the sale or
contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture. The amendments require a
full recognition of a gain or loss resulting from a
downstream transaction when the sale or contribution
of assets constitutes a business. For a transaction
involving assets that do not constitute a business, a
gain or loss resulting from the transaction is
recognised in the investor’s profit or loss only to the
extent of the unrelated investor's interest in that
associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be
applied prospectively. The previous mandatory
effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 was removed by the HKICPA. However, the
amendments are available for adoption now. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant
impact on the Group’s financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.3 Issued but not yet effective HKFRS
accounting standards (Continued)
Annual Improvements to HKFRS Accounting Standards
— Volume 11 set out amendments to HKFRS 1,
HKFRS 7 (and the accompanying Guidance on
implementing HKFRS 7), HKFRS 9, HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 7. Details of the amendments that are
expected to be applicable to the Group are as
follows:

J HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments.: Disclosures: The
amendments have updated certain wording in
paragraph B38 of HKFRS 7 and paragraphs 1G1,
IG14 and 1G20B of the Guidance on
implementing HKFRS 7 for the purpose of
simplification or achieving consistency with other
paragraphs in the standard and/or with the
concepts and terminology used in other
standards. In addition, the amendments clarify
that the Guidance on implementing HKFRS 7
does not necessarily illustrate all the
requirements in the referenced paragraphs of
HKFRS 7 nor does it create additional
requirements. Earlier application is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have any
significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

J HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: The amendments
clarify that when a lessee has determined that a
lease liability has been extinguished in
accordance with HKFRS 9, the lessee is required
to apply paragraph 3.3.3 of HKFRS 9 and
recognise any resulting gain or loss in profit or
loss. In addition, the amendments have updated
certain wording in paragraph 5.1.3 of HKFRS 9
and Appendix A of HKFRS 9 to remove
potential confusion. Earlier application is
permitted. The amendments are not expected to
have any significant impact on the Group’s
financial statements.

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2025 Annual Report

2

SETHE (&)

2.3

EEMGERMRERZE BT
WEERSHER (F)

BB SR EER 25 R 8 F
B — E11EE0EEYBE
HEEBIE 15 - BEVIERELE
RIZE75% (R BEb &3t & 857 7 2
LERE7HAIES) - BBV
MEERF T - BEMIERESE
BIZE109 R BB 2 st R B 75
SR - BEIE AR A EBMZ
LEATFBOT

. BB EREERET 2
BTA BE ZZBFE
BB R EERET
SREEBISER M E I & B TH
HEERE7HE A IE S E
IG1 ~ IG14 X IG20BER H) &
TFHEEr - AR b R 2
HAi B E RSk E AR AT
AH S RITEBER ]
oo AN REERERE
JH B BB T E R E T
755 R LT RR B B B TS
HERFTRBERTZMAT
BHE + IARMIBREEING
E o ATIREER - 251’
FITEE T g H AR E A I
WMEREEAMWERTE -

. BB R EEREIN £
FTA  ZEERERSE &
MAEETHEABEDRESR
VB T RS AE R B OR AR 1E
B AABERESNG
REERIFE IR EI 33K
WA IEEE P HERITEENT
RS sk 518 o o - 3% E
BEIBEMB B EREE
BSO8R 5.1 3 A B A
% 3R 45 B B 9557 FiT SR AR
ETHE UWHEHBREER
B RETIREER - ZE1B
FITEE T g AL B A B 1S
WEREXERNERTE -



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

25T BUR ()
23 CEMEEMRERZEEBYE

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2
2.3 Issued but not yet effective HKFRS

accounting standards (Continued)

o HKFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements:
The amendments clarify that the relationship
described in paragraph B74 of HKFRS 10 is just
one example of various relationships that might
exist between the investor and other parties
acting as de facto agents of the investor, which
removes the inconsistency with the requirement
in paragraph B73 of HKFRS 10. Earlier
application is permitted. The amendments are
not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group's financial statements.

o HKAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows: The
amendments replace the term “cost method”
with “at cost” in paragraph 37 of HKAS 7
following the prior deletion of the definition of
“cost method”. Earlier application is permitted.
The amendments are not expected to have any
impact on the Group’s financial statements.

2.4 Material accounting policies

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a
long term interest of generally not less than 20% of
the equity voting rights and over which it has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee, but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

The Group’s investments in associates are stated in
the consolidated statement of financial position at the
Group's share of net assets under the equity method
of accounting, less any impairment losses.
Adjustments are made to bring into line any dissimilar
accounting policies that may exist.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

24

Material accounting policies (Continued)
Investments in associates (Continued)

The Group's share of the post-acquisition results and
other comprehensive income of associates is included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when
there has been a change recognised directly in the
equity of the associate, the Group recognises its share
of any changes, when applicable, in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity. Unrealised gains and
losses resulting from transactions between the Group
and its associates are eliminated to the extent of the
Group's investments in the associates, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment
of the assets transferred. Goodwill arising from the
acquisition of associates is included as part of the
Group’s investments in associates.

If an investment in an associate becomes an
investment in a joint venture or vice versa, the
retained interest is not remeasured. Instead, the
investment continues to be accounted for under the
equity method. In all other case, upon loss of
significant influence over the associate, the Group
measures and recognises any retained investment at
its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate upon loss of significant
influence and the fair value of the retained
investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised
in profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2 EEFBE(HE)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued) 24 ERESHBX (&)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its leasehold land and buildings
classified as property, plant and equipment,
investment properties and equity investments at fair
value at the end of each reporting period. Fair value
is the price that would be received to sell an asset or
paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement
date. The fair value measurement is based on the
presumption that the transaction to sell the asset or
transfer the liability takes place either in the principal
market for the asset or liability, or in the absence of
a principal market, in the most advantageous market
for the asset or liability. The principal or the most
advantageous market must be accessible by the
Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is
measured using the assumptions that market
participants would use when pricing the asset or
liability, assuming that market participants act in their
economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset
takes into account a market participant’s ability to
generate economic benefits by using the asset in its
highest and best use or by selling it to another
market participant that would use the asset in its
highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are
appropriate in the circumstances and for which
sufficient data are available to measure fair value,
maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and
minimising the use of unobservable inputs.
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e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Fair value measurement (Continued)

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is
measured or disclosed in the consolidated financial
statements are categorised within the fair value
hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement as a whole:

Level 1: based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in
active markets for identical assets or
liabilities

Level 2: based on valuation techniques for which

the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is observable,
either directly or indirectly

Level 3: based on valuation techniques for which
the lowest level input that is significant to
the fair value measurement is
unobservable

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the
consolidated financial statements on a recurring basis,
the Group determines whether transfers have occurred
between levels in the hierarchy by reassessing
categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole)
at the end of each reporting period.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2 EEFBE(HE)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued) 24 ERESHBX (&)

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when
annual impairment testing for an asset is required
(other than inventories, completed properties held for
sale, financial assets and investment properties), the
asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset's or
cash-generating unit’s value in use and its fair value
less costs of disposal, and is determined for an
individual asset, unless the asset does not generate
cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets, in which case
the recoverable amount is determined for the
cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. In
testing a cash-generating unit for impairment, a
portion of the carrying amount of a corporate asset
(e.g., a headquarters building) is allocated to an
individual cash-generating unit if it can be allocated
on a reasonable and consistent basis or, otherwise, to
the smallest group of cash-generating units.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying
amount of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount.
In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash
flows are discounted to their present value using a
pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to
the consolidated statement of profit or loss in the
period in which it arises, unless the asset is carried at
a revalued amount, in which case the impairment loss
is accounted for in accordance with the relevant
accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets
(Continued)
An assessment is made at the end of each reporting
period as to whether there is an indication that
previously recognised impairment losses may no
longer exist or may have decreased. If such an
indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset
other than goodwill is reversed only if there has been
a change in the estimates used to determine the
recoverable amount of that asset, but not to an
amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation/
amortisation) had no impairment loss been recognised
for the asset in prior years. A reversal of such an
impairment loss is credited to the consolidated
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it
arises, unless the asset is carried at a revalued
amount, in which case the reversal of the impairment
loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant
accounting policy for that revalued asset.

Related parties
A party is considered to be related to the Group if:
(@) The party is a person or a close member of that
person’s family and that person:
(i) has control or joint control over the Group;
(i) has significant influence over the Group;
or
(i) is a member of the key management

personnel of the Group or a parent of the
Group; or
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Related parties (Continued)
(b)  The party is an entity where any of the following
conditions applies:

(i)

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

(vi)

(vii)

(viii)

The entity and the Group are members of
the same group;

One entity is an associate or joint venture
of the other entity (or of a parent,
subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of the other
entity);

The entity and the Group are joint ventures
of the same third party;

One entity is a joint venture of a third
entity and the other entity is an associate
of the third entity;

The entity is a post-employment benefit
plan for the benefit of employees of
either the Group or an entity related to
the Group; and the sponsoring employers
of the post-employment benefit plan;

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled
by a person identified in (a);

A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member
of the key management personnel of the
entity (or of a parent of the entity); and

The entity, or any member of a group of
which it is a part, provides key
management personnel services to the
Group or to the parent of the Group.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation
Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost or
valuation less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses. The cost of an item of property,
plant and equipment comprises its purchase price and
any directly attributable costs of bringing the asset to
its working condition and location for its intended
use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and
equipment have been put into operation, such as
repairs and maintenance, is normally charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the
recognition criteria are satisfied, the expenditure for a
major inspection is capitalised in the carrying amount
of the asset as a replacement. Where significant parts
of property, plant and equipment are required to be
replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts
as individual assets with specific useful lives and
depreciates them accordingly.

Land and buildings, classified as right-of-use assets
and owned assets, are measured at valuation less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and impairment
losses.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (Continued)

Valuations are performed frequently enough to ensure
that the fair value of a revalued asset does not differ
materially from its carrying amount. Changes in the
values of property, plant and equipment are dealt
with as movements in the property revaluation
reserve. If the total of this reserve is insufficient to
cover a deficit, on an individual asset basis, the excess
of the deficit is charged to the consolidated statement
of profit or loss. Any subsequent revaluation surplus is
credited to the consolidated statement of profit or
loss to the extent of the deficit previously charged.
An annual transfer from the property revaluation
reserve to retained profits is made for the difference
between the depreciation based on the revalued
carrying amount of an asset and the depreciation
based on the asset’s original cost. On disposal of a
revalued asset, the relevant portion of the property
revaluation reserve realised in respect of previous
valuations is transferred to retained profits as a
movement in reserves.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis or
reducing balance basis to write off the cost or
valuation amount of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated
useful life. The principal annual rates used for this
purpose are as follows:

Buildings Over the remaining lease terms
on the straight-line basis

Leasehold Over the remaining lease terms
improvements on the straight-line basis

Furniture and 15% on the reducing balance
fixtures basis

Office and other 15% on the reducing balance
equipment basis

Tools and 15% on the reducing balance
equipment basis

Motor vehicles

15% on the reducing balance
basis
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Property, plant and equipment and
depreciation (Continued)
Where parts of an item of property, plant and
equipment have different useful lives, the cost or
valuation amount of that item is allocated on a
reasonable basis among the parts and each part is
depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives
and the depreciation methods are reviewed, and
adjusted if appropriate, at least at each financial year
end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including
any significant part initially recognised is derecognised
upon disposal or when no future economic benefits
are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss
on disposal or retirement recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the year
the asset is derecognised is the difference between
the net sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the
relevant asset.

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and
buildings (including right-of-use assets) held to earn
rental income and/or for capital appreciation. Such
properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition,
investment properties are stated at fair value, which
reflects market conditions at the end of the reporting
period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair values
of investment properties are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the year in
which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of
an investment property are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the year of
the retirement or disposal.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Investment properties (Continued)

The Group determines whether completed properties
held for sale would be transferred to investment
properties when, only when, there is a change in use,
evidenced by the following criteria: (a) the Group has
prepared a business plan that reflects the future
rental income generated by the property and this is
supported with evidence that there is demand for
rental space; (b) the Group can demonstrate that it
has the resources, including the necessary financing or
capital, to hold and manage an investment property;
(c) the change in use is legally permissible; (d) if the
property must be further developed for the change in
use, the development has commenced and (e) the
change in use is approved by the board.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or
contains, a lease if the contract conveys the right to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and
measurement approach for all leases, except for
short-term leases and leases of low-value assets. The
Group recognises lease liabilities to make lease
payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

(@) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease (that is the
date the underlying asset is available for use).
Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, except
for the leasehold land which is measured at fair
value, less accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost of
right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease
liabilities recognised, initial direct costs incurred,
and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives
received.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

(a)

Right-of-use assets (Continued)
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a
straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease
terms and the estimated useful lives of the
assets as follows:

Leasehold Over the remaining lease
land terms

Leased Over the remaining lease
property terms

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the
Group by the end of the lease term or the cost
reflects the exercise of a purchase option,
depreciation is calculated using the estimated
useful life of the asset.

When the right-of-use assets relate to interests
in leasehold land held as inventories, they are
subsequently measured at the lower of cost and
net realisable value in accordance with the
Group’s policy for “inventories”. When a
right-of-use asset meets the definition of
investment property, it is included in investment
properties. The corresponding right-of-use asset
is initially measured at cost, and subsequently
measured at fair value, in accordance with the
Group's policy for “investment properties”.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the
commencement date of the lease at the present
value of lease payments to be made over the
lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed
payments) less any lease incentives receivable,
variable lease payments that depend on an
index or a rate, and amounts expected to be
paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a
purchase option reasonably certain to be
exercised by the Group and payments of
penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to
terminate the lease. The variable lease payments
that do not depend on an index or a rate are
recognised as an expense in the period in which
the event or condition that triggers the payment
occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease
payments, the Group wuses its incremental
borrowing rate at the lease commencement
date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the
commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of
interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease
liabilities is remeasured if there is a
modification, a change in the lease term, a
change in lease payments (e.g., a change to
future lease payments resulting from a change
in an index or rate) or a change in assessment
of an option to purchase the underlying asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets
The Group applies the short-term lease
recognition exemption to its short-term leases of
buildings and equipment (that is those leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option). It also applies the
recognition exemption for leased assets to leases
that are considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases
of low-value assets are recognised as an
expense on a straight-line basis over the lease
term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease
inception (or when there is a lease modification) each
of its leases as either an operating lease or a finance
lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer
substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to
ownership of an asset are classified as operating
leases. When a contract contains lease and non-lease
components, the Group allocates the consideration in
the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income s
accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease
terms and is included in revenue or other income in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss due to its
operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in
negotiating and arranging an operating lease are
added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised over the lease term on the same basis as
rental income. Contingent rents are recognised as
revenue in the period in which they are earned.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2 BFEE(#)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued) 24 EXRGFBCK(E)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessor (Continued)

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and
rewards incidental to ownership of an underlying
asset to the lessee are accounted for as finance
leases.

Sales and leaseback transactions

As lessee

If the asset transfer under a sale and leaseback
transaction belongs to sale, the Group, as a lessee,
measures the right-of-use assets created by the sale
and leaseback based on the portion of carrying
amount of the original assets related to right of use
obtained upon leaseback, and only recognise relevant
profit or loss for the right transferred to the lessor, If
the asset transfer under a sale and leaseback
transaction does not belong to sale, the Group, as a
lessee, will continue to recognise the transferred
assets while recognise a financial liability equal to the
transfer income.

Investments and other financial assets

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value
through other comprehensive income, and fair value
through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial
recognition depends on the financial asset's
contractual cash flow characteristics and the Group’s
business model for managing them. With the
exception of accounts receivable that does not contain
a significant financing component or for which the
Group has applied the practical expedient of not
adjusting the effect of a significant financing
component, the Group initially measures a financial
asset at its fair value plus in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss,
transaction costs. Accounts receivable that does not
contain a significant financing component or for
which the Group has applied the practical expedient
are measured at the transaction price determined
under HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set
out for “Revenue recognition” below.
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e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)
In order for a financial asset to be classified and
measured at amortised cost or fair value through
other comprehensive income, it needs to give rise to
cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest (“SPPI1”) on the principal amount outstanding.
Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI are
classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial
assets refers to how it manages its financial assets in
order to generate cash flows. The business model
determines whether cash flows will result from
collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and
measured at amortised cost are held within a business
model with the objective to hold financial assets in
order to collect contractual cash flows, while financial
assets classified and measured at fair value through
other comprehensive income are held within a
business model with the objective of both holding to
collect contractual cash flows and selling. Financial
assets which are not held within the aforementioned
business models are classified and measured at fair
value through profit or loss.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally
established by regulation or convention in the
marketplace are recognised on the trade date, that is,
the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell
the asset.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Investments and other financial assets
(Continued)

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial

assets

depends on their classification as follows:

(a)

Financial assets at amortised costs (debt
instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are
subsequently measured using the effective
interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss when
the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or
loss are carried in the consolidated statement of
financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and
equity investments which the Group had not
irrevocably elected to classify at fair value
through other comprehensive income. Dividends
on the equity investments are also recognised as
other income in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss when the right of payment has
been established.
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REVBBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a
financial asset or part of a group of similar financial
assets) is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from
the Group’s consolidated statement of financial
position) when:

—  the rights to receive cash flows from the asset
have expired; or

— the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from the asset or has assumed an
obligation to pay the received cash flows in full
without material delay to a third party under a
“pass-through” arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has
neither transferred nor retained substantially all
the risks and rewards of the asset, but has
transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive
cash flows from an asset or has entered into a
pass-through arrangement, it evaluates if, and to
what extent, it has retained the risk and rewards of
ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset nor transferred control of the
asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred asset to the extent of the Group's
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset
and the associated liability are measured on a basis
that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group
has retained.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2 EEFBE(HE)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued) 24 ERESHBX (&)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected
credit losses (“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held
at fair value through profit or loss. ECLs are based on
the difference between the contractual cash flows due
in accordance with the contract and all the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate.
The expected cash flows will include cash flows from
the sale of collateral held or other credit
enhancement that are integral to the contractual
terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit
exposures for which there has not been a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition, ECLs are
provided for credit losses that result from default
events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which
there has been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, a loss allowance is required
for credit losses expected over the remaining life of
the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the default
(a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether
the credit risk on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since initial recognition. When making the
assessment, the Group compares the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the
reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on
the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or
effort, including historical and forward-looking
information. The Group considers that there has been
a significant increase in credit risk when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due.

EHEERE
AEERABALFRERERAF
Bt ABRERZER T ARRE
HEERA((RHFERA) &
o MMEERRDRRESLN
APz ANREREANEETE
BN ZABERSRE M
MER WA RIGERFEEL
Ret -AHRERESEREL
EMFABRFAMIRERENB
RENGEHTBID ZHMBEER
BRSEE

—RT A
BEHEERKD W ER R -
5B WA R A REE AR &
RiEgEmzzERRM S - BH
EEBKTIFR AR ARRI12(EA
NBEZEBONEMHMERZEE
BRTREEG(2EAAEBRESR
BR) - LB VMR AREER
RORABENZZEFEERR
ME  BEARARRFBREHA
ZIEMEERARFIRBRERE
i E R (2 HEMEER
xK) e

REBRERH AEEFHESHE
TRZEERR B THERAR
BERNBEM - B 1EH &
B ARELRERTARKRS
B HIE £ 2 12 %) EL e B0 1) 46 B
R ERIEEERHZA
ETABzaBRERRBEE
B BREERRAEEER - K
SERR  EEONTAMEG
30H K - AEEE R ATRIE N -

MERREBREEAERAT —T-RFFH

143



144

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

2

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

The Group considers a financial asset in default when
contractual payments are over 90 days past due. The
Group has rebutted the 90 days past due
presumption of default based on reasonable and
supportable information, including the Group’s credit
risk control practices and historical recovery rate of
financial assets over 90 days past due. However, in
certain cases, the Group may also consider a financial
asset to be in default when internal or external
information indicates that the Group is unlikely to
receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements
held by the Group. A financial asset is written off
when there is no reasonable expectation of recovering
the contractual cash flows.

Financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are
classified within the following stages for measurement
of ECLs except for accounts receivable which applies
the simplified approach as detailed below.

Financial instruments for which credit risk
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal
to 12-month ECLs

Stage 1:

Financial instruments for which credit risk
has increased significantly since initial
recognition but that are not
credit-impaired financial assets and for
which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 2:

Financial assets that are credit-impaired at
the reporting date (but that are not
purchased or originated credit-impaired)
and for which the loss allowance is
measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs

Stage 3:
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Simplitfied approach

For accounts receivable that does not contain a
significant financing component or when the Group
applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the
effect of a significant financing component, the
Group applies the simplified approach in calculating
ECLs. Under the simplified approach, the Group does
not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises
a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs at each
reporting date. The Group has established a provision
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the debtors and the economic
environment.

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition,
as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or
loss, loans and borrowings, payables, or as derivatives
designated as hedging instruments in an effective
hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair
value and, in the case of loans and borrowings and
payables, net of directly attributable transaction costs.

The Group’s financial liabilities include accounts
payable, other payables, certain accruals, amounts due
to associates and related parties, bonds payable and
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings.

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

2 EEFBE(HE)

24

MERREBEEFRAAF

EXRETHE(E)
EHEEHRE (&

e =
RATBEEREE D 2 EW
REMEAEARBERATEHA
EEAREROIFEZATRE
FAR AR EERAGLT AE
EEHEERX -RE[MILES
A AREVEEREERRE
B ERBEREREAH 2
EHEERAERABAREE - K
SEEKEREELEERAK
AR AR - WRLER AR
RBERIRZ AEAEMEREREL

EHERE

VR R E
TREBERVSERIFEDER
BAFEFABRREZE®E
B ERRER - EBARE =X
WIEER—HAERE R Z2HHT
AZPTHETA(WEA) -

METRAENSEAFERE
PR Bl 23 B R AR FROA K FE A
R RIEABREREERSHK
jx o

AEEZeRABESREERMNKE
H - HMEMRE B TR E
A EABERRMEEALR
B ENEFARERRITRE
ffE s -

ZERFFR

145



146

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement for financial liabilities
at amortised cost
After initial recognition, trade and other payables, and
interest-bearing borrowings are subsequently
measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting
would be immaterial, in which case they are stated at
cost. Gains and losses are recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss when the
liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account
any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or
costs that are an integral part of the effective interest
rate. The effective interest rate amortisation is
included in finance costs in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the
obligation under the liability is discharged or
cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by
another from the same lender on substantially
different terms, or the terms of an existing liability are
substantially modified, such an exchange or
modification is treated as a derecognition of the
original liability and a recognition of a new liability,
and the difference between the respective carrying
amounts is recognised in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and
the net amount is reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position if there is a currently
enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net
basis, or to realise the assets and settle the liabilities
simultaneously.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2 EEFBE(HE)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued) 24 ERESHBX (&)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost is determined on the first-in,
first-out basis. Net realisable value is based on
estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be
incurred to disposal.

Properties held for sale

Completed properties held for sale are stated at the
lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost is
determined by an apportionment of the total costs of
land and buildings attributable to the unsold
properties. Net realisable value takes into account the
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selling the properties based on prevailing market

conditions.

Cash and cash equivalents Bt RELEMEER

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated
statement of financial position comprise cash on hand
at banks, and short-term highly liquid deposits with a
maturity of generally within three months that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash,
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value and
held for the purpose of meeting short-term cash
commitments.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on
hand and at banks, and short-term deposits as
defined above, less bank overdrafts which are
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the
Group’s cash management.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Provisions

A provision is recognised when a present obligation
(legal or constructive) has arisen as a result of a past
event and it is probable that a future outflow of
resources will be required to settle the obligation,
provided that a reliable estimate can be made of the
amount of the obligation.

When the Group expects some or all of a provision to
be reimbursed, the reimbursement is recognised as a
separate asset, but only when the reimbursement is
virtually certain. The expense relating to a provision is
presented in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss net of any reimbursement.

When the effect of discounting is material, the
amount recognised for a provision is the present value
at the end of the reporting period of the future
expenditures expected to be required to settle the
obligation. The increase in the discounted present
value amount arising from the passage of time is
included in finance costs in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax.
Income tax relating to items recognised outside profit
or loss is recognised outside profit or loss, either in
other comprehensive income or directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
amount expected to be recovered from or paid to the
taxation authorities, based on tax rates (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by
the end of the reporting period, taking into
consideration interpretations and practices prevailing
in the countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method,
on all temporary differences at the end of the
reporting period between the tax bases of assets and
liabilities and their carrying amounts for financial
reporting purposes.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)
Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences, except:

— when the deferred tax liability arises from the
initial recognition of goodwill or an asset or
liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction,
affects neither the accounting profit nor taxable
profit or loss and does not give rise to equal
taxable and deductible temporary differences;
and

— in respect of taxable temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, when the timing of the reversal of
the temporary differences can be controlled and
it is probable that the temporary differences will
not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible
temporary differences, and the carryforward of unused
tax credits and any unused tax losses. Deferred tax
assets are recognised to the extent that it is probable
that taxable profit will be available against which the
deductible temporary differences, and the
carryforward of unused tax credits and unused tax
losses can be utilised, except:

— when the deferred tax asset relating to the
deductible temporary differences arises from the
initial recognition of an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination
and, at the time of the transaction, affects
neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit
or loss and does not give rise to equal taxable
and deductible temporary differences; and
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e R R M

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Income tax (Continued)

— in respect of deductible temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries and
associates, deferred tax assets are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that
the temporary differences will reverse in the
foreseeable future and taxable profits will be
available against which the temporary
differences can be utilised.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is
reviewed at the end of each reporting period and
reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable
that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow
all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the
end of each reporting period and are recognised to
the extent that it has become probable that sufficient
taxable profit will be available to allow all or part of
the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the
tax rates that are expected to apply to the period
when the asset is realised or the liability is settled,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are
offset if and only if the Group has a legally
enforceable right to set off current tax assets and
current tax liabilities and the deferred tax assets and
deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied by
the same taxation authority on either the same
taxable entity or different taxable entities which
intend either to settle current tax liabilities and assets
on a net basis, or to realise the assets and settle the
liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or
assets are expected to be settled or recovered.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2 EEFBE(HE)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued) 24 ERESHBX (&)

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value
where there is reasonable assurance that the grant
will be received and all attaching conditions will be
complied with. When the grant relates to an expense
item, it is recognised as income on a systematic basis
over the periods that the costs, for which it is
intended to compensate, are expensed.

Revenue recognition

Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised
when control of goods or services is transferred to the
customers at an amount that reflects the
consideration to which the Group expects to be
entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the contract contains a financing component
which provides the customer with a significant benefit
of financing the transfer of goods or services to the
customer for more than one year, revenue is
measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that
would be reflected in a separate financing transaction
between the Group and the customer at contract
inception. When the contract contains a financing
component which provides the Group with a
significant financial benefit for more than one vyear,
revenue recognised under the contract includes the
interest expense accreted on the contract liability
under the effective interest method. For a contract
where the period between the payment by the
customer and the transfer of the promised goods or
services is one year or less, the transaction price is not
adjusted for the effects of a significant financing
component, using the practical expedient in HKFRS
15.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)
Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers
(Continued)

(a)

Sale of properties

Revenue from the sale of properties is
recognised at the point in time when the
purchasers obtained the physical possession or
legal title of the completed property, and the
Group has a present right to payment and the
collection of the consideration is probable.

Sale of products

Revenue from the sale of products is recognised
at the point in time when control of the assets
is transferred to customers, generally on delivery
of products.

Hotel operations

Revenue from the provision of hotel operations
is recognised over the scheduled period on a
straight-line basis because the customer
simultaneously receives and consumes the
benefits provided by the Group.

Revenue from food and beverage operations of
hotels is recognised at the point in time when
the control of food and beverage products is
transferred to the customer, generally upon
purchase of the food and beverage items by the
customer.

Revenue from other sources

Rental

income from investment properties is

recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2 BFEE(#)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued) 24 EXRGFBCK(E)
Revenue recognition (Continued) W 75 A (A
Other income H A

Rental income from property, plant and equipment is
recognised on a time proportion basis over the lease
terms.

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using
the effective interest method by applying the rate that
exactly discounts the estimated future cash receipts
over the expected life of the financial instrument or a
shorter period, when appropriate, to the net carrying
amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’
right to receive payment has been established, it is
probable that the economic benefits associated with
the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount
of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is
received or a payment is due (whichever is earlier)
from a customer before the Group transfers the
related goods or services. Contract liabilities are
recognised as revenue when the Group performs
under the contract (i.e., transfer control of the related
goods or services to the customer).

Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme.
Employees (including directors) of the Group receive
remuneration in the form of share-based payments,
whereby employees render services in exchange for
equity instruments (“equity-settled transactions”).

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees
is measured by reference to the fair value at the date
which they are granted.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)
The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in
employee benefit expense, together with a
corresponding increase in equity, over the period in
which the performance and/or service conditions are
fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for
equity-settled transactions at the end of each
reporting period until the vesting date reflects the
extent to which the vesting period has expired and
the Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the consolidated statement of profit or loss
for a period represents the movement in the
cumulative expense recognised as at the beginning
and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are
not taken into account when determining the grant
date fair value of awards, but the likelihood of the
conditions being met is assessed as part of the
Group’s best estimate of the number of equity
instruments that will ultimately vest. Market
performance conditions are reflected within the grant
date fair value. Any other conditions attached to an
award, but without an associated service requirement,
are considered to be non-vesting conditions.
Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value
of an award and lead to an immediate expensing of
an award unless there are also service and/or
performance conditions.

For awards that do not ultimately vest because
non-market performance and/or service conditions
have not been met, no expense is recognised. Where
awards include a market or non-vesting condition, the
transactions are treated as vesting irrespective of
whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or
service conditions are satisfied.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

2R BER ()
24 EREFHE(H)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Share-based payments (Continued)

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are
modified, as a minimum an expense is recognised as
if the terms had not been modified, if the original
terms of the award are met. In addition, an expense
is recognised for any modification that increases the
total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at
the date of modification.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected
as additional share dilution in the computation of loss
per share.

Other employee benefits

Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory
Provident Fund retirement benefit scheme (the “MPF
Scheme”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance for those employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the
employees’ basic salaries and are charged to the
consolidated statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held
separately from those of the Group in an
independently administered fund. The Group’'s
employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Other employee benefits (Continued)
Pension schemes (Continued)
The Group also operates a defined contribution
retirement benefit scheme (the “ORSO Scheme”)
under the Occupational Retirement Schemes
Ordinance for those employees who were eligible to
participate. The ORSO Scheme operated in a similar
way to the MPF Scheme, except that when an
employee left the ORSO Scheme before his/her
interest in the Group’s employer contributions vesting
fully, the ongoing contributions payable by the Group
were reduced by the relevant amount of the forfeited
contributions. With effect from 1 December 2000, the
Group has operated both schemes and those
employees who are not eligible to participate in the
ORSO Scheme are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme.

The employees of the Group’s subsidiaries which
operate in Mainland China are required to participate
in a central pension scheme operated by the local
municipal government. These subsidiaries are required
to contribute a percentage of their payroll costs to the
central pension scheme. The contributions are charged
to the consolidated statement of profit or loss as they
become payable in accordance with the rules of the
central pension scheme.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued) 2 EEFBE(HE)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued) 24 ERESHBX (&)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition
or construction of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get
ready for their intended use or sale, are capitalised as
part of the cost of those assets. The capitalisation of
such borrowing costs ceases when the assets are
substantially ready for their intended use or sale. All
other borrowing costs are expensed in the period in
which they are incurred. Borrowing costs consist of
interest and other costs that an entity incurs in
connection with the borrowing of funds. Where funds
have been borrowed generally, and used for the
purpose of obtaining qualifying assets, a capitalisation
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ZECME 1.1%) 2B R

rate of 2.6% (2024: 1.1%) has been applied to the KEH -
expenditure on the individual assets.
Dividends K E

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they
are approved by the shareholders in a general
meeting. Proposed final dividends are disclosed in the
notes to the consolidated financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and
declared, because the Company’s memorandum of
association and Bye-laws grant the directors the
authority to declare interim dividends. Consequently,
interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

2 ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currencies

These consolidated financial statements are presented
in Hong Kong dollars, which is the Company’s
functional currency. Each entity in the Group
determines its own functional currency and items
included in the financial statements of each entity are
measured using that functional currency. Foreign
currency transactions recorded by the entities in the
Group are initially recorded using their respective
functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies are translated at
the functional currency rates of exchange ruling at the
end of the reporting period. Differences arising on
settlement or translation of monetary items are
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of
historical cost in a foreign currency are translated
using the exchange rates at the dates of the initial
transactions. Non-monetary items measured at fair
value in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rates at the date when the fair value was
measured. The gain or loss arising on translation of a
non-monetary item measured at fair value is treated
in line with the recognition of the gain or loss on
change in fair value of the item (i.e., translation
difference on the time whose fair value gain or loss is
recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or
loss is also recognised in other comprehensive income
or profit or loss, respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition
of the related asset, expense or income on the
derecognition of a non-monetary asset or
non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the
date on which the Group initially recognises the
non-monetary asset or non-monetary liability arising
from the advance consideration. If there are multiple
payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or
receipt of the advance consideration.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)
2.4 Material accounting policies (Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

The functional of certain overseas
subsidiaries and associates are currencies other than
the Hong Kong dollar. As at the end of the reporting
period, the assets and liabilities of these entities are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and
their statements of profit or loss are translated into
Hong Kong dollars at the exchange rates that
approximate to those prevailing at the dates of the
transactions.

currencies

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in the
exchange fluctuation reserve, except to the extent
that the differences are attributable to non-controlling
interests. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
cumulative amount in the reserve relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign
operation and any fair value adjustments to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities arising on
acquisition are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign operation and translated at the closing rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash
flows, the cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are
translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows. Frequently
recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are translated into Hong
Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates
for the year.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS

AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group’s consolidated financial
statements requires management to make judgements,
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts
of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and their
accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent
liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets
or liabilities affected in the future.

Judgements

In the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies,
management has made the following judgements, apart
from those involving estimations, which have the most
significant effect on the amounts recognised in the
consolidated financial statements:

Determining the timing of satisfaction of
contracts related to sale of properties

The Group determined that the sales contract with
customers requires the Group to complete the development
of property before transferring the legal title of the relevant
property to customers. The Group also determined that the
Group does not have an enforceable right to payment from
customers for performance completed to date before the
transfer of legal title of the relevant property to customers.
Consequently, the Group concluded that the timing of
transfer of properties is at the point in time when the
purchasers obtained the physical possession or the legal title
of the completed property.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Judgements (Continued)

Impairment of non-current assets

In determining whether an asset is impaired or the event
previously causing the impairment no longer exists, the
Group has to exercise judgement in the area of asset
impairment, particularly in assessing: (1) whether an event
has occurred that may affect the asset value or such event
affecting the asset value does not exist; (2) whether the
carrying value of an asset can be supported by the net
present value of future cash flows which are estimated
based upon the continued use of the asset or
derecognition; and (3) the appropriate key assumptions to
be applied in preparing cash flow projections, including
whether these cash flow projections are discounted using an
appropriate rate. Changing the assumptions selected by
management to determine the level of impairment,
including the discount rates or the growth rate assumptions
in the cash flow projections, could materially affect the net
present value used in the impairment test.

Property lease classification — Group as lessor

The Group has entered into commercial property leases on
its investment property portfolio. The Group has
determined, based on an evaluation of the terms and
conditions of the arrangements, such as the lease term not
constituting a major part of the economic life of the
commercial property and the present value of the minimum
lease payments not amounting to substantially all the fair
value of the commercial property, that it retains
substantially all the significant risks and rewards incidental
to ownership of these properties which are leased out and
accounts for the contracts as operating leases.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
Judgements (Continued)
Classification between investment properties and
owner-occupied properties
The Group determines whether a property qualifies as an
investment property, and has developed criteria in making
that judgement. Investment property is a property held to
earn rentals or for capital appreciation or both. Some
properties comprise certain portions that are held to earn
rentals or for capital appreciation and other portions that
are held for use in the production or supply of goods or
services or for administrative purposes. If these portions
could be sold separately (or leased out separately under a
finance lease), the Group accounts for the portions
separately. If the portions could not be sold separately, the
property is an investment property only if an insignificant
portion is held for use in the production or supply of goods
or services or for administrative purposes. Judgement is
made on an individual property basis to determine whether
ancillary services are so significant that a property does not
qualify as an investment property.

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key
sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a
material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year, are described
below.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Estimation of fair value of investment properties
In the absence of current prices in an active market for
similar properties, the Group considers information from a
variety of sources, including:

(@) current prices in an active market for properties of a
different nature, condition or location (or subject to
different leases or other contracts), adjusted to reflect
those differences;

(b)  recent prices of similar properties in less active markets,
with adjustments to reflect any changes in economic
conditions since the dates of the transactions that
occurred at those prices; and

(¢) discounted cash flow projections based on reliable
estimates of future cash flows, supported by the
terms of any existing lease and other contracts and
(when possible) by external evidence such as current
market rents for similar properties in the same
location and condition, and using discount rates that
reflect current market assessments of the uncertainty
in the amount and timing of the cash flows.

The carrying amount of investment properties at 31 March
2025 was HK$641,576,000 (2024: HK$661,908,000).
Further details, including the key assumptions used for fair
value measurement and a sensitivity analysis, are given in
note 15 to the consolidated financial statements.

Estimation of net realisable value of properties
held for sale

The Group considers information from a variety of sources,
including recent prices of similar properties in the same
location and condition, with adjustments to reflect any
changes in economic conditions since the dates of
transactions that occurred at those prices. Particulars of the
properties held for sale of the Group are set out in note 18
to the consolidated financial statements.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

3 SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)
Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Land appreciation tax
Under the Provisional Regulations on land appreciation tax
("LAT") implemented upon the issuance of the Provisional
Regulations of the PRC on 27 January 1995, all gains
arising from the transfer of real estate properties in
Mainland China with effect from 1 January 1994 are
subject to LAT at progressive rates ranging from 30% to
60% on the appreciation of land value, being the proceeds
from sales of properties less deductible expenditures,
including the amortisation of land use rights, borrowing
costs and all property development expenditures.

The subsidiaries of the Group engaged in the property
development business in Mainland China are subject to LAT,
which have been included in income tax. However, the
implementation of these taxes varies amongst various
Mainland China cities and the Group has not finalised its
LAT returns with various tax authorities. Accordingly,
significant judgement is required in determining the amount
of land appreciation and its related taxes. The ultimate tax
determination is uncertain during the ordinary course of
business. The Group recognises these liabilities based on
management’s best estimates. When the final tax outcome
of these matters is different from the amounts that were
initially recorded, such differences will impact on the
income tax and provisions for LAT in the period in which
such determination is made.

Estimates regarding the realisability of deferred
tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to
the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the
amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised,
based upon the likely timing and level of future taxable
profits together with future tax planning strategies. The
carrying value of deferred tax assets relating to recognised
tax losses at 31 March 2025 was approximately
HK$774,000 (2024: HK$774,000). The amount of
unrecognised tax losses at 31 March 2025 was
approximately HK$274,613,000 (2024: HK$267,048,000).
Further details are contained in note 29 to the consolidated
financial statements.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND ESTIMATES (Continued)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Fair values of unlisted equity investments

The unlisted equity investments have been valued based on
market-based valuation techniques as detailed in note 38 to
the consolidated financial statements. The valuation requires
the Group to determine the comparable public companies
(peers) and select the price multiple. In addition, the Group
makes estimates about the discount for illiquidity and size
differences. The Group categorises the fair values of these
investments as Level 3 valuations. Further details are
included in note 17 to the consolidated financial
statements.

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into
business units based on their products and services and has
three (2024: three) reportable operating segments as
follows:

(@) the property development and investment business
segment is engaged in property development of
residential and commercial properties and the holding
of investment properties;

the trading business segment is engaged in the trading
of medical equipment and home security and
automation products; and

() the "others” segment comprises,
operation of hotels.

principally, the

Management monitors the results of the Group’s operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions
about resource allocation and performance assessment.
Segment performance is evaluated based on reportable
segment profit/loss, which is a measure of profit/loss before
tax. The profit/loss before tax is measured consistently with
the Group's profit/loss before tax except that interest and
dividend income, fair value changes on equity investments
at fair value through profit or loss, finance costs, share of
profits and losses of associates, gain or loss on disposal of
subsidiaries, gain on disposal of investment properties as
well as unallocated head office and corporate expenses are
excluded from such measurement.

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

3

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

T ESEHE R A ()

fhET T AMAEE (&)
FLTREREZ 2 FE
FEMBRERBRENSELEMBET
FETHE - FBENRA M REN
fE38 - AEERAKEEEAN L EHA
Al (RI%) FBZERRE - tLI - A%
EEERBDERRBRERERITESG
it ARERREREZRFELER
FIMEE - E—THEBEAREAHB
WARMET

EREEFE  AEEIRENMRES
HEBSET XBETH=ZfA(=ZZ=X
FoZff) A RELE S

MEBRRMREEBIE KF
EERARMEZDEER LR
BEREME

(a)

BHEBOE NEEEBER
BRRERZMBBCEM: &

(0 TTEMIDBEZEITEENLE -

EEEBLERASEREEDENE
o MEREBERD I R KRG
RE - DBRRBADBREBEARE D B4
A/ BETIAFME - T —ER A&
Fl/ EBEOTEAR - RBATDEN, B
BT EREAEENRTATNET, BB
APEEC ENBRREEA - BRAF
Bt ABRBRZBEEREZATFESR
B MBER oEBEQRENR
B HEMBAR ZWEHERE - W
EREVERZWHENASL R D RAEL R
AR TEERZTER -
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

4 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4 RESFER (E)
(Continued)
Segment assets exclude investments in associates, other DEEETE ?EE’\ BERNRZIKE &
unallocated head office and corporate assets as these assets fth K 7 B 48 REE HZFEE

are managed on a group basis. ?ﬁ%@ﬁ%ﬁ% °

Segment liabilities exclude other unallocated head office and SEBETEREEMAS LR AT
corporate liabilities as these liabilities are managed on a B BRSEENZRSEEEER -
group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with ENHMCHEREEN2EMNE =R
reference to the selling prices used for sales made to third HEMRAZEE  REGHEETR
parties at the then prevailing market prices. Z

Year ended 31 March 2025 BE-_ZS-_RF=A=+—AHLHE

166

E
Property
development
and
investment Trading
business business Others Total
MERRR
REEHK ECES S Hit Mgt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR TR
Segment revenue (note 5) BB (ME5)
Sales to external customers HETIBEP 76,108 40,262 19,098 135,468
Other income and gains HidA Rk 23,393 490 4 23,924
99,501 40,752 19,139 159,392
Total segment results PEEERT (27,193) 2,347 (6,257) (31,103)
Reconciliation: i
Bank interest income |ITHBHA 276
Fair value loss on equity RATEFABRE
investments at fair value ZIRERE 2 DT
through profit or loss, net EEE F8 (13,684)
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries ~ HEMBAR ZKE 18
Finance costs RHEER (18,312)
Share of profits and losses of AEBERARNK
associates, net BE 8 (195)
Unallocated expenses AOEHX (13,014)
Loss before tax BRHAIEE (76,014)
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

4 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4 ReEFEEHR(E)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2025 (Continued) BE—E-HE=A=+—HLE*EF
E (&)
Property
development
and
investment Trading
business business Others Total
MERRER
REXEK e RS Hitr @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Segment assets PEEE 1,441,365 23,959 166,563 1,631,887
Reconciliation: k-
Investments in associates REEERAIZRE 5,447
Corporate and other unallocated R AIREMADE
assets BE 104,754
Total assets BERE 1,742,088
Segment liabilities PEEE 161,190 13,425 55,891 230,506
Reconciliation: HE -
Corporate and other unallocated A& K EHMASE
liabilities afE 269,672
Total liabilities aERsE 500,178

Other segment information: HittnEER

Fair value loss on investment REMEATE

properties, net BB 38 14,094 — - 14,094
Loss on disposal of items of HENE BER

property, plant and equipment REEEER 2 3 9 14
Impairment/(reversal of Y BRI R E

impairment) of accounts CRERR)  F8

receivable, net 5,032 (387) (109) 4,536
Impairment of other receivables  E Y FUEEE 5,721 — — 5,721
Provision for inventories FEEE — 490 — 490
Provision for net realisable value of FEME 2 TR F

properties held for sale E# 9,964 — — 9,964
Deficit from revaluation of nE WEREHE

property, plant and equipment,  #{&{E 2 B4t

net FE - - 3,528 3,528
Depreciation of property, plant and  #13% * = R

equipment nE 7,393 459 6,535 14,387
Capital expenditure* BAR 225 4 52,555 52,784
N Capital expenditure represents additions of property, plant and * BARAREIEYE BERRME 015

equipment, including right-of-use assets for the operation of a new R —EBIEN (S RERE -
hotel.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B RBBEFEBEI - B TIIR)
4 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4 ReEFEER(HE)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2024 BE—ES-_mWE=A=1+—HLHE
E
Property
development
and
investment Trading
business business Others Total
MEERK
REEK ECES Hity w@Et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET FET FET
Segment revenue (note 5) DEWA (HEE5)
Sales to external customers HETINERE 86,284 28,715 13,075 128,074
Other income and gains HiA Rz 17,491 185 20 17,696
103,775 28,900 13,095 145,770
Total segment results PEEBEY (53,170) (2,782) (10,118) (66,070)
Reconciliation: HE -
Bank interest income RITFISWA 303
Dividend income from equity investments X AFEFABRERZ
at fair value through profit or loss REREREMRA 74,865
Fair value loss on equity investments at KA FE ABFEE
fair value through profit or loss, net ZREREZRT
BEE F8 (104,893)
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary LE—FRBAFZ
ez 31,015
Gain on disposal of investment HEREME 2 R
properties 41,641
Finance costs BBER (26,408)
Share of profits and losses of associates, 71 % 2 A3 M &
net BiE 58 40
Unallocated expenses AOBEHZ (12,134)
Loss before tax BREAIEE (61,641)
Segment assets PEEE 1,724,780 13,223 116,770 1,854,773
Reconciliation: Hi -
Investments in associates REELNRIZRE 5,638
Corporate and other unallocated assets A alREMADEEE 118,373
Total assets EE#E 1,978,784
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4 REIEEH(E)
(Continued)
Year ended 31 March 2024 (Continued) BE-ZE-_NE=A=+—HLHF
E (&)
Property
development
and
investment Trading
business business Others Total
MEERR
REXHK RS Hith B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TET THT
Segment liabilities 2EEE 232,265 10,665 15,129 258,059
Reconciliation: ik -
Corporate and other unallocated RRIREMADE
liabilities B 379,135
Total liabilities BEEE 637,194
Other segment information: HgpBER
Fair value loss on investment properties % &MEAFEER 32,364 — — 32,364
Loss on disposal of items of property, —~ HEWE - BRE L&
plant and equipment HEEER 3 — — 3
Impairment of accounts receivable, net  JEWERIERE  FHE 3,285 829 2,692 6,806
Impairment of other receivables HinEWHIERE 975 — — 975
Provision for inventories FERE — 530 — 530
Provision for net realisable value of FEMELNERF
properties held for sale BRE 15,696 — — 15,696
Deficit from revaluation of property, mE - BEREE
plant and equipment B B4 — — 3,436 3,436
Depreciation of property, plant and VER G
equipment e 7,521 472 4,287 12,280
Capital expenditure* BRI 130 54 155 339
* Capital expenditure represents additions of property, plant and * BABLIETEYE  MERDEE -

equipment.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BRmEEHI  BRETLIIR)

4 OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4 REFFER(E)
(Continued)
Geographical information

(a) Segment revenue from external customers

hEE R
(a) KENBEFEZZEKRA

2025 2024

—EB-RE —E_UE

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Hong Kong BB 37,745 25,137
Mainland China AR A i 97,723 102,937
Total revenue FERL N 135,468 128,074

FR A E R TR R IR (L

The revenue information above is based on locations

of the operations. BYEH ©
(b) Non-current assets (b) HFREBEE

2025 2024
—E-FHEF —TmF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Hong Kong 5 103,642 127,135
Mainland China A A i 899,541 952,550
Total non-current assets EREEEEE 1,003,183 1,079,685

THIERBEEEMIEREE
Pﬁ&ﬁﬂﬁ TEENE REE

DA ZFREREZAFETFAEBR
IRZRIEIRE -

The non-current assets information above is based on
the locations of the assets and excludes goodwill,
investments in associates and equity investments at
fair value through profit or loss.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

OPERATING SEGMENT INFORMATION 4 ReEFEEHR(E)
(Continued)
Information about major customers EREXEEFMNER
Revenue from customers individually amounting to over TERUE AR E B AEB10% 2 &P U
10% of the total revenue of the Group is as follows: AT
2025 2024
—E__RE —EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FE T FAET
Customer A@ BEAQ 36,876 N/A®
TEA©
Customer B®@ ®FB@ N/A® 37,371
TEA®
Notes: MI&E
@ The revenue was derived from sales of properties in the property @ WAV REHEMERBRIEEELE D
development and investment business segment. ZWE -
© Revenue from the customer is less than 10% of the total revenue of ® BEEWRAEAREEBRALA10% ©
the Group.
REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5 WA Hitg AR W=
An analysis of revenue is as follows: WASTWT :
2025 2024
—E-HE —E_MF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Revenue from contracts with BEFEAHWA
customers
Income from property development and ¥ ¥R R EEK 2
investment business WA 55,290 68,114
Income from trading of medical BEEEERBRRER
equipment and home security and ZREABEMZ
automation products A 40,262 28,715
Hotel operations R &8 19,098 13,075
114,650 109,904
Revenue from other sources H i A SRR
Gross rental income from investment REKREMEZEES
properties WA 20,818 18,170
135,468 128,074

MERREBREEAERAT —T-RFFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BRmEEHI  BRETLIIR)

5 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS

(Continued)

(a) Disaggregated revenue information

WA~ Hf A R Wz ()
(a) DIHFWAESR

2025
—E-FRE
Property
development
and
investment Trading
business business Others Total
MEBRR
HK$000 HK$000 HK$000 HK$000
FET FET FET FET
Geographical markets HEWH
Hong Kong BB — 37,745 — 37,745
Mainland China A B A 55,290 2,517 19,098 76,905
Total revenue from BEPat LR
contracts with
customers 55,290 40,262 19,098 114,650
Timing of revenue R ARRE
recognition
At a point in time B 3 — (B BRF 5 26 55,290 40,262 5,855 101,407
Over time & 5 P — — 13,243 13,243
Total revenue from BEPat AL
contracts with
customers 55,290 40,262 19,098 114,650
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(Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS
(Continued)
(a) Disaggregated revenue information

5

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

WA~ WA R K ()

(a) ZDHFWAER (&)

2024
—TMF
Property
development
and
investment Trading
business business Others Total
MEER KR
REX® B5EK HAith B
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Geographical markets i & T 5
Hong Kong BB — 25,137 — 25,137
Mainland China R A 3 68,114 3,578 13,075 84,767
Total revenue from BEAHWA
contracts with paler
customers 68,114 28,715 13,075 109,904
Timing of revenue BRBARRE
recognition
At a point in time 75— {8 5 1 B 68,114 28,715 2,540 99,369
Over time e B — — 10,535 10,535
Total revenue from BEAHIMA
contracts with plak]
customers 68,114 28,715 13,075 109,904
MEEREREEARAT —T_RFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

5 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5 WA~ HibA R (&)
(Continued)
(a) Disaggregated revenue information (a) ZIFBAESR (FE)
(Continued)
The following table shows the amounts of revenue TREJFARSHYVENE
recognised in the current reporting period that were &+ WA E AR AU A
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of k-

the reporting period:

2025 2024
—E-RE — T mE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Revenue recognised that was RBEHIHFAELD
included in contract liabilities at EB&ENEERWA
the beginning of the reporting
period
Sale of properties HEW 774 15,323
Sale of goods HEEm 4,125 1,263
4,899 16,586
(b) Performance obligations (b) BHEME
Information about the Group’s performance AEBMNBHETERBMNT
obligations is summarised below:
Sale of properties HEYF
The performance obligation is satisfied when the BHEETDRERIEEEIY
physical possession or the legal title of the completed ¥NEBERBEBERIETCHMABRER
property is obtained by the purchaser. FERK °
As a practical expedient, the transaction prices ERTIITRE A DEEF
allocated to the remaining performance obligations BHE E (REK I D REX)
(unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) are not disclosed MR ZERTEREE T BHRE
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements M iEE BAEMERRER
because all the remaining performance obligations in WEEBWAB BRI E FGE
relation to the income from property development NEETDRATEREBR A —F3K
and investment business are a part of contracts that INTHEH8—3o -
have an original expected duration of one year or
less.

174 Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2025 Annual Report



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

5 REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND GAINS 5
(Continued)
(b) Performance obligations (Continued)

WA~ WA R K ()

(b) BREEGE)

Sale of goods

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery
of the products and payment is generally due ranging
from 30 to 90 days from delivery and payment in
advance is normally required.

Hotel operations
The performance obligation of hotel services is
satisfied over time as services are rendered.

The performance obligation of food and beverage
operations of the hotel is satisfied when the control
of the food and beverage products is transferred,
being at the point when the customer purchases the
food and beverage items at the food and beverage
operations. Payment of the transaction is due
immediately at the point when the customer
purchases the food and beverage items.

As a practical expedient, the transaction prices
allocated to the remaining performance obligations
(unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) are not disclosed
in the notes to the consolidated financial statements
because all the remaining performance obligations in
relation to the income from hotel operations are a
part of contracts that have an original expected
duration of one year or less.

An analysis of other income and gains is as follows:

HEL T
BHEERERIMRERE ST
B MERBREERIMNENT
30E90H AR W — T
BRI

B JEEE
BIE 2B 2 BAOBER MRS
Z—BREREATEMX o

BENERLERNETINR®
Ko SR o E am AR il e R iy (AN
BEREREKSMEERM
RanIB B 2 FREE) TR » R B
FRETEERMMARMEARZ
By fi] B BBy 21 B o

ERATRENE  DEEFK
BHBEMECRERRE D REX)
MR HERTEREEPBHRE
BfsEeh 5 - AR EEE 2B
ABBOABRBENETIIR
AEHHR S —FHATHEL
B —H#B7 °

HAi WA RSO T

2025 2024

—E-HE —E_F

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FHET T

Bank interest income RITHEUA 276 303
Dividend income from equity BATFEFABREZ

investments at fair value through IR A A AR B A

profit or loss — 74,865
Gross rental income from property, plant RKE#% « BB K& E

and equipment ZHEB2IWA 6,451 6,197

Imputed interest income (note 21) HEFBSUA (FFsE21) 14,150 9,285

Others Hh 3,323 2,214

Total other income and gains H AW A K W 2= 4B RE 24,200 92,864
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

6 LOSS BEFORE TAX

The Group’'s loss before tax is arrived at after charging/

6 PFRBAEE

AEEBRBAEEDENER GEA)T

(crediting): B
2025 2024
—E-REF =St Fe S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Cost of properties sold BEEWMEKAR 45,202 62,184
Cost of inventories sold BEFEKA 26,276 19,061
Cost of services provided IR AR A AR 6,473 3,927
Provision for inventories, included GFEEE  sTANLE
in cost of inventories sold above EETFENAE 490 530
Auditor’s remuneration [2 Gl 1,150 1,100
Depreciation of property, plant and W BELKBINE
equipment 14,387 12,280
Expense relating to short-term lease BHEEHEE  HAX 340 317
Rental income on investment properties &Y% 2 & KA
less direct operating expenses of BEZEERT
HK$2,158,000 (2024: HK$1,846,000) 2,158,000/ 7T
—EPE
1,846,000/ 7T ) (18,660) (16,324)
Rental income on other properties less — E ¥ £ KA
direct operating expenses of WEHEEERT
HK$427,000 (2024: HK$517,000) 427,0007% 7T
—E - PF
517,000/ 7T) (6,024) (5,680)
Employee benefit expenses (including EEBMNAX (BEES
directors’ and chief executive’s REZITHAEME
remuneration (note 8)): (H5E8))
Wages, salaries, bonuses and allowances L& * %% - ALK
==z 36,721 35,333
Pension scheme contributions* RIRE T &I 683 700
Less: Amount capitalised B AR RIE (1,057) (1,581)
Total BER 36,347 34,452
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

LOSS BEFORE TAX (Continued) 6 KREAER(E)
2025 2024
—E-EHE —ET-_HF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Fair value loss on investment properties, %& ¥ % N FEERE
net g 14,094 32,364
Loss on disposal of items of property,  HEWE - BE K& E
plant and equipment” IHE W EEA 14 3
Impairment of accounts receivable, net" [EUZBRIER(E « JFEEA 4,536 6,806
Impairment of other receivables* b JE YR IB R EA 5,721 975
Fair value loss on equity investments at 1R AF{E ABHEZ
fair value through profit or loss, net RiERE 2 A FES
1B F8 13,684 104,893
Provision for net realisable value of SEMEAEERFER
properties held for sale” = 9,964 15,696
Foreign exchange differences, net" ME 3 ZE% - JFREA 3,846 2,236
Deficit from revaluation of property, W - WEREHEER
plant and equipment, net* Es4l - JFEEA 3,528 3,436
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEWBE ARz (18) (31,015)
Loss on sales and leaseback” ERAE 2 EEA 277 —
Gain on bargain purchase of an EEEE —HEEAF
associate” 2 Yzsn — (12)

* For the year ended 31 March 2025, there were no forfeited
contributions available to the Group to reduce contributions to the

pension schemes in future years (2024: Nil).

consolidated statement of profit or loss.

These amounts are included in “Other operating expenses, net” in the

* HE-ZT-_RAF=-A=1+—HLEFE &
5 B 30 452 U AR AT (R R SR B R IR
RetEHA(ZTZHF - &) -

" HERBIIAGEBRERAZ [ EEZH
X FE] e
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

7 FINANCE COSTS 7 HMEBEBEA
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: MBERSITET :
2025 2024
—E-RE —ET U4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Interest on: UTREEZFE
Bank loans and other borrowings RITERREMEE 18,808 28,295
Bonds payable &S 2,050 2,707
Lease liabilities HEAE 1,170 45
Total finance costs BB REEE 22,028 31,047
Less: Interest capitalised W BERNMEZAE (3,716) (4,639)
Total 4B RE 18,312 26,408
8 DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S 8 EERITETHAEM=
REMUNERATION
Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, RE ERAI R F SR FHERIZE383(1)
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, sections 383(1)(a), @ 0 OROBEARAT (BEES
(b), () and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and FZmER) RBIE2E  EFE M EETH
Part 2 of the Companies (Disclosure of information about ABEFAMEHEEDT
Benefits of Directors) Regulation, is as follows:
2025 2024
—E_RE —ZE P4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Fees we 960 940
Other emoluments: B
— Salaries and allowances — ¥ MOEBL 11,326 10,785
— Discretionary bonuses — MWIBIEAL 1,497 430
— Pension scheme contributions — RIKEFHEIE R 132 114
Subtotal INEF 12,955 11,329
Total 4AEE 13,915 12,269
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION (Continued)

(a)

Independent non-executive directors

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

8 EERFETHAEME (A
() BUFHATES

Fees

ws
2025 2024
—E-FE —E g
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Dr. Ho Chung Tai, Raymond f4EZRIE L 240 240
Ir Siu Man Po BOR TIRAD 240 240
Mr. Siu Kam Chau BmIRR L AE 240 240
Mr. Song Sio Chong* RN A& 240 220
Total Rk 960 940

There were no other emoluments paid or payable to
independent non-executive directors during the year
(2024: Nil).

# Mr. Song Sio Chong was appointed as an independent
non-executive director of the Company with effect from
1 May 2023.

FAMED RN BILIFRTT
ExzHEMME (T -_MmF:
&) -

# RNHFEERZERARTBEILI

WiTEE B-F-=%0A—H
HEAER o
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REVBBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BRmEEHI  BRETLIIR)

8 DIRECTORS’" AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S

REMUNERATION (Continued)
(b) Executive directors and chief executive

EERFTETBRAENE (B)

(b) BMITESERITHAR

2025
—EB-HE

Pension
Salaries and Discretionary scheme Total
allowances bonuses contributions remuneration

Bk
FeROERM B 1ETIEAL &R <458
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET

Mr. Tjia Boen Sien HXB R E
("Mr. Tjia")* ([#kE]) 4,200 175 — 4,375
Mr. Wang Jing Ning FTRELE
("Mr. Wang"”) ([E&=ED 3,110 1,170 — 4,280
Mr. Tjia Wai Yip, William  ###£ %% 2,297 95 114 2,506
Ms. Tse Hoi Ying EINSE S e 1,719 57 18 1,794
Total “RFE 11,326 1,497 132 12,955
2024
—ENF

Pension
Salaries and Discretionary scheme Total
allowances bonuses  contributions  remuneration

RIkS
e KoER By B IEAT T &R Bil ¢ 48 78
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T
Mr. Tjia Bk 4,200 175 — 4,375
Mr. Wang FEA 3,000 125 — 3,125
Mr. Tjia Wai Yip, William  ### %% 1,668 75 96 1,839
Ms. Tse Hoi Ying T L L 1,917 55 18 1,990
Total “RFE 10,785 430 114 11,329

There was no arrangement under which a director
waived or agreed to waive any remuneration during

the year (2024: Nil).

AEEABEEERRXRAER
ZEMME 2L (ZT_F

) o

HWEEMRBAEENTHRAS GE
EREMRED -

* Mr. Tjia is also the chief executive of the Group as defined in *
the Listing Rules.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

The five highest paid employees during the year included
four (2024: four) directors including the chief executive,
details of whose remuneration are set out in note 8 above.
Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining
one (2024: one) highest paid employee who is neither a
director nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

9

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

IERESHREERSREEAS

AEREZhGREHEERENA (=
T_F MR EF(BREIETHA
8) AREME ZF B8N EXXH
d8- AMAFEAESK—H(ZF W
F—RB)RFEENFARAEET
BABZ&SHEEZMEFBEWT

2025 2024

—EC-RE —T U

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Salaries and allowances e MoERL 1,078 1,178
Discretionary bonuses 1B TEAL 45 133
Pension scheme contributions RKEFHEIE R 18 18
Total #EE 1,141 1,329

The number of non-director and non-chief executive highest
paid employees whose remuneration fell within the
following bands is as follows:

S T E 2 B B BT
BABY BEHIEEABMT -

2025 2024

—E_RE —EU4F

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

A AE

Nil to HK$1,000,000 Z % 1,000,000/ 7T — —
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001/ T2 1,500,000/% 7T 1 1
Total 458 1 1
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e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B=EZEHIN

10

LA TTEIR)

FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES AND SENIOR 9 IEREHFESRSREEAES
MANAGEMENT (Continued) (%)
Other than the directors’ remuneration and five highest paid BRTUEREC EEME R AU ESH
employees disclosed above, the amounts paid to senior BB IR FIEERAREEAER
management as disclosed in the “Biographical details of CER|-—HEBEcaRERBAEZ
directors and senior management” section are as follows: BT
2025 2024
—EC-HF —T-mMF
HK$'000 HK$000
FET T
Salaries and allowances e KoERE 737 1,907
Discretionary bonuses B IEAT 23 146
Pension scheme contributions IRREETEIHER 18 39
Total HE 778 2,092
INCOME TAX 10 FRBH

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made for
the year ended 31 March 2025 as the Company and its
subsidiaries incorporated in Hong Kong have either no
assessable profits for the year or have sufficient tax losses
brought forward to set off against current year’s estimated
assessable profits for the year.

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax for the year ended
31 March 2024 has been made as the Group did not
generate any assessable profits arising in Hong Kong during
the year.

Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have been calculated
at the rates of tax prevailing in the jurisdictions in which
the Group operates.

LAT in Mainland China is levied at progressive rates ranging
from 30% to 60% on the appreciation of land value, being
the proceeds from the sale of properties less deductible
expenditure, including the amortisation of land use rights,
borrowing costs and all property development expenditures.

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2025 Annual Report

BEREE_T-_AF=A=+—HIt
FE2HENESHRERE  REEF
AARRE MEREBEMARLA M B A
AR ANFE A EEFSERRAVG N RER
RAEREEB R BEBRAREARFE
Bt ERBOR A -
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INCOME TAX (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

10 FrEH (&)

2025 2024
—EBE-RE —ZT 4
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Current — Hong Kong BVHl — &%
— Over provision in prior years — BAFEHERE — (66)
Current — Mainland China BVER — AR A
— Charge for the year — RFEXH 2,589 35,437
Current — Elsewhere BVER — Hithith[=
— Charge for the year — RFEELZH 278 —
— Qver provision in prior years — BAFEREEE — (2,963)
LAT in Mainland China FEA 2 T IEE
— Charge for the year — AFELTH — 1,475
— Qver provision in prior years — BEFEBEAREE (470) -
Deferred tax (note 29) EIERIE (H5E29) (2,522) (18,750)
Total tax (credit)/expense for the year —~ ANEEFE (KR),/
X #5R (125) 15,133

MERREBREEAERAT —T-RFFH
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REVBBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B=EZEHIN

10

1"

LA TTEIR)

INCOME TAX (Continued) 10 FREH (&)
A reconciliation of the tax (credit)/expense applicable to loss BRANERARR T RENE R BT
before tax at the statutory tax rates for the jurisdictions in ERERZEEREFTECRBAIEE
which the Company and its subsidiaries are domiciled to the B (Ee), X BEERHRETE 2
tax charge at the effective tax rate is as follows: MR HROT
2025 2024
—E-RE —Z O4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Loss before tax B RIE B (76,014) (61,641)
Tax at the applicable statutory tax rates IZEAEEMEAE 2
TIA (14,724) (3,995)
Profits and losses attributable Bt N B G 3R A 2
to associates &8 32 9)
Income not subject to tax THEEZ WA (7,464) (28,135)
Expenses not deductible for tax AR R I8 2 S 9,151 930
Effect of withholding tax at 10% or 5% AEBERFHZWEA
on the distributable profits of the Al A 5 R A R
Group's PRC subsidiaries W 10% 3k 5% Fa 055 =
% (344) (870)
Tax relating to disposal of subsidiaries ABHEMB AR ZHEA — 33,905
Tax losses utilised from previous periods ) fH @ BifE ~ B E & 18 (283) (568)
Tax losses and temporary differences not KRz FHIEEIE K
recognised TRER 12,365 15,155
LAT T IR (E R — 1,475
Over provision in prior years BEFEBERE (470) (3,029)
Others H A 1,612 274
Tax (credit)/expense FRm(Ee), X (125) 15,133
The share of tax charge attributable to associates Bt & X ] FE 5 B0 18 [ 32 96,0008 7T (=
amounting to HK$96,000 (2024: HK$158,000) is included in T Y4 : 158,000/ ) F AR A BR
“Share of profits and losses of associates, net” on the face R DWEBE NIRRT REE - FE]
of the consolidated statement of profit or loss. A e
DIVIDEND 11 RE

No dividend has been declared by the Company during the

years ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

12 LOSS PER SHARE ATTRIBUTABLE TO

ORDINARY EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
COMPANY

The calculation of the basic loss per share amount is based
on the loss for the year attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the Company, and the weighted average number
of ordinary shares of 1,466,820,600 (2024: 1,466,820,600)
in issue during the year.

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share
amounts attributable to ordinary equity holders of the
Company is based on the following data:

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

12

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

ARAEBRRAFEARGEER
BR

BREAEESBIIRBEAQRREER
AEBABEFABELFREETZ
T 3F AL N S 19 #01,466,820,600 8% (—
& — PU4F : 1,466,820,600%) 5+ & -

ARREBBRAFE ARIGERELRR
BEBRSBIE TIBEFE

2025 2024
—E-RE —E 4
HK$'000 HK$'000
TR FHT
Loss Bia
Loss attributable to ordinary equity GRERREEEIET
holders of the Company, used in the BB ZARAE
basic and diluted loss per share BRAFEE ARG
calculation &8 73,724 75,691
2025 2024
—E-RE =S V0 S
Number of Number of
shares shares
B2 2 A% &1
Shares v
Weighted average number of ordinary iﬂﬁ%$)§ﬂ§§ﬂ'§ﬁﬁﬁﬁ
shares in issue during the year used in AT L ER
the basic loss per share calculation hnkE 19 1,466,820,600 1,466,820,600

No adjustment has been made to the basic loss per share
amounts presented for the years ended 31 March 2025
and 2024 in respect of a dilution as the Group had no
potential dilutive ordinary shares in issue during the years
ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

MERREBEEFRAAF
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REVBBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

13 GOODWILL 13 HE
HK$'000
FAET
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, 1 April 2024 and R-E-_=FMA—H -
31 March 2025: —ZE-NF=RA=+—AH"
“E-HFEWMA—B K
—E-_RF=A=+—8":
Cost B AR 1,683
Accumulated impairment Z&HRE (1,683)

Net carrying amount

FRmEFE —

Goodwill arose from the acquisition of 60% equity interest
in Deson Metals Company Limited (“DMCL"), which is
engaged in trading of construction materials. The goodwill
arising from the acquisition of DMCL has been allocated to
the construction materials trading business for impairment
testing purposes. In view of increasingly competitive
business environment of construction industry, management
considered that its recoverable amount which was
determined based on value-in-use using discount rate of
12% was minimal. Therefore, the goodwill had been fully
impaired since the year ended 31 March 2023.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e B R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

™ N
14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 X -BERRHE
Right-of-use assets Owned assets
RREEE BEEE
Furniture ~ Office and
Leasehold Leased Leasehold and other  Tools and Motor
land  properties Total ~ Buildings improvements fixtures equipment equipment  vehicles Total Total
BAZR

HEL#H HENE &% | 2 HELE BARKE HfRFE TARRK RE 2% 4%
HKS'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HKS$'000  HKS'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TET TET TET TER TER THR THT TET TET TET TER

31 March 2025

At 31 March 2024 and
1 April 2024

Cost or valuation 86,191 1,031 87,222 165,743 5,930 874 2,391 139 1,602 176,679 263,901
Accumulated depreciation ZitHE (3m3) (373) — (5,776) (597) (1,968 (%) (1,245 (9,682  (10,05)
Net carrying amount EEFE 86,191 658 86,849 165,743 154 277 423 43 357 166,997 253,846
At 1 April 2024, net of RZZ-MF
accumulated depreciation mA-A-
A 25HTE 86,191 658 86849 165743 154 m 423 L] 357 166997 253,846
Additions B - 37,432 37,432 2 14,984 125 18 - 223 15,352 52,784
Transfer from completed BREERIGE
properties held for sales nE — — — 36,174 — — — — — 36,174 36,174
Disposals HE - - - - (6) (10) - - (16) (16)
Surplus/(deficit) on revaluation HEzIK 2 EfE
charged to profit or loss B/ (B4 1,453 - 1,453 (4,981) - - - - - (4,981  (3,528)
(Deficit)surplus on revaluation R 42 ElE
(charged)/credited to other ~ (31B)/3tAZ
comprehensive income it (F4)/
B (20,287) - (20,287) 3,347 - - - - - 3,347 (16,940)
Depreciation provided during £ RHRHTE
the year (3,671) (2,215) (5,886) (7,654) (546) (1) (141) (15) (68) (8,501) (14,387)
Exchange realignment EXEE (80) (329) (409) (1,235) (135) (1) (1) — ) (1,374) (1,783)
At 31 March 2025 R-Z-_1%
=ZA=1-H 63,606 35,546 99,152 191,396 14,457 318 289 28 510 206,998 306,150
At 31 March 2025
Cost or valuation 63,606 38,117 101,723 191,396 20,720 890 2,202 139 1,815 217,162 318,885
Accumulated depreciation 2itTE (2,571) (2,571) - (6,263) (572) (1,913 (111) (1.305)  (10,164)  (12,735)
Net carrying amount RAFE 63,606 35,546 99,152 191,396 14,457 318 289 28 510 206,998 306,150
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e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BRmEEHI  BRETLIIR)

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 YE- -BERKRE(E)
(Continued)
Right-of-use assets Owned assets
EREEE BEEE
Office and
Leasehold Leased Leasehold  Furniture other  Tools and Motor
land  properties Total  Buildings  improvements and fixtures ~ equipment  equipment vehicles Total Total
BRER

BEL HENZ 2% BT HEXE RARKE EbRE TARRE "E 2% et
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL TEL

31 March 2024 b1 -3
=B=t-H

At 31 March 2023 and i

1 April 2023 ZA=t-REk
“EI=E
mE-A
Cost or valuation KA fEE 103,796 1031 104827 176,448 6,097 91 2,491 128 1617 187,692 292,519
Accumulated depreciation ZiHE - (29) (29) - (6,097) (576) (2,031) (84) (1,239 (10,027)  (10,056)
Net carrying amount REFE 103,79 1002 104798 176,448 - 335 460 44 378 177665 282,463

At 1 April 2023, net of RZZZ=F

accumulated depreciation mA-R"
Nk 2HHTE 103,796 1002 104798 176,448 - 335 460 44 378 177665 282,463
Additions E-h — — - - 155 2 130 19 33 339 339
Disposals e - - - — - - B) - - B B
Deficit on revaluation charged RE#HINB 2 EfE
to profit or loss B4 (1,847) — (1,847) (1,589) — — — — — (1,589) (3,436)

(Deficit)/surplus on revaluation A% EUL
(charged)/credited to other  (31%) /3t A2
comprehensive income B (B4)/

B (11,027) - (11,027) 4,464 - - - - - 4,464 (6,563)
Depreciation provided during AR E
the year (4,215) (344) (4,559) (7,444) - (57) (155) (17) (48) (7,121) (12,280)
Bxchange realignment EXA%E (516) — (516) (6,136) (1 B 9 3) (6) (6,158) (6,674)
At 31 March 2024 RZZ-MEF
=A=1-AH 86,191 658 86,849 165,743 154 277 423 43 357 166,997 253,846
At 31 March 2024 RZZZmF
=A=1-A
Cost or valuation RASEE 86,191 1,031 87,222 165,743 5,930 874 2,391 139 1,602 176,679 263,901
Accumulated depreciation Rt E - (373) (373) — (5,776) (597)  (1,968) (9) (1,245) (9682)  (10,055)
Net carrying amount FEFE 86,191 658 86,849 165,743 154 277 423 43 357 166,997 253,846
Note: The Group's right-of-use assets represent prepaid land lease payments Misk: AEBEREEERBEN B ERE
and leased properties. The leasehold land, together with the owned LREWME HELHERBEBEFIE
buildings, are held for own use. The land leases are expiring in 2047 EER - THEEER _TNLFE-ZT
to 2053. h=F2ZHER -
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PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)

On 25 June 2024, the Group and eight independent third
parties (the “Purchasers”) entered into sale and leaseback
agreements pursuant to which (i) the Group agreed to sell
and the Purchasers agreed to acquire the properties at a
consideration of approximately HK$39,633,000 (the
“Disposal”); and (ii) the Purchasers agreed to lease the
properties to the Group for a term of 15 years starting
from the completion date of the Disposal (the
“Completion”). The sale and leaseback transaction was
completed on 27 August 2024. The properties with a net
carrying amount of approximately HK$35,220,000 has been
derecognised from completed property held for sale. The
lease liabilities arising from the lease agreements of
approximately HK$41,732,000 are recognised with the
related right-of-use assets of approximately HK$37,432,000
at the Completion.

As a result, the Group has recognised a loss on the sale
and leaseback transaction of approximately HK$277,000
that is included in the “Other operating expenses, net” in
the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year
ended 31 March 2025.

The Group’s leasehold land and buildings were revalued
individually at the end of the reporting period by Peak
Vision Appraisals Limited, an independent professional
qualified valuer, at an aggregate open market value of
HK$255,002,000 (2024: HK$251,934,000) based on their
existing use.

A revaluation deficits of HK$16,940,000 (2024:
HK$6,563,000) and revaluation deficits aggregating
HK$3,528,000 (2024: HK$3,436,000), resulting from the
above valuations, have been charged to other
comprehensive income and charged to profit or loss during
the year ended 31 March 2025 respectively.

Had these land and buildings been carried at historical cost
less accumulated depreciation, their carrying amount would
have been approximately HK$180,285,000 (2024:
HK$146,260,000).

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

14

MERREBEEFRAAF

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

Y3 - MERRE (E)

RZE-_WNFANAZ+HRHHE - AEEH

N&BrFE=H (BRI E%MED
e Bt VAEBERELERER

H%H&zﬁ%%% » R{E#/539,633,0007%
T(THEEHE]D  RMMEAFRELED
X¥T7AEE BHEFETKBH (%
1) RETAHI5F - EEABZZER
ZEZMFNAZFEBERK - REDF
{E4935,220,0008 THXEEBE %R T
HEVEKIIER HERBEEEZ
FHEREL41,732,000/8 LB &£
FRHER HBETEEEEDN A
37,432,000/ 7¢ °

Hit - NEBERRERER S EE
#9277,0008 L EEFHAHEZT
—HEZA=T—BHIEFENLZA
FATHAMGEERT - JF5E] -

B

AEBEZHELHREFRREHRH
3%13%%/5\ié’f%ﬁ%ﬁﬂﬁ%%%”ﬁﬁﬁﬁﬁ’&

AR ARERER /‘Eﬂ?ﬁfﬁi%
255,002 oooﬂ%n(— LT O F

251,934,000 7T) °

A _F it (& i 2= AR Y 22 17 54 16,940,000
BT (ZZ P4 : 6,563,00008 7T) &
HhE A F£3,528,000% T (ZZE =
F 13,436,000 7L) ENRIRNEEE
THEFZAZ=t—HIEFERHEMEE
W R IBE R o

i 5% % £ 3 AR FIRIE 2 AR R EHHT

B8R - HEREMEE B4 4180,285,000
BT (Z 2 PU4E : 146,260,000 7T) ©
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e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)
As at 31 March 2025, certain leasehold land and buildings
of the Group with an aggregate carrying amount of
HK$140,952,000 (2024: HK$167,060,000) were pledged to
secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group (note
26).

The Group appointed an external valuer to be responsible
for the external valuation of the Group’s properties held for
own use and had discussions with the valuer on the
valuation assumptions and valuation results when the
valuation is performed for annual financial reporting.

Fair value hierarchy
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement
hierarchy of the Group’s properties held for own use:

14 ¥ -BERZE(E)

R-ZE-_RF=ZA=Z+—H E@A
#8{H140,952,0008 7L (—Z & — P9 4 :
167,060,000 7L) v A EEE THEL
HEREFHE TR (EALEEER
BTRITEEZER (HIE26) ©

AEBEZEIMEREEME EEREERF
tEE R MEETINBIEE - WRBLF
BT RE AT ER - B ER R
BRE L GEERETIR

DN EER
TREAAEEFEERYEQFER
EFR

2025
ZEZEHF
Significant Significant
Quoted prices in observable unobservable
active markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
WEBRMSZ BEXATEE BARAEE
wE W ABE WABE
(8% 51—) (& 5B=) (|BI=) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TER TERT TERT
Recurring fair value A TNIHBETZE
measurement for: BHATERNE:
Hotel property* R — — 140,699 140,699
Commercial properties and [EESVEYSEER: Kok
car park spaces** — — 114,303 114,303
Properties held for own use  #H{EE A E — — 255,002 255,002
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REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 ¥ BERSEE)
(Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) ANFEER(A)
2024
—E-mEF
Significant Significant
Quoted prices in observable unobservable
active markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RIERMHZ BRAEE EATAHE
wE AR B ABUR
(& 51— (H&B1=) (A=) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FHEL FHEL
Recurring fair value HATIEEETZ
measurement for: BEHEATEHE:
Hotel property* B E 5 — — 113,400 113,400
Commercial properties and EEDERIFERL >
car park spaces** — — 138,534 138,534
Properties held for own use  H{EEBYE — — 251,934 251,934
* Included leasehold land of HK$8,560,000 (2024: HK$7,452,000) under * BIEFEAEAE THHE 1+ 8,560,000/
right-of-use assets. (=T =M% : 7,452,000/ T) °
o Included leasehold land of HK$55,046,000 (2024: HK$78,739,000) x BEEREEETWEE 1 155,046,000
under right-of-use assets. BT (ZZ N4 : 78,739,000 7T) °
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value RER - A — R R = 2 A E AT
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no BFFrEcEHE  TEERZIEEAR
transfers into or out of Level 3 (2024: Nil). FI=(ZZT_PUF : ) -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 YE- -BERKRE(E)
(Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) NFEER(E)
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within DERRNTFESHAR =R AT EE
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy: 2R
2025 2024
—E-RE —ENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Carrying amount at beginning of year  RF# ZEREE 251,934 280,244
Addition N 2 —
Transfer from completed properties held EHEE D& LiFEWE
for sale 36,174 —
Deficit on revaluation recognised in other 1 £ b2 4 %5 A E R
comprehensive income, net 2 EMEA - FE (16,940) (6,563)
Deficit on revaluation recognised in profit R85 R~ E
or loss, net PR (3.528) (3,436)
Depreciation e (11,325) (11,659)
Exchange realignment ME W A (1,315) (6,652)
Carrying amount at end of year RERZEEA 255,002 251,934
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e B R MR

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14 Y¥ - BERRE (E)
(Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued) NEEER(E)
Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and BIFERAMEGEMAZHES EZRE
the key inputs to the valuation of properties held for own T ABEBESRRET
use:
Valuation Significant
technique unobservable inputs Range/weighted average
HEF*E EXTAHERABE EEMEFEHE
2025 2024
—E-REF —EPF
Hotel property Investment method  Estimated rental value RMB36 to RMB39
(per square meter per RMB64
month)
BIEY KEE HEHEEE AR¥36TE AR¥E397T
(BAEFIK) AR%647T
Term yield 2.0% to 5.5% 5.25%
FHM R E 2.0%ZE5.5%
Reversionary vyield 6.0% to 6.25% 6%
ERlax 6.0% £6.25%
Commercial Direct comparison Adjusted market unit HK$1,700 to HK$1,855 to
properties approach selling price (per square HK$4,860 HK$5,947
foot)
BEME BELBUR KRBT S EMLER 1,700 T & 1,855 L&
(BEAR) 4,860 7T 5,947 7
Car park spaces Direct comparison Adjusted market unit RMB203,000 RMB240,000
approach selling price
BEAL HELBOR KARTSEMERE  AKW203,000t AR¥240,0007T
The investment method REZE
Under the investment method, fair value is estimated on the BEIEEL A FEDEZENEBR
basis of capitalisation of existing rent receivable from the EHEZEUGRERE REBTERMS
existing tenancies and the potential reversionary market rent METURERMb 2 HEMIGE -

of the properties.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

14 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
The investment method (Continued)
The valuation takes into account the characteristics of the
properties held for own use, which included the location,
size, shape, view, floor level, year of completion and other
factors collectively, to arrive at the estimated rental value
and reversionary yield, while it takes into account the rental
value generated from the existing lease term to arrive at the
term yield.

An increase/decrease in estimated rental value would result
in an increase/decrease in the fair value of the properties
held for own use while an increase/decrease in term yield
and reversionary yield would result in a decrease/increase in
the fair value of the properties held for own use.

The direct comparison approach

Under the direct comparison approach, fair value is
estimated by the direct comparison method on the
assumption of the sale of the property interest with the
benefit of vacant possession and by referring to comparable
sales transactions as available in the market.

The valuation takes into account the characteristics of the
properties held for own use, which included the location,
size, shape, view, floor level, year of completion and other
factors collectively, to arrive at the market price per square
foot and each car park space.

The key input was the market price per square foot and
each car park space, where a significant increase/decrease
in the market price would result in a significant increase/
decrease in the fair value of the properties held for own
use.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

15

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 15 REYEF
2025 2024
ZE-hF —E-mF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHExT FHET
Carrying amount at beginning of year ~ RFHZEREE 661,908 684,114
Net loss from fair value adjustment NP EBARZEEEE (14,094) (32,364)

Transfer from completed properties held #8218 L&y

for sale — 45,984
Exchange realignment PE A (6,238) (35,826)
Carrying amount at end of year RERZREE 641,576 661,908

The Group’s investment properties were revalued
on 31 March 2025 based on a valuation performed
by Peak Vision Appraisals Limited, an independent
professional qualified valuer, at HK$641,576,000 (2024:
HK$661,908,000).

As at 31 March 2025, certain investment properties of the
Group with an aggregate carrying amount of
HK$454,750,000 (2024: HK$442,800,000) were pledged to
secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group (note
26).

The Group as lessor

The Group leased certain of its properties under operating
lease arrangements, with leases negotiated for terms
ranging from one to twenty years. The terms of the leases
generally also require the tenants to pay security deposits
and provide for periodic rent adjustments according to the
then prevailing market conditions.

MERREBEEFRAAF

REBEBELEEEGERMHEMSETH
ERARBEITNGHEE AEB2ZEA
WER-_TE_AF=ZA=+—H=E
& £641,576,000/8 7T (= T Z— O 4F -
661,908,000/ 7T) °

RZZE_RF=A=+—08 ' AEEE

[ 48 {8 /454,750,000 T (== — /M
F 1 442,800,000/ 70) K& FIREME
W (EAAEBERETRITEER
R PEIR (F95E26) °

REEESHEA

AEERBEEHEOLHEEETY
X RO/ -—FE—_TH1%-
AN - EVER — R ESKIB P X R E
T URTEAREERFHRENAEMR

ZERFFR
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

15

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

The Group as lessor (Continued)

At 31 March 2025, the Group had total future minimum
lease receivables under non-cancellable operating leases with
its tenants falling due as follows:

15 REWE (&)

AEEEZHEAN (B
RZZE_AF=A=+—H8 FEER
EEEPAT M AL EMEL - &
AR REEE U IEAERN T B
25

2025 2024

—E-RHE ZTZOF

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FHET

Within one year —F R 22,020 23,359
In the second to fifth years, inclusive FFEFRF

(BIEEEMF) 79,791 79,217

After five years hF & 40,145 54,608

141,956 157,184

No contingent rental receivable was recognised by the
Group during the year (2024: Nil).

The directors of the Company have determined that the
investment properties are hotel properties and commercial
properties, based on the nature, characteristics and risk of
the properties. Each year, the Group appoints an external
valuer to be responsible for the external valuation of the
Group's properties and has discussions with the valuer on
the valuation assumptions and valuation results when the
valuation is performed for annual financial reporting.

Particulars of the Group’s investment properties are included
on page 49.
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INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

15 REWXE (&)

Fair value hierarchy NFEER
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement TRENAEFREMENFEFES
hierarchy of the Group’s investment properties: F
2025
—E-RE
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
WERMHZ BEXABE BEAFAHE
#E WAYE WAHE
(& 5B1—) (& 5B1=) (®BI=) mat
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TERT TERT
Recurring fair value MATERETZ
measurement for: EEENTERE
Hotel properties BIEME — — 186,826 186,826
Commercial properties EEME — — 454,750 454,750
— — 641,576 641,576
2024
—ENF
Quoted prices Significant Significant
in active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
RERTHZ EAUTEE EATAER
BE AR A B
(51—) (& R1=) (&RI1=) st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FET
Recurring fair value FATIERETZ
measurement for: mEMEATEFE:
Hotel properties BIEME — — 219,108 219,108
Commercial properties HMEME — — 442,800 442,800
— — 661,908 661,908

During the vyear, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1
transfers into or out of Level 3 (2024: Nil).

and Level

2 and no

REAR - FRI—BEH — 2 AL EAF
BFFEZEE  TESEExEEAR

RIZ(ZE_PE : M) o

BEEREREABFRAT

—E-REFER
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

15 INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

15 REWX(E)
ATFEER(HE)
ARRDTESEBRB =N AT Es
B2 YHE

Hotel Commercial

properties properties Total
BIEY % mEYE et
HK$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000
FAIT FAIT FHE T
Carrying amount at 1 April 2023 i =
mMA—RZEREE 196,194 487,920 684,114
Net loss from a fair value KEEHERRTER
adjustment recognised HEZEE F5 (12,744) (19,620) (32,364)
Transfer from completed properties #EE D& THFEYE
held for sale 45,984 — 45,984
Exchange realignment ME 5 TR (10,326) (25,500) (35,826)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2024 HRZ-Z U4
and 1 April 2024 =A=+—8k
—E-EF
mA—AZREEA 219,108 442,800 661,908
Net (loss)/gain from a fair value RKEEHERRFE
adjustment recognised HEZ (BR)/
Was o FER (30,294) 16,200 (14,094)
Exchange realignment ME 5 R (1,988) (4,250) (6,238)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2025 RZ-ZE_-HF
=A=+t—Hz
BRMHEE 186,826 454,750 641,576

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2025 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBRERME

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BSHEZHIN

15

REWE (&)
D ESER(E)

LA TTEIR)

BREMEBEMAZEETNEZREEE

Reversionary yield
R

The investment method

Under the investment method, fair value is estimated on the
basis of capitalisation of existing rent receivable from the
existing tenancies and the potential reversionary market rent
of the properties.

The valuation takes into account the characteristics of the
investment properties, which included the location, size,
shape, view, floor level, year of completion and other
factors collectively, to arrive at the estimated rental value
and reversionary yield, while it takes into account the rental
value generated from the existing lease term to arrive at the
term yield.

An increase/decrease in estimated rental value would result
in an increase/decrease in the fair value of the investment
properties while an increase/decrease in term yield and
reversionary yield would result in a decrease/increase in the
fair value of the investment properties.

6.25% to 7.25%
6.25% £7.25%

the key inputs to the valuation of investment properties: ABBEH M T -
Valuation Significant
technique unobservable inputs Range/weighted average
RER*E EXTUEERAYE gBE MET9H
2025 2024
—EBE-RE —E -
Hotel properties Investment method  Estimated rental value RMB25 to RMB31 to
and commercial (per square meter per RMB46 RMB39
properties month)
BIEMELEER REE et e EE AR®2TE AR®31TLE
/S (FRAEFHK) ARMa6n ARH397T
Term yield 3.75% to 6.25% 2.00% to 6.00%
FH W X 3.75%%6.25%  2.00% £6.00%

6.00% to 7.00%
6.00%%7.00%

REZE

BRIBRE R RFENEZEWEBR
EHEZEUWBEEHRENEEEREMS
He TFTUERz EEMME -

ETHERSRBERREMEZR
oBRMLE HE-ER S8 8
CEREMREMAR GG
HEeBERERREEX AKEEER
EHMEL 2 HEEE  UWBHFHK

HE .

At A EEEM BRI EEREEY
ERNTVELA/ T MEHREER
EREEEN RS EEBUREME
RNFETEK L

MERREBREEAERAT —T-RFFH
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

16 INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

16 REELQ

AzRE

2025 2024
—ERE —ZE P4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Share of net assets EihEEFE 5,447 5,638
Amounts due from associates JE U B 8 1 B 5K I8 4,867 3,868
Amounts due to associates FEAST B 2 N B FRIB — (63)
The balances with associates are unsecured, interest-free MBS NG B AEET - 2B RAE
and repayable on demand. HREREE -
Particulars of the principal associates are as follows: FEBRRRZHBEET

Percentage of
ownership attributable to ownership attributable to
the Group as at

31 March 2025

Percentage of

the Group as at
31 March 2024

R-B-RF R-B-mEF
ZA=t-H%KE ZRA=+—BF4£E
EEREREDN EEEEREDN
Issued ordinary/ Group Group
Place of incorporation/  registered share effective  Held by a effective  Held by a
Name registration and business capital interest  subsidiary interest  subsidiary  Principal activities
BRTEE/ AREER m-HHE AEEER H-BNE
£ AMRYL BEREEDY EMRE EE  NEEF Bx  RARFE  EEEE
Axxonsoft Hong Kong Limited ~ Hong Kong HK$500,000 50 50 50 50  Investment holding and
software licensing
Bk 500,000/ 7 RERRRRM R
SecurePlus Limited Hong Kong HK$1,500,000 40 40 40 40  Trading of intelligent
security system
equipment
30 1,500,000/ 7T BHRZEZRREEE
Hope4Care Limited Hong Kong HK$10 20 20 20 20 Research and
development of
medical equipment
BEGRMEERAR B 10/87T BEREWE
Tian Tong Satellite Hong Kong HK$100,000 24.5 49 100 100 Provision of
Communication Limited* telecommunication
network services
XBHERABRAR* B 100,000/ 7T RESABERS
UltraX Technologies Co., Ltd. ~ Taiwan TWD3,000,000 35 35 35 35  Trading of medical
equipment
RENFAEBRAA = #18%3,000,0007T BERGBES
* The Group disposed of 51% equity interest in Tian Tong Satellite * NEE LIRS A ES1,000%5 T HE RBE

Communication Limited (“Tian Tong”) with a cash consideration of
HK$51,000. The fair value of the remaining equity interest in Tian
Tong, was deemed as the investment cost.
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INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued)

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

16

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results
for the year or formed a substantial portion of the net
assets of the Group. To give details of other associates
would, in the opinion of the directors, result in particulars

of excessive length.

The Group’s shareholdings in the associates are held

through subsidiaries of the Company.

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

RBERT 2RE (F)
ERANEREEARGHAREARSF
EXEBREIBZEIBRAEEEE
FEEERNZAKEBRERR  -ESF
RAMGH bR & R B ZFEIL - &
A BN IR

AREBRBE QB 2 BHETE RN RE
MBARS -

TRIVRAEE 2B & R F 23 3R]

information of the Group’s associates that are not BEECAFHBER
individually material:
2025 2024
—E-RHE —E_MF
HKS$’'000 HK$'000
FTET FHET
Share of the associates’ profits and D AEEEE R AF A A
losses for the year, net K EE - FE (195) 40
Share of the associates’ other DIEEE AR HMER
comprehensive loss &8 (36) (19)
Share of the associates’ total DIEEE AR EE
comprehensive (loss)/income (F518) Wz 4258 (231) 21
Dividend received BB — (675)
Gain on bargain purchase of additional %88 2 Bt 4 A 5B 4N
interests in associates a2 Wz — 12
Aggregate carrying amount of the IS B A B A BE B
Group’s investments in the associates TEBERXZIREZEK
that are not individually material [ERERCE:] 5,447 5,638
HEFREREEARLAR —T_AFFRH
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B=EZEHIN

16

17

LA TTEIR)

INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES (Continued) 16
In prior year, the Group has discontinued the recognition of
its share of loss of an associate, Axxonsoft Hong Kong
Limited (“Axxonsoft HK"”), because the share of loss of the
associate exceeded the Group's interest in the associate and
the Group has no obligation to take up further losses. The
amount of the Group’s unrecognised share of losses of this
associate for the last year and cumulatively were
HK$268,000 and HK$1,126,000, respectively. In current
year, Axxonsoft HK reported profits, and the Group
resumed recognising its share of those profits after its share
of the profits equal to this unrecognised cumulative loss of
HK$1,126,000.

The Group has discontinued the recognition of its share of
loss of an associate, Tian Tong, because the share of loss of
the associate exceeded the Group's interest in the associate
and the Group has no obligation to take up further losses.
The amount of the Group’s unrecognised share of losses of
this associate for the current year and cumulatively were
HK$178,308 and HK$178,308, respectively.

REEE QT 2RE (&)
RE—BFE AERDKILEERES
16 B & A B Axxonsoft Hong Kong
Limited ([ Axxonsoft HK]) 7 518 - R
E2 7 (R 5 & 2 B ES 18 R o AN &2 B 0B
BRI AR BN E B EAIE
HE—TEE  AEBREFRERDMG
IHBE & A R 2 £ 35 B 25 4268,000
BT % 1,126,000 T c RAFE -
Axxonsoft HKEE1F & F - FHE 5 (55 T
BER I ARTER R EE1,126,000/8
Lk ASBEREERESHZER
F o

AEBEERIEERES(NHEARIRRA
ZEER REARSEHEAREEBLH
REBRBE AR 2D MAEEL
BEOREE—PEIE AEERAEAF
EARERDEHBERARBEZEED
RIR5HA178,308/8 K% 178,308 T °

EQUITY INVESTMENTS AT FAIR VALUE 17 BRAFEFABBZROBRERE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS
2025 2024
—E-EHE —EF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
Equity investments at fair value BROFEFABREN
through profit or loss RERE
Unlisted equity investments, at fair value 3F M RERE @ EAQ
‘1A
— Century Rosy Limited — Century Rosy Limited 839 3,845
— Excel Castle International Limited — BREBEAERRA A 26,928 32,305
— Pamfleet Shanghai Real Estate Fund I, — Pamfleet Shanghai
L.P. Real Estate Fund I,
L.P. 363 3,665
Total B 28,130 39,815
The Group received dividend in the amount of REBEEZZT-_WMF=-A=+—8ItF

HK$74,865,000 from Deson Development International
Holdings Investment Limited, one of the unlisted equity
investments, during the year ended 31 March 2024.
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REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

18 PROPERTIES HELD FOR SALE

18 FEWE

2025 2024

—E-HE —ET_MF

HK$’'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

Completed properties held for sale ERTHREWE 459,313 580,992

As at 31 March 2025, certain properties held for sale of the
Group with an aggregate carrying amount of
HK$144,450,000 (2024: HK$145,800,000) were pledged to
secure certain banking facilities granted to the Group (note

26).

Particulars of the Group’s properties held for sale are

included on page 48.

B 2R (MIsE26) ©

R-Z-_RE=A=+—0 EEHEE
144,450,000 0 (=& — M F
145,800,000/ 7T) 2 AEEE THEY
XOHEW - (EAREEERSE TIRITE

AEBFEMEZFIBHNFA8H °

19 INVENTORIES 19 #FE

2025 2024
—E_RE —EIF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAT
Trading goods R5Em 5,171 3,030

20 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE 20 FEWBRIE
2025 2024
—E-EHE —ETNE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHAT
Accounts receivable JiE Uk BR 18 36,576 48,294
Impairment B (19,418) (15,636)
17,158 32,658
HERREBREBARAR —TZRAFFR
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REVBBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B=EZEHIN

LA TTEIR)

20 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (Continued) 20 FEWER™E (&)
The Group’s trading terms with its customers are mainly on AEBEFEREETFPNE S VLK
credit. The credit period is generally ranging from 30 to 90 B - X ERHEEEER KRN T
days for the sale of trading goods and up to 180 days for 30E90H c MERTHEWEZHER
the sale of completed properties held for sale. Each customer 5% /180 - BREFHERBESE
has a maximum credit limit. The Group seeks to maintain EREE - AEBEBRKEREE IR
strict control over its outstanding receivables. Overdue HEREREES - mREEEeTHE
balances are reviewed regularly by senior management. The l?ﬁﬁﬁyﬁﬂil& ﬁ$| S o P E U BRIE 48
Group had certain concentrations of credit risk as 26% BH26% (ZF Z Y 4F : 59%) &84%
(2024: 59%) and 84% (2024: 89%) of the total accounts (ZZT-WF :89%) DhHIKBREE &K
receivable due from the Group’s largest external customer KN BEERAEBRAIIFES - &
and the Group’s five largest external customers respectively. EERGFEETEREERR - AEEW
The Group does not hold any collateral or other credit BEREEKEREREFETAERDEK
enhancements over its accounts receivable balances. Accounts HmRAEERE BREEARE
receivable are non-interest-bearing.
An ageing analysis of the accounts receivable as at the end RERRER - REZHHARNRERE
of the reporting period, based on the invoice date and net BRI E 2 EIWERIE 2 BRIR 4T 10
of loss allowance, is as follows: -
2025 2024
—B-RE —EolEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Within 90 days 90H K 7,284 6,198
91 to 180 days 91THZE180H 213 26,341
181 to 360 days 181HAE360H 9,540 —
Over 360 days #360H 121 119
Total ek 17,158 32,658
The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of JEWERB 2 BB EREZSHOT
accounts receivable are as follows:
2025 2024
—EBC-EHEF —TmMF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
At beginning of year REH] 15,636 13,386
Impairment loss, net (note 6) EREE - FEE (Ki5E6) 4,536 6,806
Written-off Hh 58 (658) (4,471)
Exchange realignment ME W S (96) (85)
At end of year RER 19,418 15,636

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2025 Annual Report
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REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BRBBEFAIN  HUBTIIR)
ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (Continued) 20 FEWARIE (&)
An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date RERE A TRAREERETRE
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. DT AT EFEEEEERX - BHEER
The provision rates are based on days past due for XU EF D59 48 (B R 38 & 1,
groupings of various customer segments with similar loss REGER)ME  BEXDHERN S
patterns (i.e., by geographical region and product type). The AHETE -t E R AR NS
calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the R EBRERARREBHANSENER
time value of money and reasonable and supportable BIEEIE B AR SRR BT
information that is available at the reporting date about R EERASEER -
past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions.
An analysis of accounts receivable by operating segment is REBENHERWEBEBS T
as follows:
2025 2024
—E-RE —E M
HK$’000 HK$'000
FTET FAT
Property development and investment ¥ EREEEK
business 10,790 31,060
Trading business BH5ED 22,279 14,108
Operation of hotels B 3,507 3,126
Total T 36,576 48,294
HEFREREEARLAR —T_AFFRH
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BRZAEFTHIN - HUBTIIR)
20 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (Continued) 20 FEWERE (&)
Property development and investment business MEBBRRREEK

A5 BRAE MR AR AR

Set out below is the information about the credit risk

exposure on the accounts receivable related to the property BREMEEXBEVREENEERRE
development and investment business using a provision o
matrix.
2025
—E-FHEF
Expected Gross Expected Net
credit loss carrying credit carrying
rate amount losses amount
EHEE
BR=E REEHE BAHEEEX REFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Current BN EA 0.2% 1,439 3) 1,436
Less than 3 months past due BEALR=EA 0.3% 1,510 (5) 1,505
3 to 6 months past due wmEI = A A 4.0% 101 (4) 97
6 to 12 months past due wHAE+ @A — — — —
Over 12 months past due wmE+ @AM L 99.7% 7,740 (7,720) 20
Total 4z 71.7% 10,790 (7,732) 3,058
2024
—E-EF
Expected Gross Expected Net
credit loss carrying credit carrying
rate amount losses amount
BHEE
BERE MEEEE FBHEERBRX BREFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
T T T
Current BN HR 8.0% 1,883 (151) 1,732
Less than 3 months past due BHALR =1 A — 205 — 205
3 to 6 months past due BmE=Z=XEA 8.0% 28,634 (2,303) 26,331
6 to 12 months past due BAEIRET @A — — - -
Over 12 months past due BET @A L 94.1% 338 (318) 20
Total R 8.9% 31,060 (2,772) 28,288

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2025 Annual Report
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REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

20 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (Continued) 20 FEURERIE ()
Trading business BEZEK
Set out below is the information about the credit risk INTEIBEREREERENEHES
exposure on the accounts receivable related to the trading F¥HREBERIBENEERRER

business using a provision matrix:

2025
—E-FHE

Expected Gross Expected Net
credit loss carrying credit carrying
rate amount losses amount

EHEE
BA=E REEE BHEEEX BREFE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
T8 T T8 T T8 T
Current BVHA 0.2% 2,432 (5) 2,427
Less than 3 months past due BEI LR =1E A 0.2% 1,046 (2) 1,044
3 to 6 months past due BH=Z=NMEA 2.7% 75 (2) 73
6 to 12 months past due PR ANE N pl DS 0.2% 9,604 (15) 9,589
Over 12 months past due WA+ —@EAE 100.0% 9,122 (9,122) —
Total HE 41.1% 22,279 (9,146) 13,133

2024
—E-WEF

Expected Gross Expected Net
credit loss carrying credit carrying
rate amount losses amount

TBEEE
BRE WEREE FHEEERX AREFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T T
Current RN EA 0.5% 3,344 (17) 3,327
Less than 3 months past due BAI LR =1E A 0.4% 493 (2) 491
3 to 6 months past due == XEA 100.0% 2 (2) —
6 to 12 months past due BMAERNE T @A 100.0% 39 (39) —
Over 12 months past due WA AL 99.0% 10,230 (10,131) 99
Total B 72.2% 14,108 (10,191) 3,917
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BRmEEHI  BRETLIIR)

20 ACCOUNTS RECEIVABLE (Continued) 20 FEURBRIE (1)
Operation of hotels EEHE

ATHI|BRAE MR EEENERZE
BERERENERERRER

Set out below is the information about the credit risk
exposure on the accounts receivable related to the

operation of hotels using a provision matrix:

2025
—E-FHE

Expected Gross Expected Net
credit loss carrying credit carrying
rate amount losses amount

BHEE
BAR BEEE BHEEEX BREFE
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$'000
T T T T T T
Current BDHR 0.1% 688 1) 687
Less than 3 months past due BHOR=@EA 0.4% 276 (1) 275
3 to 6 months past due BmE == XA 16.7% 6 (1) 5
6 to 12 months past due AR E+ @A 100.0% 1 (1) —
Over 12 months past due AT @A L 100.0% 2,536 (2,536) —
Total Pk 72.4% 3,507 (2,540) 967

2024
—E-WEF

Expected Gross Expected Net
credit loss carrying credit carrying
rate amount losses amount

BHEEE
BRE MEREME FEHEEBX BREFE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T T T T T
Current BN AA — 411 — 411
Less than 3 months past due BELR=@EA — 32 — 32
3 to 6 months past due BB =EXEA 33.3% 15 (5) 10
6 to 12 months past due BAERE T @A — — — —
Over 12 months past due AT @AM L 100.0% 2,668 (2,668) —
Total B 85.5% 3,126 (2,673) 453
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 21 ERRE- - RERHEMERFEE
RECEIVABLES
2025 2024
—EC-RE —EUE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Prepayments B A 9,925 12,971
Deposits e 3,596 1,642
13,521 14,613
Other receivables — current (note (i) Hib Ut sRIE — BIER
(B EEG)) 166,680 171,871
Impairment RE (27,907) (22,429)
138,773 149,442
152,294 164,055
Other receivables — non-current H b sRTE — JERNER
(note (i) (B RE)) 55,457 163,931
Total B 207,751 327,986
Note (i): On 20 October 2022, Honour Advance Limited (“Honour P EEC) - RZZEZZF+A=Z+H  AR2H

Advance”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, and
Fanning Properties Limited (“Fanning Properties”), an
independent third party entered into a letter of intent
(“Letter of Intent”) with Haikou Longhua City Investment
Holding Co., Ltd.* (8O MEERHEMIREEKERAF]), in
relation to a proposed disposal of their entire interests in
Honour Advance Real Estate (Hainan) Limited* (L#E % (08
) B2 F]) by Honour Advance (“Disposal 1”) and Hainan
Fruitful Business Management Ltd* (SR EEEEEEGR A
7)) which held a property for the benefit of the Group by
Fanning Properties (“Disposal 2”) at the aggregate
consideration of RMB385,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$427,778,000). On 7 August 2023, the
parties entered into a formal definitive agreement relating to
Disposal 1 and Disposal 2. The Disposal 1 and Disposal 2
were completed on 30 August 2023.

—HE2EAWNBARIIHRERAR
(I L8 EREFGRAF
((E/tE]  —2BUE=H)A
BOMEERATRELERERA
RFvERE(EAE]) "B A
BEFIMEENINEX (™M)
ERAFRzZHHRE(HESE
1DREFHERERN EHEERRE
XEBEBRAR (BRNEEFZEE
B-EVME) 22BRE(THES
B2)) #BREAEARE
385,000,000 (M E R Y
427,778,000 L) c RZT =14
NAER FTHAREEEEIR
HEFEE2T Y FXN &R B B
EFEIREEFE2ER T ==
FNA=Z+THZEK °

MERREBREEAERAT —T-RFFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

21 PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER

RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Note (i):

(Continued)

The outstanding consideration receivable for the Disposal 1
and Disposal 2 of approximately RMB165,000,000 (equivalent
to approximately HK$183,333,000) (2024: RMB285,000,000
(equivalent to approximately HK$316,667,000))
("Outstanding Consideration”). The first instalment
amounting to RMB120,000,000 was received on 31 October
2024 and the remaining three instalments amounting to
RMB110,000,000, RMB50,000,000 and RMB5,000,000 are to
be received on or before 31 October 2025, 31 October 2026
and 31 October 2027 respectively.

A discounted effect of approximately HK$33,515,000 was
considered due to the repayment schedule of the Outstanding
Consideration in prior year. During the year ended 31 March
2025, imputed interest income amounted to approximately
HK$14,150,000 (2024: HK$9,285,000) had been generated
from the Outstanding Consideration (note 5).

The discounted Outstanding Consideration of
HK$173,254,000 (2024: HK$292,437,000) was classified as
other receivables under non-current assets, except for
RMB110,000,000 (equivalent to approximately
HK$122,222,000) (2024: RMB120,000,000 (equivalent to
approximately HK$133,333,000)) being the second instalment
payable on or before 31 October 2025 (2024: first instalment
payable on or before 31 October 2024) and the
corresponding discounted amount was HK$117,797,000
(2024: HK$128,506,000).

Please refer to the announcement of the Company dated
7 August 2023 and the circular of the Company dated
31 August 2023 for details of the Disposal 1 and Disposal 2.

English name for identification purpose only.

Included in the Group’s other receivables amounting to
HK$14,000 were amounts due from Fitness Concept Limited
("FCL"), in which a director of the Company has significant
influence over it.
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FYEEQ) |

AR B E A R B

RIE ~ e REAEWRIER

(&)
MHESEI R EEH2EZ &
KIBEREL ARM165,000,000
JL (M5 7 49183,333,0007% 70)
—ZT W4 : AR%285,000,000
7 (F % 1R 49316,667,0008 7))
(MR BERE) - F—HAR
#120,000,000LE R = ZF = /1
FE+A=ZFT—AK®W MEH=
HA A % 110,000,0007C « A R
50,000,0007C & A & #5,000,000
NIRRT =_RAE+A=+—
B ZZ2ZA"F+A=+—8K=
ToEF+A=+—HKE -

EREF-—EAFENRBERE
ZEFEHEEX DEETBREE
#933,515,0008 L - REE=Z
—HEF=ZA=Z+—HLEFE &
KEERECEEBEGEFNBRA
#914,150,0008 7L (=T = F -
9,285,000/ 7T ) (M EE5) ©

EHFRERBEERER
173,254,000 L (ZZF Z P04 -
292,437,000 7T) H A IE R

BHEERT 2 HMEKRKE
\ﬁﬁé_?_£¢+ﬂz+*ﬂ
HZAERZE S BERK

AR #110,000,0007T (FBE R4
122,222,000/ 70) (=& Z /9 4 -
AR #120,000,0007C (A% R4
133,333,000 7T) ) B 41 - T 4E FE
R E%A117,797,0008 T (= F
— P94 : 128,506,000/87C) °

EHLESTEIREESE2ZF
B #2MARARBHA=ZZ ==
FNALBZAERARARBHA
ZE=FN\A=+—HZ@EHK-

R B EEHHR -

=T IR

BlEaR AR (REARZMKRE
14,000/870 ° ARAl—REFEZ LA

HBEKX
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER
RECEIVABLES (Continued)

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
by applying a loss rate approach with reference to the
historical loss record of the Group. The loss rate is adjusted
to reflect the current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions, as appropriate. The loss rate applied
to other receivables of HK$27,907,000 (2024:
HK$22,429,000) relating to debtors that were in financial
difficulties or were in default in payments as at 31 March
2025 was 100% (2024: 100%).

Other than the above impairment made, the financial assets
included in the above balances relate to receivables of
which there was no recent history of default and past due
amounts. As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, the loss
allowance was assessed to be minimal.

Deposits and other receivables that were not impaired
related to receivables for which there is no recent history of
default.

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

21

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

BARE - RERHMERRK
(lnﬁ)
REMERH  K2EREEZELE

Btk KABBLERXETRES
o B R g e AR AR E ATiA
LR AR AR AR S 2 TEORI (2@ A ) o

RZE-RAF=A=+—H0 EHEE
B 75 R sl HE R S SR 2 B A 2 Ho A JE
Ug 5X I8 27,907,000 T (=& — 1Y 4 -

22,429,000 L) 2 EMABELEX A

100% (ZZ —PU4F : 100%) °

B L EEHRIRESD - SHA LA ERER
F & Bl B 7 BT A0 R e X RO 85 e L R
TRCEEFEER -BE_T_1F
R-ZZ-_ME=ZA=1+—H BEEE
WG BBE o

RBME 2 82 & S B Al FE U R TR £
EIE R RKFIARER -

T ERY

The movements in the provision for impairment of other Hin e RIB 2 REREZESWT -
receivables are as follows:

2025 2024

—E-RE —E 4

HK$’000 HK$'000

FET FAT

At beginning of year REY] 22,429 23,549
Impairment losses (note 6) BB K (M3Ee) 5,721 975
Written-off 85 — (957)
Exchange realignment TE W 38 (243) (1,138)
At end of year RF R 27,907 22,429

Included in the above provision for impairment of other
receivables is a provision for individual other receivables
where the repayments were defaulted and these receivables
were not expected to be recovered. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over these
balances.

MERREBEEFRAAF

A b E At fE U TR IB 2 R E R R A
RIEFZ BRI A EW R 2 Bl - B
ZE WG IATERT LU E - AEEI
ARZEEHFETAEARRKEME
Eoafbfane o

ZERFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

22 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AND 22
PLEDGED DEPOSITS

BehkReEERARCERF

=h
TA

2025 2024

—E-EHF ZENEF

HK$’000 HK$000

FET FHET

Cash and bank balances B4 MIRTTHE 36,074 42,338

Time deposits BTN 4,000 4,000

Subtotal NEE 40,074 46,338
Less: Pledged deposits for banking B RITEE B KR

facilities (note 26) R (M3t 26) (4,000) (4,000)

Cash and cash equivalents RekRSEBEIEE 36,074 42,338

At the end of the reporting period, the aggregate cash and
bank balances and deposits of the Group denominated in
RMB amounted to approximately HK$22,944,000 (2024:
approximately HK$37,283,000). This RMB balance is not
freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement and Sale and Payment of
Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to
exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily
bank deposit rates. Short-term time deposits are made for
varying periods of between one day and three months
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the
Group, and earn interest at the respective short-term time
deposit rates. The bank balances and pledged deposits are
deposited with creditworthy banks with no recent history of
default.
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24

ACCOUNTS PAYABLE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

23

An ageing analysis of the accounts payable as at the end of
the reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

FES RRTE
R EHER - B RERERE A G
BZREBEDHTMT

follows:
2025 2024
—E-_RE —EpuE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Within 90 days 90H A 28,733 19,347
91 to 180 days 91HZ180H 431 17
181 to 360 days 181 HZE360H 18 56
Over 360 days #360H 2,874 3,279
Total Bza 32,056 22,699

Accounts payable are non-interest-bearing and are normally

settled on 30-day terms.

ENBEEARE  —K&

o

APN30H A #E

&1

fu

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 24 HEMESRERESER
2025 2024
—E-RE —EpE
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET FET
Deposits received Bl ® 8,526 4,570
Other payables H e~ RRIB 20,698 27,826
Contract liabilities (note a) E#H8aE(Wita) 7,205 8,582
Accruals e & A 25,388 33,259

Due to non-controlling shareholder of &t — R B A &) FE4%

a subsidiary (note b) % B 58 3 E (K sEb) 18,062 17,002
Total Bz 79,879 91,239
LEFREREBERAT _—E-REFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B FEHIN -

LA TTEIR)

24 OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS
(Continued)

(a)

(b)

24 HEMNRERETER ()

Contract liabilities (a) EHEE
Details of contract liabilities are as follows: SHABRHBEET
2025 2024
—E-HEF —ENF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHET
Short-term advances received B E P R B E R
from customers
Sale of properties HEW 5,676 4,080
Sale of trading goods HEXSEm 1,529 4,502
Total R 7,205 8,582
Contract liabilities included short-term advances AHEEBEWEIRE R A
received to transfer property interests and to deliver ERMEEZARRINRZ S E M@
trading goods to customers. The decrease in contract EEP -AFEEHNAGERLSE
liabilities in the current year was mainly due to the EZHRFRHEEERHNEOWEP
decrease in short-term advances received from B 58 BREA SRR A o
customers in relation to the sale of trading goods at
the end of the year.
Due to non-controlling shareholder of a (b) FEN—EMERRFZRRKRR

subsidiary
The amounts due to non-controlling shareholder of a
subsidiary are unsecured, interest-free and repayable
on demand.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

25 BALANCES DUE TO/LOAN FROM RELATED 25 ENBEALER BHEALTE
PARTIES ESN
2025 2024
—EC-RE —F - O4aE
HK$’000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Current BN A
Excel Win Limited (note (i)) Excel Win Limited
0D — 3,833
Mr. Tjia (note (i) Eibe (D)) 645 —
Mr. Wang (note (iii)) F o A (B REG)) — 37,866
FCL (note (i) R AIE (M EG)) — 15
645 41,714

(ii)

(iii)

The balances due to related companies are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

A director of the Company has significant influence
over these related companies.

The balance due to Mr. Tjia, executive director of the
Company is unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

As at 31 March 2024, except for the interest payable
amounted to HK$66,000, the remaining balance due
to Mr. Wang, executive director of the Company, was
unsecured, interest-bearing at 8.84% per annum.

(ii)

(iii)

MERREBEEFRAAF

ENARBMITEEHEENG
BREER - RERBARENRE

RZZE-_ME=A=+—H" 'K
J& 154 71 2.66,00058 7T Hb » FEAS AR
RAMITEE T RENER FER
REEM - RFEFNE884%AHE

ZERFFR
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BRmEEHI  BRETLIIR)

26 INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 26 FERTRHEMEE
BORROWINGS
2025
—EBE-RHE
Contractual interest
rate per annum Maturity HK$°000
EHERR ZH B FET
Current B HA
Bank loans — RITER — 3.10% to 7.63% 2025 125,550
secured BHEA 3.10% £7.63% —E-RF
Bank overdrafts RITBEX Prime lending rate On demand 17,733
-0.5% to 1.0% RER
above HIBOR or
Prime Rate or bank
best lending rate
-1.5%
BEZEEEMNRR
05%ER/BRITAE
FEML0O%NRZEE
FEFBTREERE
FIZ R 1.5%
Trust receipt loans EEBIEE R 5.97% to 6.60% 2025 2,307
5.97% %£6.60% —E-HF
Other borrowings HMEE — 10% 2025 5,398
— unsecured 4 R —E-HF
150,988
Non-current JERNHA
Bank loans — WITER — 6.37% 2026 13,375
secured B —EIRE
Other borrowings HEMEE — 8.84% to 9.0% 2026 29,260
— unsecured KA 8.84%%9.0% —ECX
42,635
193,623
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

26 INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER 26
BORROWINGS (Continued)

(BSHEZHIN

LA TTEIR)

HERTREMES (R

2024
—E-EF
Contractual interest
rate per annum Maturity HK$'000
SR okailES EIHA A FHT
Current B #A
Bank loans — |ITER — 3.45% to 7.18% 2024 144,328
secured B 3.45%%7.18% —ZT
Bank overdrafts SRITEX Prime lending rate On demand 21,939
-0.5% to 1.0% RER
above HIBOR or
Prime Rate or bank
best lending rate
-1.5%
SEBEEMNER
0.5%ZEBBHRITEZE
FEM.0%EHER
MELRITHREEBE
FIZR1.5%
Trust receipt loans =B E R 5.8% to 6.94% 2024 1,722
5.8%%£6.94% —ENE
Other borrowings HmEE 8.0% to 13.0% 2024 to 2025 67,114
— unsecured — fEIE 8.0% % 13.0% —ENERE
i
235,103
Non-current JF BN AR
Bank loans — WITER — 6.37% 2025 to 2026 40,500
secured A —E-RHFRE
—E-RF
Other borrowings Hipfg & 9.0% 2026 20,000
— unsecured — B —EZREF
60,500
295,603

MERREBEEFRAAF
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

26 INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER

26 FFERITEREMEER (B

BORROWINGS (Continued)

2025 2024
—E-RE —ET U4
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Analysed into: PWE
Bank loans repayable: EEERITER:
Within one year or on demand —FRHIZEK 145,590 167,989
In the second year E_fF 13,375 27,000
In the third to fifth year FZERF — 13,500
Subtotal /IR 158,965 208,489
Other borrowings, repayable: EHEHEZHMEER
Within one year or on demand —FRHIZENR 5,398 67,114
In the second year B F 29,260 —
In the third to fifth year F=—E=RF — 20,000
Subtotal NE 34,658 87,114
Total R 193,623 295,603

Except for secured bank loans of HK$76,505,000 (2024:
HK$117,828,000), unsecured bank loans of HK$6,420,000
(2024: HK$Nil) and unsecured other borrowings of
HK$24,658,000 (2024: HK$41,114,000) which are
denominated in RMB, and trust receipt loans of
HK$272,000 (2024: HK$385,000) and HK$572,000 (2024:
HK$737,000) which are denominated in USD and Euro
respectively, all remaining borrowings are denominated in
Hong Kong dollar.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

INTEREST-BEARING BANK AND OTHER
BORROWINGS (Continued)

The Group’s banking facilities are secured by:

(ii)

(iii)

In addition,

the pledge of certain of the Group's leasehold land
and buildings situated in Hong Kong and the PRC of
HK$140,952,000 (2024: HK$167,060,000) (note 14);

the pledge of certain of the Group’s investment
properties situated in the PRC of HK$454,750,000
(2024: HK$442,800,000) (note 15);

the pledge of certain of the Group's properties held
for sale situated in the PRC of HK$144,450,000
(2024: HK$145,800,000) (note 18);

the assignment of rental income from the leases of
certain of the Group’s properties; and

the pledge of the Group’s time deposits of
HK$4,000,000 (2024: HK$4,000,000) (note 22).

certain banking facilities are secured by

corporate guarantees executed by the Company as at
31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024. One of the Group's
other borrowings is secured by a personal guarantee
executed by a director of the Company as at 31 March
2025 and 31 March 2024.

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

26

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

HEBRFREBEE (R

AEBZRITERETHTIISAER
Sl

)y BERXEBURESRFEHNE
FTHELHREREF A
140,952,000/ 7L (Z T Z M 4 :
167,060,000 7T ) (Fi5E14)

(i) WIFEAEBECRFPENE TRE
Y% - B 8454,750,00008 T (=
=T~ PY4F : 442,800,0005% 7T) (Bt
F15)

TR AREBURPENE TEHE
W% - B #144,450,0007% T (=
T — PO4E : 145,800,000 7T ) (P
£18)

(iii)

BRHESTAKSEMENES
WA R

(iv)

v) ERAEENTHFER BH
4,000,000 T (= — U &F -
4,000,000/ 7T ) (Fi5E22) °

Zh  RZE_RFE=ZA=+—HEZ
T NFZA=Z+—HETRITEEN
RRAREM 2 AR EREER - RZF
“hHEZA=t+t—HERZZE-_WWF=A
=t+—H AEEEF-BHEMEEL
KRR —BEEHELHEANERER
o

MERREBREEAERAT —T-RFFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB AFEEIN - B THR)
27 LEASE LIABILITIES 27 HEEE
The Group as a lessee AEBEEREAEA
The Group has entered into leases for properties used in its REBECHHEEFMAYMETLEE -
operations. Leases of properties generally have lease terms MERECHERBENFIFEI15F
ranging from 3 years to 15 years (2024: 3 years). Generally, ZEZNEF:3F) —RiME - AE
the Group is restricted from assigning and subleasing the BT mASELINATEREESAME
leased assets outside the Group. EEE -
The maturity analysis of lease liabilities are as follows: HEABRZINHBASITOT -
2025 2024
—EC-HE —E-NF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FAT
Analysed into: PR
Within one year —FR 2,205 343
After one year but within two years —FREMFRN 1,953 331
After two years but within three years MFEZE=FR 2,067 —
After three years but within four years =F&{BINFER 2,198 —
After four years but within five years WERERFNR 2,336 —
After five years hF & 29,805 —
40,564 674
Amounts included in the consolidated statement of cash REEREMEREIN L FIBBIELE
flows comprise of cash outflows for leases of FmEgss s HEReRE DA A
HK$1,510,000 and HK$1,831,000 (2024: HK$362,000 and 1,510,000 7T % 1,831,000/ 7T (=&
HK$327,000) in operating and financing activities VY4 : 362,000/ 7T % 327,000 7T) °
respectively.
28 BONDS PAYABLE 28 ENEZ

On 22 August 2022, the Company issued an unlisted
corporate bond at a principal amount of HK$20,000,000
("20M Bond”), which is unsecured, bears a fixed interest
rate of 7% per annum, and is fully redeemable by the
Company after two years from the issue date at its
principal amount of HK$20,000,000. On 6 May 2024, the
Company and the holder of the 20M Bond agreed to
extend the bond for a further two years from 22 August
2024 and revise the principal amount from HK$20,000,000
to HK$15,000,000 (“15M Bond") after the Company repaid
part of the principal amount in the sum of HK$5,000,000,
which is unsecured, bears a fixed interest rate of 7% per
annum. Accordingly, the 15M Bond is fully redeemable by
the Company after two years from 22 August 2024 at its
principal amount of HK$15,000,000.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BONDS PAYABLE (Continued)

On 1 February 2024, the Company issued an unlisted
corporate bond at a principal amount of HK$13,000,000
("13M Bond”), which is unsecured, bears a fixed interest
rate of 10% per annum, and is fully redeemable by the
Company after 1 year from the issue date at its principal
amount of HK$13,000,000. The 13M Bond was repaid in
full during the year ended 31 March 2025.

The effective interest rate of the unlisted corporate bonds is
approximately 7%, 7% and 10% for 20M Bond, 15M
Bond and 13M Bond respectively.

DEFERRED TAX
The movements in deferred tax liabilities/(assets) during the
year are as follows:

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

EFES (E)

RZZE-WF-—A—H ' XRABZAE
#613,000,0007 7T ([13MfE 3 |) 317
EEMARMES - AEEA  RETEF
FEI10%FTE - WAIHARE BEITH
HBREET —F 18 L EAN$ %8 13,000,000/8
TEREBERLD - 1BMEADREBE_F
THE=ZA=1t—HI-FEXREEE -

F20ME % ~ 15ME 4 M 13ME A M
5 ELETRARBEFERFESRLN A
7% ~ 7% & 10% °

EER A
FR-REHREARE(BE) 22310
T

Capital gain Losses
tax and  available for
withholding offsetting
tax on against future
Revaluation of  undistributed taxable
properties profits profits Total
BARSREH AHEHERR
RADRERZ  ERBEF
EfNE A HiEE @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TR TR TR THET
At 1 April 2023 RZE-_=FWA—H 102,269 23,267 (774) 124,762
Deferred tax credited to profit or FERRNBREESAZEL
loss during the year (note 10) BB (M310) (8,091) (10,659) —  (18750)
Deferred tax credited to other FAREMEEREAZ
comprehensive income during the year EERE (1,237) _ _ (1,237)
Disposal of a subsidiary (note 33(a)) HE—BIB AT
(M5¥33(a)) — (895) — (895)
Exchange realignment [E 5 % (2,645) — — (2,645)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R-E-ME=A=+—H
FZZ-—MmENA—A 90,296 11,713 (774) 101,235
Deferred tax credited to profit or loss FERRNBEESAZEL
during the year (note 10) BB (M310) (2.423) (99) — (2,522)
Deferred tax credited to other FAREMEERZEAZ
comprehensive income during the year EERE (2.854) _ _ (2.854)
Exchange realignment 0E 1 (441) — — (441)
At 31 March 2025 WZEZRF=RA=1+—H 84,578 11,614 (774) 95,418
MEZREREEBRELAR —T-HFFR
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B=EZEHIN

29

LA TTEIR)

DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

The Group has estimated tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
approximately HK$189,008,000 (2024: HK$181,618,000)
that are available for offsetting against future taxable
profits of the companies in which the losses arose. The
Group also has tax losses arising in Mainland China of
approximately HK$90,297,000 (2024: HK$90,123,000) that
will expire in one to five years for offsetting against future
taxable profits. In addition, the Group has temporary
differences arising from provision for inventories, accounts
receivable and other receivables of approximately
HK$55,852,000 (2024: HK$45,124,000) in aggregate as at
the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets in
respect of tax losses of approximately HK$274,613,000
(2024: HK$267,048,000) and the above temporary
differences have not been recognised as they have arisen in
subsidiaries that have been loss-making for some time and
in the opinions of the directors, it is not considered
probable that taxable profits will be available against the tax
losses can be utilised.

The Group is liable for withholding taxes on dividends
distributed by those subsidiaries established in Mainland
China in respect of earnings generated from 1 January
2008. The applicable rate is 5% or 10% for the Group.

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the
payment of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2025 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

SHARE CAPITAL 30 KA
Shares iz 2
Number of shares Share capital
RBHE [
HK$'000
FAT
Authorised: EE
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, RZEZ=FmMA—R"
1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 _7_@¢ A=+—8"
“E-NENA-AR
ZE-hF=R=+—H 5,000,000,000 500,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRER:
At 1 April 2023, 31 March 2024, RZEZ=FmMHA—R"
1 April 2024 and 31 March 2025 _?_EE A=+—8"
ZEZMENA-BR
“Z-RF=ZA=+—H 1,466,820,600 146,682

Details of the Company’s share option scheme are included
in note 31 to the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 30 August 2022, the Company adopted a share option
scheme (the “Scheme”), which complies with the
requirements of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

The Scheme was established by the Company to recognise
and acknowledge contributions of eligible participants who
have contributed to the success of the Group’s operations.
Eligible participants of the Scheme include full time and part
time employees, executives, officers or directors (including
independent non-executive directors) of the Group. The
Scheme will remain in force for 10 years from 30 August
2022, unless otherwise cancelled or amended.

31

MERREBEEFRAAF

RAR 2 BRAERT B 2 FBHNERA M
BIRMIEE3 -

BRETE
R-ZZ-—F\A=+A  FARARK

B iERTE ([5H8)) - A LmRA
FI1TE -
RABRATE  EUREREHFEAR

SERNEEFLERM A ERS R
FoABlzAER2EEREAREN
ERNMFEBES  THRAE  SRAR
HEFR(BREBLIFNTES) - 5tEH
RZE__FN\RB=THREFERT
F o BRIERINEHBIER o

ZERFFR
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LA TTEIR)

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The total number of new shares (being 146,682,060) which
maybe issued pursuant to the exercise of the options
granted under the Scheme must not exceed 10% of the
total number of shares of the Company in issue as at the
adoption date of the Scheme. Within the scheme limit of
the Scheme, no options are to be granted to service
providers of the Group. The maximum number of shares
issuable under share options upon exercise of the share
options to each eligible participant in the Scheme within
any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at the date of grant. Any further grant of
share options in excess of this limit is subject to
shareholders’ approval in a general meeting. As at 1 April
2024 and 31 March 2025, the number of options available
for grant under the Scheme was 146,682,060 and
146,682,060 respectively. As at the date of this Annual
Report, the total number of new shares available for issue
under the Scheme is 146,682,060 shares, representing
approximately 10.0% of the total number of shares of the
Company in issue.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or
substantial shareholder of the Company, or to any of their
associates, are subject to approval in advance by the
independent non-executive directors (excluding any
independent non-executive director who is the grantee of
the share options). In addition, any share options granted to
a substantial shareholder or an independent non-executive
director of the Company, or to any of their associates, in
excess of 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue at
any time or with an aggregate value (based on the price of
the Company’s shares at the date of grant) in excess of
HK$5 million, within any 12-month period, are subject to
shareholders’ approval in advance in a general meeting.

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted
within 30 days from the date of offer, upon payment of a
nominal consideration of HK$1 in total by the grantee. An
option may be exercised under the Scheme at any time
during a period of not exceeding 10 years after the date
when the option is granted and will expire on the last date
of such period.

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2025 Annual Report
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by
the directors of the Company, but must be the higher of (i)
the official closing price of the shares of the Company as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets on the
date of grant of the share options; (ii) the average of the
official closing price of the shares of the Company as
stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotation sheets for
the five business days immediately preceding the date of
grant; and (i) the nominal value of a share of the
Company.

The share options do not confer rights on the holders to
dividends or to vote at shareholders’ meetings.

There was no outstanding share option under the Scheme
for the year ended 31 March 2025 and 2024.

RESERVES

The amounts of the Group’s reserves and the movements
therein for the current and prior years are presented in the
consolidated statement of changes in equity on pages 106
and 107 of the consolidated financial statements.

DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES AND OTHER

DISPOSAL

(a) Disposal of subsidiaries
On 10 April 2024, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Company has disposed of its 51% equity interest in
Tian Tong to an independent third party for a
consideration of HK$51,000 resulting loss of control
of this subsidiary. Please refer to note 16 to the
consolidated financial statements for details.

On 30 September 2024, a wholly-owned subsidiary of
the Company has disposed of its 15%, 15% and
70% equity interest in Treasury Field Investments
Limited (“Treasury Field”) to Mr. Tjia, Mr. Wang and
independent third parties respectively. Therefore, the
30% disposal of equity interest of Treasury Field
constituted a related party transaction.

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
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(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

BRESE (&)
BEREZITEERARREFET @ If
VAR TIZEEE - ()ARBRNR
BB hE s BRB R e RERAT
HzEHWTE  (DVARRRO R EE
BB SRR ES R B RBR SRR
BRM#Z FHRTE  R(i) AR FR
PR EE

BRETERTHAAZTAREIRNK
RRELERRZER -

HE T -_AFE_ZT-_NF=A
=+—HIFE  FrEETHELRT
R IBARHE -

R

RAFERBEFE AEBHBESE
REZBBBEANGE M BREFE106K
107BEZ AR EHRANZY -

HENBARAREMHESE

HEHEB QT

RZE-_WWFMNA+H  ARQF
—Ha2ENBARE UKRE
51,000/ cA — R B E = 7
EHNKRBHISTI %A - BE L
UM B A R 2 P - BRI
BEREL2HRAMERERWE16 -

(a)
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

33 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES AND OTHER
DISPOSAL (Continued)
(a) Disposal of subsidiaries (Continued)

33 HEMBARARAMHESHE
(&)
(a) HEMELT (&)
REE-T-RE=A=+—H

Details of disposal of Tian Tong and Treasury Field

during the vyear ended 31
follows:

March 2025 were as

IEFEHERBIBHNFBEN
T~

Treasury
Tian Tong Field Total
A 2 H ‘et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FHT FHET FHET
Details of the net assets SHEEEFEH
disposed of are as follows: BT :
Other receivables H W RIR 100 1 101
Cash and cash equivalent RekREEE
H B — 5 5
Other payables and accruals H th & 1 FRIE
&R (19) (13) (32)
81 (7) 74
Gain on disposal of subsidiaries HEMEBRRZ
W s 10 8 18
Reclassification of retained 1SRRI = EN
interest to interest in DEEREE
associates NAH R A (40) — (40)
Satisfied by: AT BT -
Cash Be 51 1 52

Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2025 Annual Report
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REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

33 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES AND OTHER 33 HEWBARREMEHESE
DISPOSAL (Continued) (#&)
(a) Disposal of subsidiaries (Continued) (a) HEMELTR (&)
An analysis of the net outflow of cash and cash FHRLHENBARTNES KRS
equivalents in respect of the disposal of subsidiaries is SHBBEREFESNOAT :
as follows:
Treasury
Tian Tong Field Total
R 7 H #at
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET
Cash consideration BeENRE 51 1 52
Less: Cash and cash equivalent J& : B HERE X
disposed of ReFHEER — (5) (5)
Net consideration REFHE 51 (4) 47
Less: Outstanding consideration J& : #% F U@l Z 14
to be received REERE (51) (1) (52)

Net outflow of cash and cash BREHEKHBAFH
equivalents in respect of the RekBReEE

disposal of subsidiaries 18 B FE — (5) (5)
On 30 August 2023, a wholly-owned subsidiary of the RZBEZ=FNA=1TH &R
Company had disposed of its entire equity interest in A—HE2ENBARIEHNEER
Honour Advance Real Estate (Hainan) Limited* to an TIHEZE(EE) BRABIZEE
independent third party. BT —EBIE=T -

Please refer to notes 21 & 33(b) to the consolidated BHEFE  F2HREUBHRE
financial statements for details. Bg3E21 K33(b) °
English name for identification purpose only. N B ATBEEHR -
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

33 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES AND OTHER 33 HEMBARRAEMEESEIE
DISPOSAL (Continued) (#&)
(a) Disposal of subsidiaries (Continued) () HEKMBAT(HE)
HK$'000
FAET

Details of the net assets disposed of are as CHEEEFEFEBMOT :

follows:
Completed properties held for sale ERTHEME 36,845
Other payables and accruals HMENRERERTEA (141)
Deferred tax liabilities (note 29) EERIE S & (M5E29) (895)
35,809
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary B E— BB ATz W 31,015
Release of exchange fluctuation reserve i B FEE 2282 B Rt 4 594
Satisfied by: AT 75 BT -
Cash B 67,418
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash FRALE—HNEARTZRER
equivalents in respect of the disposal of a subsidiary is REFEBERAFEITEOT -
as follows:
HK$'000
FAT
Cash consideration BeRE 81,111
Less: Effect of discounting the outstanding B mARBERBZITRETE
consideration (6,355)
Legal and professional fee and transaction EEEREEERUR
costs paid RGN (7,338)
Net consideration REFH 67,418
Less: Deposits received B B liEE (2,106)
Outstanding consideration to be received &P U E 2 RS ERE (55,449)
Add: Imputed interest income o EEF B A 1,760
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in FHALE—HNBARZESE
respect of the disposal of a subsidiary EIReEEERRAFE 11,623
Outstanding consideration of HK$25,281,000 were BT _RF=A=+—BIt
received during the year ended 31 March 2025. FECDHBREABEERE

25,281,000/ 7T °
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33 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES AND OTHER

DISPOSAL (Continued)

(b) Other disposal
The Disposal 1 and Disposal 2 were completed on
30 August 2023 (note 21). The accounting profit on
the Disposal 2, after deducting related transaction
cost of HK$28,857,000, amounted to HK$44,129,000
and was recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss during the year ended 31 March 2024.

Details of disposal of investment properties under
Disposal 2 during the year ended 31 March 2024

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

33 HEMBARAREMHESHE

(&)

(b)

HttHEEE
HESEIRHESTE2EN T
—ZENAZT BT
21) e HEEZBE2 2 g FE &
B 18 B 2 5 AR 2N 28,857,0007%8 7T
% - & 5144,129,0005 T 0 W 2
RBE-_Z-_NE=A=+—H
IFEZGABERPER -

BEERNEBEZE_ET_mWE=A
—t+—HLIEFEARERESEA

were as follows: QHEREMEZFIBEOT :
HK$'000
FHT
Cash consideration RENRE 342,417
Less: Effect of discounting the outstanding W RMARBERECITESE
consideration (26,827)
Legal and professional fee and transaction EEERZEEERUAR
costs paid RS (28,857)
Net consideration REFE 286,733
Less: Net assets disposed* W EHEEERE (245,092)
Gain on disposal of investment properties LERBEYE 2 W 41,641

MERREBREEAERAT —T-RFFH
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B=EZEHIN

LA TTEIR)

33 DISPOSAL OF SUBSIDIARIES AND OTHER 33 HEWEBARAREMEHESE
DISPOSAL (Continued) (#&)
(b) Other disposal (Continued) (b) HtHEEIE (&)
An analysis of the net inflow of cash and cash FRLEREMEZRGRRSE
equivalents in respect of the disposal of investment EHEBEERANFEITHOT :
properties is as follows:
HK$'000
FHET
Cash consideration ReRE 342,417
Less: Effect of discounting the outstanding W MARBERECITEZE
consideration (26,827)
Legal and professional fee and transaction EEAEREXEBRANUR
costs paid RSB (28,857)
Net consideration REFHE 286,733
Less: Deposits received B B lURE (8,894)
Outstanding consideration to be received 18 T UL E 2 W ARIBERE (234,082)
Add: Imputed interest income e EEFR S KA 7,432
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents in BHNEREME RSN
respect of the disposal of investment properties &% BB B KA FRE 51,189
Details of the net assets disposed of are as follows: EHEFEEZHBET
HK$'000
FET
Investment properties BEWHE 280,875
Deferred tax liabilities FEEFHIBEE (57,538)
Release of exchange fluctuation reserve i i B SR B 4 21,755
Net assets disposed BHEFEE 245,092
Outstanding consideration of HK$108,052,000 was HE-_ZT-_RAF=-A=+—HIE
received during the year ended 31 March 2025. FEDHBHAEERE
108,052,000/ JT °
34 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 34 #HZE&HRE&REBRK
CASH FLOWS
(a) Major non-cash transaction (a) EEFREXRSH
During the year ended 31 March 2025, the Group HE-_ZT-_RAF=-A=+—HIE
had non-cash additions to right-of-use assets and FE AEBEpEE-—BBEEC
lease liabilities of HK$37,432,000 and MECHETEIAHEFERE
HK$41,732,000, in respect of lease arrangements of BERHEAGZIIRSEAE
properties for the operation of a hotel. 37,432,000/ Jt &2 41,732,0007%
ﬁ o
During the year ended 31 March 2024, an unlisted BHE_Z-_NF=A=+—H1
corporate bond at a principal amount of FE - —IEAR£%813,000,000%8
HK$13,000,000 was offset with a newly subscribed TLZIELETRARESFH—EHR
bond. EEHEE -
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REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

34 NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 34 SZEBHERERMHF (&)
CASH FLOWS (Continued)

(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing (b) MEITBHELENEEESD
activities
Note to consolidated cash flow HERLRENT
Interest-
bearing
bank and Due to
Lease other Bonds related
liabilities borrowings payable parties Total
FEERTR EEE
HERE HitfE & EAES AL et

HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET THT TET THT TET

At 1 April 2023 R=Z-=5NA-H 1,001 376,301 33,000 51,300 461,602

Changes from financing cash flows BMERSHER S
New bank and other borrowings MESRTLEAMEER

raised — 214,589 — — 214,589
Repayment of bank and other BRBITRAMEER

borrowings — (306,285) — — (306,285)
Principal portion of lease liabilities & & &2 A% 17 (327) — — — (327)
Repayment to a related party A—&EEALER — — — (10,900) (10,900)

Total changes from financing cash REREHBEBHAE

flows (327) (91,696) — (10,900) (102,923)
Other changes: Hin# g :
Interest expenses recognised BHRMERE 45 24,433 2,707 3,862 31,047
Exchange adjustment B 35 5 2 — (10,941) — (2,600) (13,541)
Changes from operating cash flows E2BE&HEE (45) (24,433) (2,707) (3,862) (31,047)
Total other changes Hitt B EEHE — (10,941) — (2,600) (13,541)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April R-B-WmF

2024 =B=+-8Hk

—E-_mENA—A 674 273,664 33,000 37,800 345,138

Changes from financing cash flows BEBREHREL S
New bank and other borrowings HESRITREMBEE

raised — 166,421 — — 166,421
Repayment of bank and other BREBTREMEER

borrowings — (263,189) — — (263,189)
Repayment of bonds EEES — — (18,000) — (18,000)
Principal portion of lease liabilities & & &2 K& H1n (1,831) — — — (1,831)
Repayment to a related party R—AEEATER — — — (37,800) (37,800)

Total changes from financing cash RERESHBEHAE

flows (1,831) (96,768) (18,000) (37,800) (154,399)
Other changes: Hip# g
New lease HHE 41,732 — — — 41,732
Interest expenses recognised BHRHNERZ 1,170 16,993 2,050 1,815 22,028
Exchange adjustment B i, 3 2 (11) (1,006) — — (1,017)
Changes from operating cash flows E4BEEHEE (1,170) (16,993) (2,050) (1,815) (22,028)
Total other changes Hitt 2 B85 41,721 (1,006) — — 40,715
At 31 March 2025 R-E-RE
=B=+-H 40,564 175,890 15,000 — 231,454
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REVBBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

35 COMMITMENTS 35 Z&iE
The Group had the following capital commitments at the REERBEHREATEREARE :
end of the reporting period:

2025 2024
—E-RHE —ZEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Contracted, but not provided for: BT #A{EREE :
Capital contributions payable to JERT IR A ER ABRER
equity investments at fair value ZIRERE 2 EXR
through profit or loss 57 1,435
36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 36 BEEALTRS
(@) In addition to the transactions and balances detailed (a) BZSEGRAVEHRREMAEF
elsewhere in these consolidated financial statements, Wz Z G RERIN - TIRBER
the Group had the following material transactions REFEMABEEANTETZCERR
with related parties during the year: 2 :
2025 2024
—E-RF —E-NF
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
Ff 5 FERT FHT
Management fee income from 2RE—fEE&E QT2
an associate EREBWA (i) 2,461 1,379
Rental income from a related KB —fEEIER A2
company el A (if) 168 216
Rental income from an e —EBERAZ
associate Ha WA (iii) 120 120
Management fee to a related  FA—REEAF
company ERE (iv) 360 360
Interest expense to a related m—BEEANTIZA
party ABERX (v) 1,815 3,862
Gain on disposal of a subsidiary [ 3838 A 1 H & —fH
to related parties RN g (vi) 2 —
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36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a)

(Continued)
Notes:

(i) The management fee was charged by reference to actual costs
incurred for the services provided by the Group.

(i) During the year, rental income was charged to FCL at
HK$14,000 (2024: HK$18,000) per month in average.

(iii) During the year, rental income was charged to an associate at
HK$10,000 per month as mutually agreed between the
parties.

(iv) The management fee was paid to FCL by reference to the
terms of agreement as agreed between both parties.

(v) The interest expense was charged by the loan from a related
party, namely, Mr. Wang, executive director of the Company
(note 25). On the basis that the loan is a financial assistance
received by the Group from a connected person which is
conducted on normal commercial terms or better and is not
secured by the assets of the Group, such financial assistance
constitutes a continuing connected transaction which is fully
exempted.

(vi) During the year, 30% of gain on disposal of Treasury Field
constituted a related party transaction. Please refer to note
33(a) to the consolidated financial statements for details.

Outstanding balances with related parties:

Details of the Group's balances with associates as at
the end of the reporting period are included in note
16 to the consolidated financial statements.

Details of the Group’s balances with related parties as
at the end of the reporting period are included in
notes 21 and 25 to the consolidated financial
statements.

Details of the Group’s balances with non-controlling
shareholder of a subsidiary as at the end of the
reporting period are included in note 24(b) to the
consolidated financial statements.

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

36 BAEALRS (&)
@ (&
fia -

@) ERETSRAEEERHEZ RGP
BEAE 2 BB AR T 4R ©

iy FR -BEEADBRFAHEA
14,0007 7T (= % Z [ 4 : 18,000
AT FRUR AR -

(iii) FR - LENEFHBE - W — B
BN AU € WA E A 10,0007

o

vy EEBEDHZREFHEZHEGER
i FRUR AR -

v) R—BRHEAL(BIARBENTE
FERE) EFURER A SRS (K
F25) HEFRARAEEABEA
TWRE M B A (RE—REE
R BEGRTET - BXYEhRA
SEEEER) REE  ARFBE
BBRETEROFEMRERS -

i)  EP e BEE Y 30% KA
EHRS BHEE B2EEA

B #5#R = M 71 33(a)
(b) EAFFE

EANLTHAREE Z R

R E IR - AL E B E QT
ZERFBERGE T EREM
$16°

RBERR  ANEBHEEGEA T
ZEBRFHIBHNGRE VSRR
FF21 K25 ¢

RBEPRR AEBEH—-FHHB

N ﬂ#?ﬁﬂxﬂxizmﬁ%—?l ;N
ARA M IS IRAR M FE24(0) ©

MERREBREEAERAT —T-RFFH

233



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
e M| RMEE

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

36 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued) 36
() Compensation of key management personnel of the
Group:

The key management personnel of the Group are the
directors and the chief executive of the Company.
Details of their remuneration are disclosed in note 8
to the consolidated financial statements.

The related party transactions above also constituted
continuing connected transactions as defined in Chapter
14A of the Listing Rules.

BEALTXRZ ()
(© AEEEEEBABZHM

AEBFZ2ERABRARAZ
EENRTETHAER - HE 2B
SHIEREZE BB HRRM TR

& o

EXFERZBBEBALTRBEER TR
AFVVARREZHERERS -

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 37 Z#ERES2ERMIA
Financial assets TREE
2025 2024
—E-REF —E-NF
HK$’000 HK$'000
FHET FHEIT
Financial assets at fair value through Z QAT EFTAEBZREKRZ
profit or loss cREE
Equity investments at fair value through &R F({EFT AIBERE Y
profit or loss PR E 28,130 39,815
Financial assets at amortised cost REBHERETERZ
cHREE
Due from associates JE W 2 A ) 4,867 3,868
Accounts receivable fEW AR TE 17,158 32,658
Financial assets included in prepayments, sf ATEfTFIE « L& K
deposits and other receivables H i W R IB &Y
TREE 197,826 315,015
Pledged deposits [REECRER-N 4,000 4,000
Cash and cash equivalents RekREFEEE 36,074 42,338
259,925 397,879
288,055 437,694

234 Deson Development International Holdings Limited 2025 Annual Report



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

37 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY CATEGORY 37 REMNESz2EMIA (&)

(Continued)

Financial liabilities cResE
2025 2024
—E-RE —ET_4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
Financial liabilities at amortised cost Z#sH A2~
SHEeE
Accounts payable JE 1~ BRIE 32,056 22,699
Financial liabilities included in other FF A E th JE < 3R I8
payables and accruals Bt ERNTREE 62,877 77,090
Due to associates FEAT B & A A — 63
Due to related parties BN REE AL 645 41,714
Interest-bearing bank and other RERITREMES
borrowings 193,623 295,603
Lease liabilities HE&E 40,564 674
Bonds payable ERESH 15,000 33,000
344,765 470,843
HERREBREBARAR —TZRAFFR 235
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REVBBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

38
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

The carrying amounts and fair values of the Group’s

38

TMTAZAFERLIFESER

AEEeRMTAZEEERAFEE

financial instruments, other than those with carrying FREEAFEAGEEGEERN AT :
amounts that reasonably approximate to the fair values, are
as follows:
Carrying amounts Fair values
BREE ATE
2025 2024 2025 2024
ZE-HRF —_TWFE ZBZHFE —T_MOF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHE R FHET FET FHET
Financial assets SREE
Equity investments at fair R F{EFTABLGE
value through profit or R iR A
loss 28,130 39,815 28,130 39,815
Outstanding Consideration MARBERE
(with non-current (B IERNEREE )
portion) 173,254 292,437 173,811 298,912
201,384 332,252 201,941 338,727
Financial liabilities SRBE
Interest-bearing bank and  FFERIT R EAM
other borrowings (with fBE (FIEANHEA
non-current portion) &) 64,783 108,614 64,783 108,614

The Group's corporate finance team headed by the financial
controller is responsible for determining the policies and
procedures for the fair value measurement of financial
instruments. The corporate finance team reports directly to
the directors of the Company. At each reporting date, the
corporate finance team analyses the movements in the
values of financial instruments and determines the major
inputs applied in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed
and approved by the directors of the Company.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and
cash equivalents, restricted cash, pledged deposits, accounts
receivable, accounts payable, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, financial
liabilities included in other payables and accruals, amounts
due from/to associates and related parties, and
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings classified as
current liabilities approximate to their carrying amounts
largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments.
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38 FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are
included at the amount at which the instrument could be
exchanged in a current transaction between willing parties,
other than in a forced or liquidation sale. The following
methods and assumptions were used to estimate the fair
values:

The fair values of unlisted equity investments have been
estimated using market-based valuation techniques based on
assumptions that are supported by observable market prices
or rates. As at 31 March 2025 and 2024, certain unlisted
equity investments carry out property redevelopment
projects and the fair values of the properties under these
projects are considered in the fair value assessment by the
directors; while an unlisted investment carries a listed equity
investment and its quoted market price is also considered in
the fair value assessment by the directors. The valuation
requires the directors to determine comparable public
companies (peers) based on industry, size, leverage and
strategy, and to calculate an appropriate price multiple for
each comparable company identified. The multiple is
calculated by dividing the enterprise value of the
comparable company by an earnings measure. The trading
multiple is then adjusted for considerations such as
illiquidity and size differences between the comparable
companies based on company-specific facts and
circumstances. A discount for lack of marketability
("DLOM") is applied in the fair value assessment,
representing the amounts of premium and discounts
determined by the Group that market participants would
take into account when pricing the investments. The
adjusted multiple is applied to the corresponding equity and
earnings measure of the unlisted equity investments to
measure the fair value. The directors believe that the
estimated fair values resulting from the valuation
techniques, which are recorded in the consolidated
statement of financial position, and the related changes in
fair values, which are recorded in profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, are reasonable, and that they were
the most appropriate values at the end of the reporting
period. The fair values of interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings repayable beyond one year after the end of the
reporting period as assessed on an individual borrowing
basis have been calculated by discounting the expected
future cash flows using rates currently available for
instruments on similar terms, credit risk and remaining
maturities.
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REVBBERRME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

38 FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 38
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at RZE_RF=ZRA=+—BRKk=
fair value as at 31 March 2025 and 31 March 2024.

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to
the valuation of unlisted equity investments, together with
a quantitative sensitivity analysis, as at 31 March 2025 and

2024.

Valuation techniques

fEER %

Significant
unobservable inputs

ERTABERARE

F=A=+—H"

EMTAZAFERAFESH
(&)

=M
ANE B EE AR A

FEAENERAEE-

DT

Range/weighted average

BE MEFHR

ATRR-_ZE-_AFER_FT_MF=A4
=t—H ;HFL M Hx%%xﬁﬁ@Zéj(

TR \BEREERTEHRE

Sensitivity of fair value to
the inputs
DFEHBABEZBRE

Investment method

REE

Residual method

W

Residual method

BEE
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Revisionary yield

Average market unit
selling price

FHEMGEMER

DLOM

RZWERE TR

7.00% (2024: 5.75% to
6.00%)

TPIF 575%%
6.00%)

7.00% (=

HK$17,432 (2024: HK$21,522)

1743280 (ZE W F :
21,5227 7C)

25% (2024: 28%)

25% (ZF U4 : 28%)

1% increase/decrease in reversionary
yield would result in decrease/
increase in fair value by HK$290,000
(2024 HK$138,000)
%‘Hﬁz/\fi*ﬂu/ﬂww %1% BB

>,/ 4 290,000 7T
(7 z m@ 138,000/ 1)

1% increase/decrease in average market
unit selling price would result in
increase/decrease in fair value by
HK$1,120,000 (2024:
HK$1,270,000)

THTSEMLEEEM D 1%K5E
BAFEEM,HA1,120,0008 7T
(ZZ Mm% : 1,270,000 7T)

1% increase/decrease in DLOM would
result in decrease/increase in fair
value by HK$11,000 (2024:
HK$54,000)

BRZ TS RB T EE N, 1%
BHAFERD,/HE 011,000 7T
(ZZ /U4 : 54,0007 1)
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

38 FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF 38 2R IBEZAFERAFEEHR

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) (&)
Fair value hierarchy NEEER
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement TRIIFAEESRIANATEFE
hierarchy of the Group’s financial instruments: o
Assets measured at fair value BAFETENEE

2025

—EZHE
Quoted

prices in Significant Significant
active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs

(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
REBMSEZ EATERE EXFTAEER
HE WABE WABE

(& 5B1—) (&B1=) (A=) =
HK$’'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT TERT THERT THERT
Equity investments at fair value % AF(Ezt ABZE
through profit of loss BR IRERE — — 28,130 28,130
2024
12
Quoted

prices in Significant Significant

active observable  unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

REBTSHEZ EAUEE BATHUBER
HE BARE BARE

(#&51—) (#&p1=) (#A=) A&t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Equity investments at fair value &2 F(EFHAEZ
through profit of loss RBRERE — — 39,815 39,815
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

38 FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE HIERARCHY OF
FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
Fair value hierarchy (Continued)
Assets measured at fair value (Continued)

3838 ERMTRECZAFERAFESER
(&)
DFEER(H)
BAFETSEBHEE (&

The movements in fair value measurements within Level 3 FRARRN=NTEFAEZZHNOT :
during the year are as follows:
2025 2024
—EC-HF —T-mMF
HK$'000 HK$000
FET T
Equity investments — unlisted: RERE — LW :
At beginning of year REA] 39,815 157,463
Purchases B A 5,300 3,765
Refund of investment KERR (3,301) (16,520)
Fair value loss recognised in profit PRI R AR E
or loss NFE{EEE (13,684) (104,893)
At end of year RER 28,130 39,815

As at 31 March 2025, the Group's financial liabilities not
measured at fair value but for which fair values were
disclosed included those interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings with non-current portion of HK$64,783,000
(2024: HK$108,614,000). The fair values of these financial
liabilities disclosed were measured based on valuation
techniques of income approach of which the key input,
being the market interest rate ranging from 7.64% to
12.05% (2024: from 7.64% to 9.83%), which has a
significant effect on the fair value are observable (Level 2).

During the vyear, there were no transfers of fair value
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no
transfers into or out of Level 3 for both financial assets and
financial liabilities (2024: Nil).
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES
AND POLICIES

The Group’s principal financial instruments comprise
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings, equity
investments, cash and cash equivalents and pledged
deposits. The main purpose of these financial instruments is
to raise finance for the Group’s operations. The Group has
various other financial assets and liabilities such as accounts
receivable, accounts payable, deposits and other receivables,
balances with associates and related parties, and other
payables and certain accruals, which arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group’s financial
instruments are interest rate risk, credit risk and liquidity
risk. The Group is not exposed to significant currency risk as
most of sales, income, purchase and expenses are
denominated in the functional currency of the operations to
which they relate. The board reviews and agrees policies for
managing each of these risks and they are summarised
below.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market
interest rates relates primarily to the Group’s debt
obligations with floating interest rates in Hong Kong and
the PRC.

The interest rates and terms of repayment of
interest-bearing bank and other borrowings are disclosed in
note 26 to the consolidated financial statements. Other
financial assets and liabilities of the Group do not have
significant interest rate risk. Interest-bearing bank loans and
overdrafts, other interest-bearing loans, loan from a related
party, bonds payable, cash and cash equivalents, and
short-term deposits are stated at cost and are not revalued
on a periodic basis. Floating-rate interest income and
expense are charged to the consolidated statement of profit
or loss as incurred.

The nominal interest rates of the financial instruments
approximate to their respective effective interest rates.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(B=EZEHIN

39

LA TTEIR)

FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39 HKEMREEEHEZREEK (HE)
AND POLICIES (Continued)
Interest rate risk (Continued) FRE ks (E)
The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a TRERKRAEEMEFSRFTIZNS
reasonably possible change in interest rate, with all other MT  AEEBRRATEBERENLEZ (BB
variables held constant, of the Group's loss before tax and FEREEESE) HAEAELNIRE
equity (through the impact on floating rate borrowings). WRE  GURE -
Decrease/
Increase/ (increase) in Increase/
(decrease) in loss before (decrease) in
basic points tax equity*
EEEHR RRBE AT 18 M
(TH)  ®A/(Em) (R D) *
HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHET
2025 —BC-RHE
Hong Kong dollar BT 100 (703) —
RMB ARKE 100 (1,472) —
Hong Kong dollar BT (100) 703 —
RMB ARE (100) 1,472 —
2024 —E-UEF
Hong Kong dollar BT 100 (927) —
RMB ARKE 100 (2,129) —
Hong Kong dollar BT (100) 927 —
RMB ARE (100) 2,129 —
* Excluding retained profits. * T BIERE RN -
Credit risk FER
The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy AEEEEERAREEIENE=F

third parties. It is the Group’s policy that all customers who
wish to trade on credit terms are subject to credit
verification procedures. In addition, receivable balances are
monitored on an ongoing basis and the Group’s exposure
to bad debts is not significant.
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39 BiIXEMEEBEENREE (&)
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued) EERR (&)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging BEEEREEREF&EEE

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum TRERERTEEEEIRNEREE
exposure to credit risk based on the Group's credit policy, =hEaEERR (X2RaBEERS
which is mainly based on past due information unless other o BRIEE M AT ERHER I LB INK
information is available without undue cost or effort, and REBZH)  UERZZ_AFR-ZF
year-end staging classification as at 31 March 2025 and ZFE=A=+t—HANFEREERIE -
2024. The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts FIEFMESEASRMEEMBIRME -

for financial assets.

2025
—E-RF
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
+=@A
BHEE
Bx HAMRGERA
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3  approach Total
E-RR SRR HZBR @thHE #at

HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000
TET T TET TET TET

Accounts receivable* JFEE Uit B 38 * — — — 36,576 36,576
Financial assets included in SFATENFE
prepayments, deposits and e RHEMAE

other receivables** WHIER 2 5
?éé**
— Normal — ¥ 197,826 — — 197,826
— Doubtful — XK — — 27,907 — 27,907
Due from associates** B & A A] ** 4,867 — — — 4,867
Pledged deposits BEAER
— Not yet past due — R 4,000 — — 4,000
Cash and cash equivalents RelHe%E
B
— Not yet past due — REH 36,074 — — — 36,074
242,767 — 27,907 36576 307,250
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(B =B - HLABTTIIR)

39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

39

MHEREERRERBER (R)

FERR (&)

REREERTEFEER (&)

(Continued)
2024
—T_mEF
12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
+ZEA
HHREE
Bk SHEHEERX
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
E—ME SRR F=RER  BtAE BEr
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHEL FAT FAT FHEL FAT
Accounts receivable* JE U BR 1A * — — — 48,294 48,294
Financial assets included in STATERFIE
prepayments, deposits and e RHME
other receivables** WHIER SR
iéf?%**
— Normal — " 315,015 — — — 315,015
— Doubtful — &K — — 22,429 — 22,429
Due from associates** & Wi i 8 A+ 3,868 — — — 3,868
Pledged deposits BHEATER
— Not yet past due — R A 4,000 — — — 4,000
Cash and cash equivalents RekResE
1BH
— Not yet past due — R 42,338 — — — 42,338
365,221 — 22,429 48,294 435,944
* For accounts receivable to which the Group applies the simplified * AN 5% [ PR PR ORU(E RS (L 75 0% /9 B U BR TE

approach for impairment, information based on the provision matrix

is disclosed in note 20 to the consolidated financial statements.

xk The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables and amounts due from associates is
considered as “normal” when they are not past due and there is no
information indicating that the financial assets have a significant
increase in credit risk since initial recognition. Otherwise, the credit

quality of the financial assets is considered as “doubtful”.
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FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBIJECTIVES
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging
(Continued)

The Group has rebutted the 90 days past due presumption
of default based on reasonable and supportable
information, including the Group’s credit risk control
practices and the historical recovery rate of the financial
assets over 90 days past due.

Liquidity risk
The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a
recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the
maturity of both its financial instruments and financial
assets (e.g., accounts receivable) and projected cash flows
from operations.

The Group’s objective is to maintain a balance between
continuity of funding and flexibility through the use of bank
overdrafts, bank loans and other interest-bearing
borrowings. The Group's policy is to ensure the match in of
maturity of its financial liabilities against that of its financial
assets, and the maintenance of a current ratio, which is
defined as current assets over current liabilities, at above
one so as to enhance stable liquidity.

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

39
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(BRmEEHI  BRETLIIR)

39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39 BIXEEMEEBEREE (&)
AND POLICIES (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued) REBESER (&)
The maturity profile of the Group’s liabilities as at the end RMERR  NEEZABEREDFTLD
of the reporting period, based on the contractual BERMBAFRZBEBEROT -

undiscounted payments, was as follows:

2025
—EZHEF
On demand
or less than
12 months 1 to 5 years Over 5 years Total
BRERRKDR
T=®A —E8F BREF @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TER
Accounts payable FERTERIE 32,056 — — 32,056
Financial liabilities included in 5+ A E 4 & 0B K
other payables and accruals ~ EFEBEFEZERERE 62,877 — — 62,877
Due to related parties EEEAL 645 — — 645
Interest-bearing bank and FTERITREM
other borrowings ey 156,707 43,881 — 200,588
Bonds payable ERES 1,050 15,411 — 16,461
Lease liabilities HERE 3,848 14,255 36,101 54,204
257,183 73,547 36,101 366,831
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39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES

AND POLICIES (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued)

REVBBRERME

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

39

(BB HEZHAIN - HAETTIIR)

HHEREERERBEE &)

REE S @R (%)

2024
—ENF
On demand
or less than
12 months 1 to 5 years  Over 5 years Total
RERIDR
+={@A —ZARF BBRAF BEr
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FET FET FET
Accounts payable FETBRIE 22,699 — — 22,699
Financial liabilities included in &+ AE #f f& < RUE K
other payables and accruals EABAZERAR 77,090 — — 77,090
Due to related parties ENEEALT 43,543 — — 43,543
Interest-bearing bank and STERITREM
other borrowings BE 247,043 62,654 — 309,697
Bonds payable [ B 34,635 — — 34,635
Lease liabilities ME&E 371 340 — 711
425,381 62,994 — 488375
Capital management EXERE

The primary objectives of the Group’s capital management
are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern and to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to
support its business and maximise shareholders’ value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes
adjustments to it in light of changes
conditions. To maintain or adjust the capital structure, the
Group may adjust the dividend payment to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders or issue new shares. No
changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes
for managing capital during the years ended 31 March
2025 and 2024.

in economic

The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is
net debt divided by capital plus net debt. Net debt includes
accounts payable, other payables and accruals, amounts due
to associates and related parties, bonds payable, lease
liabilities, and interest-bearing bank and other borrowings,
less pledged deposits, and cash and cash equivalents.
Capital represents equity attributable to ordinary equity
holders of the Company.

HEHREREEERAQA

AEBERNERZEZAR  DREAR
SEREMEBBRSELERERE &
HERBZEARNLE  UXKHEBE
fE FREAZBRREE -

AEBREEEEAZ B EEEE
TEEBWIEHTAE - BERFKFAREAR
EE S AEERREAREREIRE 2K
B MREREEASBETHRD - &
E-E AR FE_NF=ZA=+—
HIEFERN TEAEAETEMERE
BiZ - BORSiEF -

AEEMAEAAGRL X (BRFER
AEARIMBEIRFRE) EEERZBER -
RRF R BEEMNERE - HMAEMTUR
REHER BANBEARREEAL

RITREMEERCERERLRE R

REeEEER - BRBEARAEBEA
R ARG HER -

ZERFFR
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BRmEEHI  BRETLIIR)

39 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT OBJECTIVES 39 ¥ RKREEBZEREE (&)
AND POLICIES (Continued)
Capital management (Continued) BEXREE (F)
The gearing ratios as at the end of the reporting periods RERR  EXRBELROT :
were as follows:

2025 2024
—B-RE —ZE-lEF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHExT FHEIT
Accounts payable FETARTE 32,056 22,699
Other payables and accruals Hi R RIEREGER 79,879 91,239
Due to associates AR NG — 63
Due to related parties fEfTREE AL 645 41,714
Bonds payable JEE S 15,000 33,000
Lease liabilities HEAE 40,564 674
Interest-bearing bank and other FFERITREMEE
borrowings 193,623 295,603
Less: Pledged deposits o BIIRTR (4,000) (4,000)
Less: Cash and cash equivalents IR MRS FEIER (36,074) (42,338)
Net debt EEEE 321,693 438,654
Capital =N 1,255,483 1,353,075
Capital and net debt BARRGEIEFRE 1,577,176 1,791,729
Gearing ratio AXAELE 20% 24%
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40 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)

(BSHEZHIN

REU®

40 AT ZPBMRREK

T

LA TTEIR)

COMPANY
2025 2024
—EC-RE —EUE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries REB AR ZRE 557,253 619,777
Total non-current assets IARBEELE 557,253 619,777
CURRENT ASSETS REEE
Prepayments TET IR 2 2
Cash and cash equivalents RekReFEEE 326 357
Total current assets REBEEHAE 328 359
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBAE
Accruals EEER 646 949
Due to subsidiaries RSB AT 56,955 54,456
Bonds payable e &5 — 33,000
Interest-bearing borrowings FFEEE — 20,000
Total current liabilities BB EEEE 57,601 108,405
Net current liabilities REBEEFEH (57,273) (108,046)
Total assets less current liabilities EEHERARBERE 499,980 511,731
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FREBAE
Bonds payable &S 15,000 —
Interest-bearing borrowings FEBE 10,000 20,000
Total non-current liabilities FRBEBEHREE 25,000 20,000
NET ASSETS EEFHE 474,980 491,731
EQUITY EE
Issued capital BB ITRY A 146,682 146,682
Reserves (note) R (M EE) 328,298 345,049
TOTAL EQUITY B R 474,980 491,731
HERRBBREEAERAR —E_AFEFE®R
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(Expressed in Hong Kong dollars unless otherwise indicated)
(BRSBTS - HRETIIR)

40 STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE
COMPANY (Continued)

40 ARTFzFHMRRE (&)

41

Note: B 5E
A summary of the Company’s reserves is as follows: ARREBEREZOT -
Share Capital
premium Contributed redemption Accumulated
account surplus reserve losses Total
R 47 % B Bk BHES REAMORE Rt BB st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET FHET FHET FHET
At 1 April 2023 RZZ_=FMA—H 240,853 155,531 14,457 (47,437) 363,404
Loss for the year and total FEBELEEREERESR
comprehensive loss for the year — — (18,355) (18,355)
At 31 March 2024 and 1 April 2024 R-Z-—m&E=A=+—H%
ZZ-MEMA—AB 240,853 155,531 14,457 (65,792) 345,049
Loss for the year and total FEFERFEELEEERAE
comprehensive loss for the year — — (16,751) (16,751)
At 31 March 2025 RZZ-AF=A=+—8 240,853 155,531 14,457 (82,543) 328,298

The Company’s contributed surplus represents the excess of
the fair value of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired
pursuant to the Group’s reorganisation on 21 May 1997
over the nominal value of the Company’s shares issued in
exchange therefor. Under the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (as amended), a distribution may be made out of
the contributed surplus, provided that the Company will be
able to pay its liabilities as they fall due and subsequent to
the distribution, the aggregate amount of its total liabilities,
issued share capital and share premium is less than the
realisable value of its assets.

APPROVAL OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The consolidated financial statements were approved and
authorised for issue by the board of directors on 26 June
2025.
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A summary of the published results and of the assets, liabilities
and non-controlling interests of the Group for the last five

financial years is set out below.

Summary of Financial Information

MBERBME

TXHEIIAERERNEEREMBRFEED T H#

CEBUREE BENMFERBSHME -

RESULTS ¥E
For the year ended 31 March
BE=A=1+—-HLLEE
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
—“ECRE ZE-NNFE —ZE-=F —T-—-F —T-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FATT FATT FAETT FATT
REVENUE WA 135,468 128,074 97,563 109,995 103,799
LOSS FROM OPERATING R BERREBLE
ACTIVITIES AFTER FINANCE EXREE
COSTS (75,819) (61,681) (87,743) (65,829) (34,280)
Share of profits and losses of 2l B & 2 &l3& FIl
associates, net BE  FE (195) 40 1,807 20,750 2,037
LOSS BEFORE TAX BRI AIEE (76,014) (61,641) (85,936) (45,079) (32,243)
Income tax credit/(expense) FrisfiEe,/ (FAX) 125 (15,133) (7,998) 14,092 (6,659)
LOSS FOR THE YEAR REEEHRE (75,889) (76,774) (93,934) (30,987) (38,902)
Attributable to: AT AL RERN
Owners of the Company KRB A (73,724)  (75,691) (90,967) (27,274) (36,738)
Non-controlling interests RS (2,165) (1,083) (2,967) (3,713) (2,164)
(75,889) (76,774) (93,934) (30,987) (38,902)
HEREREEBERAT —E-AFFR
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Summary of Financial Information

MBEERBE

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND NON-CONTROLLING

INTERESTS

BE -

RERFERES

As at 31 March

R=BA=+—H
2025 2024 2023 2022 2021
“E-RE ZFE-NNFE ZT-=-F —TZ-F —E-—F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAETT FATT FATT FAETT
Total assets BMEE 1,742,088 1,978,784 2,262,780 2,469,835 2,391,039
Total liabilities wad (500,178)  (637,194)  (795,529)  (797,731)  (804,617)
Non-controlling interests RS 13,573 11,485 10,475 5,606 2,979
1,255,483 1,353,075 1,477,726 1,677,710 1,589,401
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